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PREFACE

The present volume is the first of a series intended
for those students of Maratha history who do not
know Marathi. Original materials, both published
and unpublished, have been accumulating for the
last sixty years and their volume often frightens the
average student. Sir Asutosh Mookerjee, therefore,
suggested that a selection in a handy form sheuld be
made where all the useful documents’ should be in-
cluded. I must confess that no historical document
“has found & place in the present volume, but I felt
that the chronicles or bakkars could not be excluded
from the present series and I began with Sabhasad.
bakhar leaving the documents for a subsequent
volume.

This is by no means the first English rendering of
Sabhasad. Jagannath Lakshman Mankar translated
Sabhasad more than thirty years ago from a single
/mannscnpt The late Dr. Vincent A. Smith over-
estimated the value of Mankar’s work mainly because
he did not know its exact nature. A glance at the-
catalogue of Marathi manuscripts in the British
Museum might have convinced him that the original
Marathi Chronicle from which Mankar translated’
has not been lost. Mankar's was a free rendering -
and his work is so rare now that I need not offer any
apology for bringing out a second translation.. I have
translated from the text edlted by Rao Bahadur
Kashinath Narayan Sane, the' most reliable aud
authoritative text in print. I have tried to be met
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only accurate but literal in my rendering of Sabh&sad ;
the translation of the extracts has been more or
less free, but there also my attempt has been to be
fairly accurate so that it may be safely recommended
as reliable.’ '

For the notes at the end I am indebted to Mr. V.
K. Rajwade’s Sources of Maratha History (Marathi).
The second and third notes are entirely based on
Mr. Rajwade’s introduction to his 8th volume. In
the first note, however, I have differed on so many
important points from Mr. Rajwade’s views that.I
must take upon myself the responsibility for them.

I have to add here a word about my translitera-
tion of Marathi words. The only thing that should
be noted is that ¥ has been represented both hy
vand w according to pronunciation and w has been
represented by f in words of Persian origin, * (anuswar)
and other nasal sounds have not been properly indi-
cated, I have used » or m to represent the sound as
in Chiranjiv and Sampanna. Persian words and
proper names have not been properly transliterated
mainly owing to my ignorance of that 'language and
I have in some cases reproduced them inu their Marathi
form as in Saista Khan, Nizimsahi, ete,, while in
Badshah, Bahlol and Adil Shah, T believe the Persian
form has been retained. I owe an explanation for
writing Maratha and Marathi instead of Maratha and
Marathi. My reason is that the former pronuncia-
tion is prevalent almost everywhere outside Maha~
rashtra proper though the latter forms are correat. o

I am deeply grateful to the Hon’ble Sir Asutdsh
Mookerjee, Kt., C.8.I., President of the Post-
Greduate Councils, Calcuita University, but for-



whose kind and inspiring encouragement this work:
would never have seen light. '

T am indebted to Professor Jadunath Sarkar,
M.A.,, who not only-revised my manuscripts and gave
me many valuable suggestions but also placed his
whole library at my disposal, and Rai Bahadur, B.A.
Gupte, who, inspite of his heavy work and advancing
age, revised my manuscripts tivice. Mr. G. 8. Sardesai,
B.A. borrowed for me'a copy of now fare Sivadigvijay
from the State Library of Baroda. 1 shall fail in my
duty if I do-not avail myself of this opportunity of
publicly recording my gratitude to the late Professor
H. G. Limaye, M.A. of Poona and Professor D. R,
Bhandarkar, M.A., Carmaich®l Professor, Calcutta
Univensity, for the encouragement and the ready
assistance I always got from them. My thanks are
also due to Professor Harendranath Gupta, M.Sc. of

"Serampur College and Mr. Aswinikumar Mookerjee,
'B.A., who kindly prepared the Index. None of these
gertlemen is, however, responsxble for any defect of
this work. _ v

The misprints are mainly due to my inexperience -
in proof reading. It is futile to give a list of correc-
tions, The majn errors however can be easily
corrected by. my readers, leirud, for example
in p. 125 should be dirud, Kamaldakar in p. 113
Kama.l&kar and Jaigir in p. 2 Jagir.

SURENDRANATH SEN

‘ ‘BENATnHéqu,
Caleutta, the 19th May, 1920.
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, (5]
To
SrIMANT MAHARAS RAJASRI RAJARAM
SAHEB CHHATRAPATI.

With humble respects, his servant Krshpaji
Anpant Sabhasad, begd to submit thus,—Your Majesty
graciously enquired of your servant,— Qur father,
the .great king, (or the elder king) performed so
many feats of bravery and subdued four different
' ﬁgms (% dsahis). 1In spite of his performing such
ptodlgles valour, Aurangzib came, and captured
many of the forts. What was the cause of this? You
mu ‘man well informed of (the affairs) of the qld
kinéd@m . Write therefore, a biography from the
beginning.” So said Your Majesty. Accordingly I
beg to submit the information thus :—

The King’s father, the elder Maharaj was Rajéy
Sahajt Raje ;—his father, that is, the Raje’s grand-
father, Malojt Raje and Vithoj1 Raje Bhonsle held
Jaigirs as high officers ' under the Nizamsahi and

! In the text they are called wm (M), but wpmm of the text
will convinoe every reader that tbemrd is loooely used for sny high offcin]
or noble, ‘ 3
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. : A“ "

en;oyed t mnportance He had great devotion
for ’gﬂ g:t:ib’hm Mshadev.? Upon'that hill a fair is
held gg thqlz month of Chaitra, when five to seven
lakhs of vpeople assemble. There was much scarcity
of drmk‘l’ng water. Water there was none. It had
to be brought from ‘a distance of three cosses.

. Paople were much distressed (by it). So Maloji Raje
selected a site there and constructed a big tank
(by building an embankment), so that water might
be had for use by all the people. An immense sum
of money was spent. The tank was wholly filled
with water. As soon as this was done Sri Sambhu
Mahadev appeared in a dream at night [6] and
pleased (with Maloji) said—*“ I will be incarnate in
your family,—the gods and the Brahmans will 1
protect and destroy the miechchhas. The sovereignty
of the South I confer on your family.” These words
were thrice repeated by way of blessing. There-
upon the Raje was highly pleased and performed
many deeds of charity.

Then two sons, Rajért Sahaji Raje and Rajse
Sarafji Raje were born of Rajsr1 Maloji ~Raje.
Both obtained Jaigirs under the Padsghi. While
they were still in service the Nizimsihi came fo
an end. After that Sahaji Raje became a noble of
the Adiléahi. The title of Maharaj was conferred
on him. He maintained an army of ten to twelve
thousand soldiers. Sahaji Raje had two wives,
'.l% first wife was Jijal Aw, and the second wife

* The name of tho god as well as of the hlll where the templ‘ ltood
It. s in the Distriot of Sutum
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Tukal Ad. Eko;! Raje,” a aon, was %m. of mﬂa
Iatter. As scomasa son, Rajér! sixajl Raje’ was
born of Jijal Aa, §ri Sambhu Mahadev sthm@ him-
self and said in a dream— I myself hase MM
[to earth]. I will in future perform mamg: ¥ feabs “of
valour, [7] You should keep (the child) mth you
for twelve years Do not keep him a.ftemr&t
Let him go wherever he will. Do not restrain him.”?
Such was the prophecy. Sahaji Raje used [there-
after] to reside at Bengrul[=Bangalore]in the
Karnatak.

Naropant Dikshit served as his agent (Karbhart).
Two very intelligent sons Raghunath Pant and Janar-
dan Pant were born to him. The Pargana of Pup was
within Sahaji Raje’s Jaigirs. The intelligent and
shrewd Dadaji Konddev had been appointed there. He
went to Bengrul to see the Maharajs, Rajsri Sivaji
Raje and Jijai Ad went with him. The Raje was
then 12 years of age. Dadaji Pant and the Raje were
despatéhed to Pupa. With them were sent a maw
named Sam Rav Nilkanth as Peswd, Balkrshna Pant,
‘cousin of Naro Pant Dikshit, as Majumdar, Sono
Parttas Dabir and Raghunath Balla) as Sabuis. They
came to Pupa.

On oommg [there], he [Dadaji Konddev] took
possession of the twelve Mawals.® The Miwle Des-

3 Better knowntas Venkojl Raje.

* The date commonly accepted is 1627 A.D., but Mr. B, G. Tilak suggesis
1620 as & possible date on the strength of Jedhe Yanche &uuu A
recently discovered Tamil work, Siva-bharat glso gives Tilak's date.

$ The twelve M&wa}s are, (1) Rehidkkbr, (2) Velvand, (8) ﬂ (O}
Mathe, (5) Jor, (6) Kansd, (7) Bivthar, (8) Murum, (6) Paud, (10) Gunjan,
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mukhs were seized, and. ta.ken in hand, the refractory
among them were put to death.® Then in course of
time Dadaji-Konddev [8] died. Henoeforth Sivajt
himself began to manage his own affairs. Ata place
in the Mahal of Supe, was his uncle, his stepmother’s
brother, named Sambhaji Mohita. The Maharaja,
had appointed him to the charge of the Mahal. Sivajt
went to see him on the pretence of asking for post’
on the day of the Simga festival. The mama (uncle)
was thrown into prison. He had three hundred horses
of his own stable and much wealth. All his belong-
ings and clothes were taken possession of, and Supe
annexed. One Tukoji Chor Maratha was made Sarno-
bat of the army (Sarpobat=a general), Sam Rav Nil-
kanth Peswa, Balkrshna Pant Majumdar, Naro Pant,
Sonaji Pant and Raghunath Ballal Sabnis, with these
men as his Karbhiris he conducted his aﬂ:'alrs with
much ‘care and prudence.

Then he plundered the city of Junnar. Twohun-
dred' horses were captured. He returned to Puya
with goods worth 8 lakks of Hons besides clothes and
jewels. - Then he looted the city of 'Ahmadnagar,
fought a great battle with” the Moghuls, captured
seven hundred horses. He captured elephanis also,

Thege are under the jurisdiction of Puap8, there are another ioqe,u in tho
jurisdiction of Junnar, such as Bhimner, Ghodner, P8rner, Jémner, sto.

As Dadaji had conquered a portion dﬁswnl, 1 prefer to insert his
name here.

® Chitpls says that the Mawle Deimukhs were won over to his projm
hy oonciliatory means, Mr. Réjwade thinks that thepmg- in our text signi
fies_thai the lﬂw}e Defmukhs were united to him ;w in the text means
‘bound to his cause.’ S

' Post—Money or hquoa' gnven to dnpendenuon gmt, futiﬂﬁ. ""é f"
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much wealth was found. The Paga at that time
numbered twelve hundred and the Siledars two thou-
sand ; [9] there was thus a total of three thousand

horsemen. Mankoji Dahatonde was then made Sarpa-

bat of the forces. Then the fort of Kondana that

belonged to the Adiléshi was taken by assault. He

estahlished his own military outpost (¢kana)

there. At that time, died a brahman namdl Nilkan-

tha Rav, commandant of the Adilsahi fort of Puran-

dar. His two sons ® began to quarrel with each other

(about the succession). The Raje went to Purandar to

mediate between them. And he possessed himself of
the fort by imprisoning the two brothers. He estab-

lished his own garrison [there].

After this he raided Kalyan and Bhivandi in
Konkan and took the Adilsahi fort of Mahull. (He)
welit on , enlisting the Mawles. A hill called
Murband -was fortified. It was renamed Rajgad.
The,hill-side was also terraced and fortified. One
Chandar Rav More® reigned in Konkan.and Surve
reigned at Smmgarpur. Sirke was his minister
(Prodhén). In this manner did they rule and hold
strorig forts and hill forts and about 10,000 to 12,000
forces with. infantry. Raghunath Balla] Sabnis was
summoned. and sent to him. When questioneﬂ
(Sivajr) said to him—“The principality cannot be
conquered unless Chandar Rav is killed, [10] and
none but you can execute this work. You aretogo to
him on an embassy.” With him were appointed one
hundred to hundred and t,wenty-ﬁye choide

¥ Bee Kxtracts, where three brothers are mentioned.
’ Mvmmhilumbutmmyﬁﬂe:
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swordsmen. They rode to a place near Jawli and
then sent a verbal message to Chandar Rav—*We
. have come from the Raje, we have some negotiations
and alliance to make.” So they told him. Then he
invited them to him and granted an audience. Some
pretended negotiations were made. (Raghunath)
then retired to the quarters appointed for +im and
remained $here. He went back (to the court) next
day, got a private audience, made a parley and as
chance offered (itself) stabbed the two brothers
Chandar Rav and Suryaji Rav with a dagger.” He

10 ]t ig clear that Sabhasad regards this case as one of murder. Messrs.
Kinoaid and Parasnis, however, have tried to justify it. (History of the Maratha
People, vol. I, p. 150) Chandar Riv More had, according to them, tried to
betray Siv&ji. ‘“ Before carrying on Shahaji’s injunction to punish Baji Ghor-
pade, Shivaji had his own quarrel to settle with Balaji More. He was,
however, loth to destroy one whom he had known in boyhood and resolved
to make an effort to win over More by personal influence. He visited Jaoli
himself and in an interview with Balaji More did his utmost by appeals to his
religion and patriotism to gain to his side the reluctant noble. He merely
wasted his breath, Balaji during the interview tried to sccure his visttor’s
person.” Sivi;ji lnaged to escape but still persisted in Lis pavific attempts
but at last it became clear that Chandar Rav cowld mot be won over.
Messrs, Kincaid and Parasnis think that Chandar Riv and his brother were
killed after an angry meeting and their murder was not premeditated. This
version of the Jawli incident is based on a Bakhar publiehed by R. B. Parasnis
in the Itihds Sangraha. 1 do not find any reasom why the evidence of

. Babhiisad should de rejected in favour of a Bakhar whose date and authorship
are unknown. Prof. S8arkar’s view on whis subject is worth queting, He says,
“Some Maratha writers have recently * discovered ” what they vaguely oall
“ an old chronicle™ —written no body knows when or by whom, preserved no
,body knows where and transmitted nobody knows how,—which asserts that
Chandar Rao had tried to seize 8hiva by treachery and hand him over to the
vengeance of Bijapur * * * unfortunately for the credibility of such
convenient ‘“discoveries’’ none of the genuine old historians of Bhiva could
anticipate that this line of defence would be adopted by the twentieth
century admirers of the national hero ; they have called the murder a murder.”
~—@arkar, Shivaji, pp. 54-66. ‘
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came out and started for his band. Those who pursned
him were killed and out he went. When the chief
himself had fallen why should his men exert
themselves? This deed performed, he came back to .
meet the Raje. The Raja at once led an expedition
in person and captured Jawli. The ‘Mawles were
granted-assurances of safety and enlisted. A new
fort called Pratapgad was erected. Hanifjnt Rav, a
brother of Chandar Rav; had strengthened himself at
a place called Chaturbet, belonging to Jawli. The
thorn of Jawli could not be removed unless he was
killed. Cognisant of this, the Raje sent Sambhaj1
Kavji, a Mahaldar of his, to Hanmant Rav on a
diplomatic project. Sambhaji Kavji got a private
audience with him on the pretence of negotiating a
matrimonial alliance and stabbed Hanmant Rav to
death with a dagger.[11] Jawli was conquered. There
- was a rebel named Babji Rav in the valley of Sivtar,
Hp was put into prison and his eyes were put out.

Then an expedition was made againgt the ruling
chief Surve. Srngarpur was captured. I%urve fled to
another province. His Karbhari Sirke was won over
and the province was taken possession of. Some
villages (mahals) were conferred on him (sirke) and
his daughter the Ra]gp,, got married to his son-
(S&mbh&]l) In this manner the two primcipalities’ of
Jawli and Srng&rpur were conquered. The Brahman
Moro Trimbak Pingle had laboured hard in this
connection and the Peswa-shlp was on that account
taken from Samrav Nilkanth and conferred on
Moro Pant ; Nilo Sondev also had worked hard and
was therefore appointed Surnié; one Gangaji Mangaji
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was appointed Paknié, Prabhikar Bhat, a greaf
Brahman, was Upadhyaye (family priest); the office
was continued to his sons Balam Bhat and Govind
Bhat. Netaji Palkar was made Sarnobat of the
forces. During Netaji’s Sarnobat-ship the Paga
numbered seven thousand and the Siledars three
thousand ; the whole army was thus ten thousand
strong, about 10,000 Mawles were enlisted. One
Yesaji Kank was made their Sarnobat. In this
manner were careful arrangements made for the
kingdom. The Raja’s wife—he had married Sai Bai
the daughter of the Nimbalkar—was delivered of a
child. [12] A son was born. He was named
Sambhaji Raje. Great festivities took place. Many
deeds of charity were performed. The Raja
remained at Rajgad.

Then the Badshah at Delhi learnt this news.
Ali Adilssha reigned at Bijapur while the entire
administration was in the hands of Badi Sp}mbm,
the wife of Sultan Muhammad. She felt much
distressed when she learnt this news. Padshahi
forts had been captured, provinces conguered (one
or two) some principalities overthrown. He
(Sivaji) had turned a rebel. She contemplgted the
means to be adopted for reuting and killing him
and wrote a letter to Rajirr Sahajt Raje then at
Bengrul. " A Mahaldar was sent (to him) with the‘
letter :—* Although you are a servant of this Govi
ment, you have committed, treachery by sendmg )
your son Sivaji to Pups and upsetting the
authority of the Badshah there. He has captured
some forts belonging to the Badshah, conquerell
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and plundered several districts and provinces, oves-
thrown ome or two prineipalities and killed seme
chinfs submissive to the Badshdh. Now keep your
son under preper control or your Jaigir (prowimce
over which Sghaji had been appointed governor)
will be confiscated.” Then the Maharija answered~—
“ Although Sivaji is my son he has fled from me.
He is no longer under my control. T am a faithful
dependent of the Badshah. Though Sivajl is my
son His Majesty may attack him, or deal with him
in any way he likes, I shall not interfere.” 8o
answered he.

[18]. Thereupon the Deowager Queen" (Badi
Sshebin) summoned all the Adilshahi nobles and
ministers and asked them to march against Sivaj1
but no one agreed. Afzal * Khan, a wazir, however,
agreed (saying) “ What is Sivaji? I will bring him
alive, a prisoner, without alighting from my horse
(evgn for once).” When he asserted this, the princess
(Badshah Zadi) became pleased (with him) and gave
him clothes, ornaments, elephant, horse, wealth,
promotion and honour and despatched him with
Owraos of note at the head of twelve thousand harse
besides infantry.

Then the whole force was mobilised and set off in &
vagt aeray.” Then they came to Tuljapur. They cama
_there and oncainpnd. Sri Bhavani, the patron’deity of

o

11 She Dowager Queen left for Mecca in 1660, and Afzal's expedition took
place in 1659. He was killed in Septemper of that year. See 8arkar’s Shivaji.
¥ Oume Khopde waited on Afzal at WAl, and gava 8 wriiten underimhing
to arrest Sivaji. See Rajwade, Vols. XV and Xvii, also Jedhe Y&nghe Saksvall,
'* The word in the original wfvg W@ literally means lengthwise
and breadthwise. i t
?
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the Maharaja’s family, was broken (into pieces), thrown
into & hand-mill and pounded into dust. No sooner was
Bhavanl broken than a heavenly voice was heard—
Afzal Khan! thou mean wretch | On the twenty-firstday
from this will I behead thee ; the whole of thy army
will I destroy and satiate the 90 million Chamundas
(bloodsucking deities).” So said the bodyless voice.
Then the army marched and came to Pandharpur.
They descended to the valley of the Bhima [rather the
Mann river] They came to Wai committing
sacrilege on the gods (along their route). There they
decided that some one should be sent on an embassy
to the Raje and he should be captured alive
when his confidlence had been inspired by the
conclusion of a truce. Krshnaji Bhaskar, the envoy,
was summoned and instructed (to say) that—
“The old friendship between your father the
Maharaja and myself has been continued in brotherly
intercourse. You are not on that account a stranger
to me. You should come and see me. I shall
obtain for you the grant of the priucipality of
Talkonkan and a Jaigir from the Ba.dshﬁ,h The forts
and hill forts you have captured, ‘I shall  get
confirmed in your possession. I shall, get for
you further distinctions. I shall have conferred on you
as big a Saranjam as you may want. If you like
to see the Badshah you may, if not, I shall get you
exempted from the regular attendance at court [14].
You should peacefully bring the Rajs for an inter-
view, by making some such professions. Else we
-shall come.” 8o was Krshpaji Pant instructed. And
‘then he arranged to despatch him,
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T

In the moeantime (or then) the Rajs got the
news that Afzal Khan has been appointed at the
head of twelve thousand horse (to march against
him) from Bijapur. When he learnt this, the Raja
decided to mobilise all his forces, fight at Jawlr and
to -go to Pratapgad in person. Then he was
dissuaded by all; “ You (they counselled) should not
give battle, peace should be concluded.” 'The Raja
answered to that—“ As he killed Sambhaji,* so
will he kill me. I will do what is possible be
I am killed. Peace I will not conclude.” is
decision was made. That night Sri Bhavani of
Tuljapur appeared (to him) in a bodily shape and
said—“T am pleased. I shall assist youin everything.
At your hands I shall get Afzal killed. I grant you
success. Thou shouldst have no anxiety.” In this
manner did the goddess enliven him with resolu-
tion and confidence and assured him of security.
The Raje awoke, called Jija Bal Au and related to
he¥ the details of the dream. And men of note, like
Gomaji Natk Pansambal Jamdar, Kyshnaji Natk,
Subhanji Natk and Sardars and Sarkarkuns like
Moropant and Nilopantand Anpnajipant and Sonajipant
and"Gangaji Mangaji and Netaji Palkar Sarnobat and
Raghunath Balla] Sabnis and the Purchit were
summoned and to them all [15] was the dream relat-
éd. “The goddess is favourably disposed, now will
Ikill Afzal Khan and rout Mis army” so said he.
It was in the opinion of all, a hazardous step, if
suocessful, it would be all right; if not, what would

14 The MarSthi chroniclers erroneogsly think that Afsal had something
to do with 8imbh&ji’'s death, Sge Extracts.
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w pemsthis becime the subject of their debate.
Then the R&j8 daid—* (The coneclusion ef pewce will
alw) vause loss of life. If we fight and win, well
sl govd, if life is lost fame remains. A verse rums
to this effect—

“Victory brings fortune, death the celestial ma.lds ;

This body is but transient,

‘What terror has then death in battle ?”

Such is the course prescribed in the books of polity.
Therefore it is right that we should fight. Now we
siould make one arrangement only. There are
my son S&mbh#ji and my mother; they should be
kept at Rajead. If I kill Afzal Khan and win
victory, then I #hall remain what I am. If perchance
1 Yose my life in the course of the war, then there is
Sambhaji Raje, deliver the kingdom to him and
piste yourselves at his commands.” Leaving such
instructions for an extreme case and exhorting every-
body, he placed his head at his mother’s feet and took
Isave of her. His mothers blessed him, saying “ Sivha
thou shalt be victorious!”

Then the Raje started, atter receiving such bless-
ings, wnd went to Pratapgad. He instructld Netaji
Palkar Sarnobat to come up the Ghats with his
forees. And he said—*1 shall invite Afzal Khan to
Jawl1, meet him by offering to make peace, and draw
litm near me by inspiring his confidence. You
should then come to Ghat Mathisi and block the roads.”
Raghanath Balld) Sabms was sent with him. And it
was urranped that Moropant Peswi should take in

15 Chitls and the author of Bivdigvijaya say that BSmbhjf and Jijabai
were at Pratdpgad,
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Wi company Stm Rav Nflkanth and Trinbak Bligs-
kur and come from Konkan. o

In the meantime Krshnsji Pant came as envd;{
from the Khin. He was taken up to Pratapgad.
The Raja had an interview with him. The Khan’s
message, as he had charged him, was delivered.
[16] Some formal conversation made, the Rije said,
—*%“As is the Maharaja, so is the Khan an elder ™
to me. I shall certainly have an interview with
him.” 8o saying, (he) gave Krshnsji Pant a house
for his quarters. (He) gdve him leave to go there.
The next day the Raje sat in his court and ¥ summoned
the Sarkarkuns and ‘all Sardars, (in short) all of like
rank. And there was a faithful and respectable man
named Pantaji Gopinath in the Raje’s service. Him
did he simmon and with him he held a private coun-
cil in the palace.* The Rajesaid to Pantajt Pamt-—
“The Kh¥n’s envoy Krshnaji Pant has come on an
embassy, T shall give him leave and send him off. I
shall despatch you also to Afzal Khan—Go there, have
an interview with the Khan and conduct the negotia-
tiows. Demand the Khan’s solemn oaths (of assur-
aneo ur sinodity). Tf he asks for your oaths give them ;
muke no hesitation. Anyhow bring (the Khan) to
Juwll.  Bestides, you are to institute an
enqutry in his army by some device and get
information by whatever meuns it can be obtained.”
Ewquire whother the Kh#in's heart is set on my
gool or harm. With these imstructions the Raje

to  gffwmeene, & father, Anoostor or-elder. .
17 ge~Hall of public undience or siniply the Darbar Hall.
1+ gyw—may stand here elther for the palice or the seraglio.
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went to the court (Darbar). (He) summoned
Krshpaji Pant there. The Raje spoke (in the
following style)—A solemn oath (fawar) from the
Khan is necessary. Take on that account Pantaji
Pant of our side with you to see the Khan.
Make the Khan give him a (written?) oath with
an imprint of his (Khan’s) palm on it."*
Bring the Khan to Jawll. I shall go and
have an interview with uncle (the Khan).
There is nothing evil in my mind.” 8o said the
Raje. To him (Kishnaji Pant) the proposal was
agreeable. Then he presented robes of honour
to Krshpaji Pant and sent him back. [1¢] Similarly
robes of honour were presented to Pantaji Pant and
he was despatched to Afzal Khan.

He went and interviewed the Khan. The Khan
honoured him. Krshpaji Bhaskar submitted that—
«§ivaji had sent Pantaji Pant as his ambassador.
.He should be given a private ‘interview.” On.his
making this suggestion, the Khan sat in a private
apartment, summoned Kyshpaji Pant and Paniaji
Pant and asked for the news. Krshpaji Pant
gpaid— The Raje is not opposed to your views.
As is Maharaja Sahaji Raje, so are you (to him);
so he asserted on his oaths. The Raje will without
any fear come to Jawll. The Khan also should
eome to Jawli without entertaining any suspicion,
An interview between you and him will be held.
He will listen to all that you will say.” When

19 ] do not know what WRUNCYWI® exsctly means; but both
Prof. Limaye and Mr. B, A. Gupte are of opinion . that it was an osth
confirmed with the print of one's palm or p&nja,
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‘the Raja’s message to this purport was made known
to the Khan, he took an oath with evil intentions
in his mind. The .Khan said—* The Raja is a
base-born unbeliever (wxrwanZT wWT), Jawlr is a
place difficult of acoess, he asks me to meet him
there. Therefore, if thou Brahman as an inter-
mediary, wilt take an oath, (for my safe return)
I shall go to meet Sivaji.” Therefore, Pantaji Pant
gave an assurance on a solemn oath.—* The Raje
is not disposed to do you harm: Have no suspieion.
Arrange for going for an interview.” 8aying so
to the Khan, he bribed men in the army and
enquired of the clerks and ministers and questioned
them. They said,—“Sivaji is a rogue (warwanz1).
He cannot be captured by fighting.® Therefore
an interview should be arranged by diplomacy. [18]
The Khan has so contrived that he should be
captured at the time of the interview.” When he
legmt this, Pantaji Pant came to the Khan the. '
next day, and begged permission for going to the
Raje. The Khan sent him to the Raje, with
great honours.

Pantaji Pant came to Pratapgad. He saw the
Raja. (He) gave Pantaji Pant deave to go home
at that time. At night Pantaji Pant alone was
summoned to an interview. The Raje and Pant
sat together and the Raje asked him for informatidh
in private with many solemn oaths—* Tell me the
real facts. Tell me ‘what is in the mind of the
Khan, (and how he is inclined). You and I are

M-
*°. What they evidently meant wuthst it was Sivajl's practios to
avoid a pitched bastle.
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not separate. If my kingdom is preserved, its
eotire management I shall confer on you. I shall
give you much wealth alse. Give me tpue informa-
tion.” Thusdid the Raje take him in a brotherly
fashion and enquire. Then he said, “There is avil
intention in the Khan’s mind. It is that he will
bring you to an interview by a truce, capture you by
treachery and then take you a prisoner to Bijapur.
If you have courage I shall bring the Khan to Jawli,
after detaching him [from his army] by many
devices. You h%ve to muster courage and single-
handed kill him 1ma lonely place and plunder the
whole of his army. Make the entire kingdom your
own.” Such was the counsel he gave. It pleased
the Raje. Then he gave Pantaji Pant a reward of
five thousand Hons.® And (he instructed the
Pant)® to tell the Khan, «“ The Rajeis very much
afraid. He has not the courage to come to Wai for
interview. The Khan is (my) superior, if he will
kindly come to Jawli and grant (me) an audience
then T may go to see him. It will signify his great-
‘ness, if the Khan will take me by his hand, restore
my confidence by words of hope apd secure my wel-
fare by conducting me to the audience of the
Badshah. Bring him with you by some such profes-
sions.” With these instrugtions, he sent PW}!
Pant. ‘ '

[19] He went and met the Khan at Wai. He
submitted (to him) the message. “'The Raje is

31 Hon, a gold coin worth 4 to 56 Rupees.
3% Pantaji ig believed to be the ancestor of SakhArfm Bapu, Ms. P. N,
Patwardhan however differs from this view. ‘
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timid. He has his suspicionagabout coming here for
an interview. You should yourself proceed to Jawls.
He will come there to meet you. Givethim assuran-
ces and take him with you.” 8o said hg] Thereupon
the Khan, highly pleased, marched on--and came to
Jawli down the ghat of Radtondi. He encamped”
below Pratipgad and halted there. On all sides
in the neighbourhood,—in various places where
water could be had, descended 12,000 soldiers and
musketeers wﬂ;h artillery  waggons, elephants,
and carts, in connection with  camel swivels.
Pantaji Pant was sent up to the Ll%with a message
asking the Raje to come to the interview, .
Thereupon "he went and saw the Raje. He
made some formal. communication proper to such
occasions. Afterwards in private he communicated
all the informations (in the following manner). “As
instructed by you, I have brought the Khan. Now
I sjdll bring about a private interview between you
two in person. You should  boldly “do what is
necessary.” In this sense did he speak. It was
arranged that the interview should take place
another day, after a day’s interval. ‘ The Raje,
should descend from the fort, the Khan should
advance from his tent and the two should meet
cachwthgl in a tent at some intermediate place.”
Having settled (the matter) in this manner, he de-
soended with the Raje’s message, to the Khan
‘fhsthe hill-side ®, below the fort. The news was

s @MY —A terrace on a hill.side below the , crest of a hill These
places were often fortified for the better security of the stronghalds nbove.
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communicated to the Khan, who also agreed (to abide
by the settlement).

Then the next day, the Raje prepared a place of
meeting * below the fort. Tents were erected,
beds spread, big pillows (fasifaan) arranged, can-
opies raised, and tassels of pearls (wr@®l) hung,
screens of variegated colour were fitted up, bolsters
were laid (for sitters to recline on), and cushions and
pads placed. The meeting-place was made ready.

[20] Netaji Palkar with his forces had been
brought to the Ghatmatha; to him was sent
the instruction by word of mouth,—* To-morrow
I go to mcet the Khan, I shall win victory
and return to the fort. Then only one shot
will be fired from the fort. Then you are to
descend from the Ghats, fall upon the Khan’s army
and attack it.” Similarly Moro Pant Peswa had been
brought from Konkan. He was also told of the
signal of" a shot fired from the fort. (The Pa]e)
descended from the fort and stationed selected men in
thickets at various points. The Raje Lkimself put on
a coat of mail. On his head he put on an em-
broidered turban (®Wet®), to it he atiached a (Aye)
tassel of pearls. He put on short trousers and
tucked a sash round his waist. And in bis hands he
held a tickva (fg=9an)® and a vaghnakh (Frawg =

2+ The word ¥9IY means a kachari or a place for holding a
meeting. ‘
. *% The bichvd was a short curved dagger, so named from its shape, that
resembled a scorpion. Vighuakh, literally tiger's claws, were short sharp still
claws and could be adjusted to one’s fingers, These {wo weapons with Sivi;l’
sword have been preserved at S %'tn,ra and are still worehipped by the present
representative of his family.
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While going to the intérviéw he took with him two
brave men, namely Jit Mahalai—a dauntless fellow,
who had with him g patta (straight sword wgr), a
firang,® and a shield ;—and Sambhaji Kavji Mahal-
dar similarly armed with a patfa, a firang, and
a shield. Other swordsmen were stationed in thick-
ets (kept in ambush) at different places in the neigh-
bourhood. And .the Raje took his meal, after a
bath. He descended from the fort prepared for
gomg to the rendezvous.

” The Khan also got ready and started from his
camp for going to the interview. In his company
started 1,000 or 1,500 musketeers armed ready.
Many expert swordsmen came out in his train and
started (with him). Pantaji Pant at once came
forward and submitted “If you go with such an
asSemblage, the Raja will be frightened. He will go
back to the fort. The interview will not take place. .
[21]e What is Sivaji? What is the necessity of
so much ado for this? The Raja will come from there
with two men. You should go from here with two
men. You both should sit together and have an
interview. Do then what the exigency requires.” On .
his saying so, the whole following was made to wait
at the distance of an arrow-shot, and the Khan in a
palanquin, two officers” and Kishnaji Pant the
envoy, (these only) went forward. A soldier named

e A firnng was a long eword of woctem make———pombly Toledoblade.

Sivaji’s Bhavaui was a Genoese blade, '
*7 w§ WQ, acoording te Rao Bahadur Sane, means atmsbearer, but it may

also mean simply an officer.
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Said Banda, skilled in swordsmanship was taken
with him (the Khan), Pantaji Pant also was in his
company. They went to the pavilion (of meeting).
The Khan burnt with anger in his mind as he saw
the pavilion, thinking “What is Sivaji? Sahaji’s
son. Even a wazir has not got such gold embroid-
ered beds. What does this pearlbedecked pavilion
mean ? He has got such furniture as is not pos-
sessed by the Badshah.” As he made this remark,
Pantaji Pant replied, ‘The Badshah’s things will go
to the Badshah’s palace. Why so much anxiety
for that?” 'When this was said, he sat down in the
pavilion, couriers and messengers were sent to bring
the Raje quickly.

The Raje was waiting at the foot of the fort.
Thence he proceeded slowly. He stopped, when
on enquiry, he heard that Said Banda, an expert
swordsman, was with the Khan. And (he) sent for
Pantaji Pant. He came. To him (the Raje) cqid—
“As is the Maharaja so is the Khan (to me). I am
the Khan’s nephew. He is my gunardian (senior).
I feel afraid as Said Banda is with the Khan. Send
away this Said Banda at onee from here.”
So he told Pantaji Pant. Thereupon Pantaji Pant
went,—appealed to the Khan through Krshnaji
Pant,” (and) Said Banda too was sent away. Then
the Khan and the two officers (alone) remained.
Then the Raje from this side [22] went with

#¢ Grant Duff says that Pantaji was the Khin's envoy and Kyshnaji was
gent with him by Siv&ji, This is a mistake as has been prosed by the Sanad
granted to Pantdji. His descendants also enjoyed the village of Hirve as

an Inam,
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two armed men Jid Mahala *® and Sambbdji Kavijt.
The Khan stood up, and met the Raje, advancing
a little. As the Raje embraced him, the Khin
caught his head tightly (in an embrace) in his
armpit. And unsheathed' the Jamdad,® he had
in his hand, and struck at the side of the Raje. The
weapon slid over the steel armour the Raje hud
on, (and) did not reach the body. Seeing this the
Raje,. who had the rvaghnakh in his left hand,
struck (the Khan’s) belly with that hand. The
Khan had only a cotton garment (wam)” on. The
Khan’s guts came out at the blow of the vaghnakh.
With tbe right hand a blow of the bdichva, that
he held in it, was struck. After dealing two blows
in this manner, he drew out his head, jumped below
the terrace (of the tent), and went away. The
Khan bawled out—“I am killed! I am killed!
Treachery ! Run quickly!” As he said so, the
bgarers brought the palanquin. And they put him
into the palanquin, lifted it and began to carry
him off. Sambhaji Kavji Mahaldar, slashed at
the legs of the hearers at once. And (he) felled the
bearers below the palanquin. He cut off the Khan’s
head. With it in his hands he came to the Raje.
At this juncture Said Banda, the swordsman, who
had been running up, came near the Raje. He dealt
a blow of his pafta (Sword) at the Raje. The Raje

: ‘99 JiG Mahald was a barber by caste. His descendants are still living
at. Kongvali, a village on the way from Wa&i to MahdvaleSvar—Bharat Itih&s

Sansodhak ‘Manda] Sammelan vritta, Vol. V, p. 16, ~
30 Jamddd is a short sword. Indo-persian Jamdhfir—gwyqR ‘Death’s

edgo.’
31 Y &{At—a robe or a gown.
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took from Jii Mahala the paf(@ entrusted to him,
and warded off four blows of Said Banda by holding
the patta and the bichva crosswise. At the fifth
blow the Raje intended to kill Said Banda, (but) in
the meantime Jii Mahala dealt a blow of his firang
-at Said Banda on the shoulder. That blow severed
the sword arm with the weapon in it. And the Raje
went quickly to the fort above, with Jiu Mahala and
Sambhaji Kavji Mahaldar, carrying with him the
Khan’s head.

[23] As soon as he reached the fort, he fired a
cannon. At once did, men below the fort, the men
and the forces on the Ghat, and Moro Pant from
Konkan, and the Mawles, rush from four sides and
four directions on the Khan’s camp. On learning
the news that the Raje had gone (back) to the fort
after killing the Khan, and cutting off his head, all of
the Khan’s twelve thousand soldiers were struck with
panic and lost heart. But in the meantime the Rijg’s
forces carried slaughter on all sides. Severe and
frightful fighting went on. For two prakars (6
hours) a frightful battle was fought. High grade
noble men (gsi¥) of the Khan’s party and Mahomedan
soldiers of the Mahadin, the Uzdin, the Pathan, the
Rohila, the Surnis (?), and the Arab races; and the
Marathas of good families, the Dhangars, and the
Brahmans ;—similarly the artillery men, the Baile ®
infantry, the Karnatak footmen (wn®) the muske-
teers, the light-armed men, (W y@n®) the lancers,®

3t Baile or Bahile means infantry. '

33 Rochevir, Rai Bahadur B. A. Gupte thinks, means—men with - ldnt
shafted lances of three cornered blades.
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(@9wx) the right and the left wings of the army,*
and spearsmen (¥2a{Y) of other castes, Hatulve,
(1@?) ? archers, mace-bearers (w®tm®), swordsmen
(azi&#), (camp-followers) camp guards (amT¥A),
rocket throwers (arqria),® and gunmers, (ArowaraT)
all mustered strong and gave battle. It became
a big battlefield. Men and Mawles in the Raje’s
army fought on foot. They smote down elephants,
which .succumbed in their places. Of many
elephants they cut off the tails, of several elephants
they broke the tusks. Of many they chopped off
the legs. Horses were likewise killed at one
blow. Similarly many men in the Khan’s army they
killed outright. Of several they severed the legs.
Of many they knocked out the teeth. Of many
they shattered the skulls. Several died.

[24] Those who offered fight were killed, felled,
and levelled with the earth. Similarly they killed
cagels. A heavy slaughter was made as they fought.
The dead could not be numbered. Blood flowed like a
viver. A desperate fighting took place. The elephants,
horses, camels, treasures, palanquins and nobles
(a9T) captured, after fighting in this manner, were
as follows :—

Elephants male and female—numbering 65

Horses ... C 4,000

Camels ... 1,200

9‘ FHHATC JeAAC, Prof. J. N. Sarkar suggests, are corruptions of the
Turkish words Jaranghar and baranghar moaning the right and left wings of
an army, Also see Irvine, Moghul Army.

8 According to Irvine, Ban means a rocket and was used in.the Moghnul
army also,
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Jewels worth ... ... Rs. 3,00,000
Clothes ces ves 9y 2,000 bundles.
Coins, Mohors, Hons and Gold

coins (worth) e sy 1,00,000

All the guns and artillery were captured.
The officers captured were as follows :—
Sardar and Wazir of high rank ‘
Lambaji Bhonsle

Son of Afzal Khan

(Afzal Khan’s) concubine’s son

Rajsri Jhunjar Rav Ghadge

And privates besides these.

R

Such were the captures made. Besides (these),
commodities, goods, cattle, bullocks, and cash were
taken. Combatants, who begged protection hold-
ing grass in their teeth, the women and children,
Bhat Brahmans and the poor, released on.their
-professing helplessness. The Raja was a man of
sacred renown, and did not kill those who sought
his protection; his men also on that account released
some helpless (enemies). Fazal, son of Afzal Khan,
fled among the forest, with rags tied to his feet.
Similarly fled many men of good birth. They
could not be numbered.”

Thus was conquest made and victory won. Then
the Raje had the Khan’s son and those sardars who
were attempting to escape, captured and brought to
him. He himself descended from the fort, met all
his men as well as- Afzal Khan’s men, and as many
of his soldiers’ sons as were of fighting age ; treated

3 (irant Duff’s account of the Afzal Khain incident har been borrowed
from Khafi Khan who wrote long after Siv&ji‘s denth. .| '

— [P ¢
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them kmdly and [25] reassured them, and took into
his service the sons of the combatants who had
fallen (in the action). He directed th#t the widows
of those who had no sons, should be miaintained
by (a pension) half (their husbands’) pay. The

wounded were given (rewards of) two hundred, one
hundred, twenty-five or fifty Hons per man, accord-
ing to the nature of their wound. Warriors of
renown and commanders of brigades (g'aﬂ) were
; given horses and elephants in reward. Some m
sumptuously rewarded with (ornaments like) braoe-
lets, necklaces, crests, medallions, earrings (Fyme),”
and orests of pearl. Such were the presents eon-
ferred on the men. Some were rewarded with grants
of villages in mokasa. ‘

In the days of yore, the Pandavas extirpated the
Kauravas, (and then alone) did such hand to hand
fight between individual heroes take place. The
Raj8 himself killed in single combat the Kbhan who
was by nature a veritable Duryodban; as much
in strength of body as in wickedness of heart.
Bhim killed him single-handed. Similarly did [the
Raje]. Sivaji Raje was Bhim himself. It was he
who killed Afzal. This deed was not that of a
human being. . An incarration he surely was, and.
so indeed could he perform this deed. Success
was attained. It happened in the above manmer.
The nobles of the Khan’s army who had been

q’tﬂ]-—An ornament composed of four golden rings, each bav:ng a
pendant of pearl. Two such rings are worn in each ear, encirohng the
auricle. Molesworth.

4
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qpﬁmd were released, on professing helplmmess.
with presenta of elothes, ornaments, and horses. After
that Pantsji Pant was given numerous robes, horses,
and ornaments. (He was) given immense wealth
also. Rejoicings were made, news of the victory
was communicated in writing to the Lady Mother
(Jija Bal), and also to all at Rajgad. - On hearing the
news they too distributed sweets, and caused kettle
drums (@m) and cornets to be played, and cannon
to boom, and made great rejoicings. In this manner
did things happen concerning the Raje.

On the fourth day after that the spies and
messengers (S1ge ¥@X) brought the news to
the Badshah and Badshah Zadi at Bijapur (that)
Afzal Khan himself had been killed, his head
severed and carried away. The whole army was
plundered and utterly destroyed. On being thus
informed [26] Ali Adilshah descended from
his throne, went to the harem and took to his
bed.® He lamented much. The Badshah Zadi like-
wise, when the news reached her, threw herself
on the couch, whereon she was then seated, and
began to cry,—“Alla! Allal Khuda! Khuda!” (she

38 The meaning is not altogether clear Rao Bahadur Sane reads it as
wmemgs but remarks that in the original, the word seems to be wny
In that case it must be a corruption of Persian inayet, meaning favour. The
above translation is made on the supposition that like the Romans who made
their enemies pass under a yoke, fivip bad also mede his enemies undergo
some humiliation before their release. T must however admit that there is
no historical evidence in its favour

s geiaTac (@MeT—the ordinary meaning of the word AW is not

» applicable here, and I think the idea of throwing is also understood.
Sabhisad’s style is very condensed.
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the ‘Mahomedans”—1In this strain did she bewsil
(long) and lament much. For tiﬁ'ee days e
Badshah Zadi did not eat or drink. In the same
manner were all the nobles, the army and the entire
vity dejected. * To-morrow will the Raja coms,”
they went on saying, * plunder the city and
capture the fort;” so scared were they. ‘It seems
that Khuda has taken away the Badshahi from the
Mahomedans, and conferred it on the Marathas.”
In this manner they began to talk.

After this Srf Bhavani of Tuljapur came to the
Rajas in a dream, and said, “I have got Afzal
killed with thy hands, and those who came after-
wards I caused to be defeated. In future too are
great deeds to be performed. I shall live in thy
kingdom. Establish me and maintain my worship”
(gorgww www). Then the Raje loaded a cart
with money, sent it to the Gandaki, brought a
stone of that river, made an image of Sri Bhavani
with it and established the goddess at Pratapgad.
Many deeds of charity were performed, jewelled
ornaments of many different styles were made
for the goddess. Mokasa villages were granted
(to Bhavani) and separate Havaldar, Majumdar
and Peswa appointed for the goddess’s property
and a great festivity was inaugurated. Vows* have
always been offered and fairs held (at Pratapgad)
exaoctly as at Tuljapur, and a behest was made in
a dream to the people going to the fair of Tuljapur.

4o NAY has the same meaning as Bengali HMY
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"« am at Pratapgad, you should go there, see me,
and fulfil your vows.” So said the goddess.
It became [known] as the shrine of a living
deity.

Afterwards, realising that Afzal Khan, who was
one of the principal wazirs of Bijapur, had been
overthrown and that kingdom coﬁsequently weak-
ened, the Raje captured all the forts belonging
to the Bijapur state in Talkonkan. Fifty to sixty
[27] were taken. Talkonkan was conquered.
Varghat also was occupied. Then a mighty force
of seven thousand Pdga and eight thousand Siledars,
fifteen thousand in all, and 12,000 militia (kaém)
was mobilised. With the whole of the assembled
army Netaji Palkar Sarpobat led an expedition
to the Mughal dominions and plundered Baleghat,
Parande, Haveli [of] Kalyay, Kulbarga, Avsa,
Udgir and territories as far as the valley of the
Godavery. Contribution was levied. Lands were
confiscated. The suburbs of Aurangabad were
plundered. The Mughal Faujdar of Aurangabad
advanced and there took place a hattle with him.,
Horses and elephants were captured. The Mughal
territory ¥ was utterly disturbed. He (Netaji)
went on performing such heroic deeds.

4! Two Maratha leaders, Minaji Bhonsla at the head of 8,000 horse
aund Kashi, crossed the Bhima and plundered the Mugha! villages in Chamax-
’ da and Raisin late in March 1657. Shivaji was at this time busy looting
g::nn.r He was there for some time, he slipped away to the Ahmadnagar
Dibtrict at the approach of Rao Karn and Shaista Khan. About May he was
overtaken and defeated by Nasiri Khan. At the approach of rain Bhiva
retreated to his own territories and the Mughal officers fell back and the
campaign cloged. Sarkar’s Bhnvajl, pp. 60-61,
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The Raje appointed officers and framed the fol-
lowing regulations for the management of the forts
that had been captured. In every fort there should
be a Havaldar, a Sabnis, (and) a Sarnodat, (and) these
three officers should be of the same status. These
three should conjointly carry on the administration.
There should bé kept a store of grain and war mate-
rial in the fort. An officer called Karkhannis was
appointed for this work. Under his supervision [28]
should be written all accounts of income and expen-
diture. Where the fort was an important one, (and)
where forts were of extensive circuit, should be kept
five toseven Tat Sarpobats * (gzeTqiaa). (The charge
of) the ramparts should be divided among them.
They should be careful about keeping vigilant watch.
Of every ten men of the garrison to be stationed in
the fort, one should be made a Nazk. Nine pri-
vates ©® (gqryw) and the tenth a Naik--men of good
faipilics should in this manner be recruited. Of the
forces, the musketeers (ag@), the spearsmen (32a),
the archers (fgigm™), and the light armed men (wys-
wsQ), should be appointed after the Raje him-.
self had carefully inspected each man individually,
(and selected) the brave and shrewd. The garrison
in the fort, the Hapaldar and the Sarnobat should
be Marathas of good family. They should be ap-
pointed after some one of the Royal personal staff
(gora) had agreed to stand surety (for them).
A Brahman known to the personal staff of the king:
should be appointed Sabnis and’ a Prabhu Karkhannis,

3 . Tag Sarpobat = Officer in charge of the wall.
*3 Pisk atands for an ordinary sepoy of the infantry.
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In this manner each officer retained should Be dis-
gimilar [in caste] to the other. The fort was not
to be left in the hands of the Havaldar alone. No
single individual could surrender the fort to any rebel
or a miscreant. «In this manner was the ad-
ministration of the forts carefully carried. A new
system was introduced.

Similarly Pagas were organised in the army. The
steength of the Paga was rendered superior [to
that of the Siledar.] The Siledars were placed
‘under the jurisdiction of the Paga. To none was
left independence enough for rebelling. To every
horse in the Paga was appointed a trooper (Bargir);
over twenty-five such Bargirs was appointed an expert
Maratha Havaldar. (Each body of) five Havalas
was named a Jumla. The Jumladar should have a
salary of five hundred Hons and a palanquin; and
his Majumdar a salary of one hundred to one hun-
dred and twenty-five Hons. For every twenty-fave
horses (there should be) a water carrier (gmrestt) and
a farrier (Ama@®). A Hazari was (s commander of)
ten such Jumlas* To this (office’ was attached)
a salary of one thousand Hons, a Majumdar, a
Maratha Korbhari, and a Prabhu Kayastha Jamnis ;
for them (was allotted) five hundred Honms. Salary
and palanquin should be given to each individual
according to this scale. Accounts of income and
expenditure should be made up in the presence
of all the four. Five gach [29] Hazarts should be

¢¢ According to Grant Duff, 6 Jumlds made a Sudhd and 10 Bubhds &
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(united under) a Panch Hazari. To him (should. be
given) a salary of two thousand Hons. A Majumdar,
a Karbhari and a Jamnis should.likewise be (att,s\clu‘ldT
to) him. 'These five Hazaris were under the
command of the Sarpobat. Theeadministration of
the Paga was of .the same kind. Similarly the
different brigadiers (subhas) of the Siledrs also were
under the command of the Sarpobat. Both the
Pagi and the Siledars should obey the orders of the
Sarnobat. With each Hazari and Panch - Hazaré
should be stationed Karkuns for the Vaknisi (news-
writing) work, Harkaras (couriers and spies) and
Jasuds appointed by the Sarnobat. Bahirji Jadhava,
a very shrewd man, was appointed Natk of the
Jasuds ® under the Sarpobat. This man was selected
after great scrutiny.

The army should come to cantonments in the
home dominions during the rainy season. There
shquld "be kept stored grains, fodder, medicines,
houses for men and stables for horses thatched with
grass. As soon as the Dasrd was over, the army
" should march out of their quarters. At the time
of their departure, an inventory should be made,
of the belongings of all the men, great or small,
in the army, and they should start on the expedition
(ggafi).®  For eight months, the forces should
subsist (on their spoils) in the foreign territories.

+8A Jasud acted both as a spy and wurier. The Harkards' funotion
also seems to have been the same. For mnbter, see Broughton’s Letters
Written in A Mahratta Camp. .

46 Mulk-giri is a Persian term meaning the conquest of a (foreign) country,
but in MArBthi records it is used in the sense of plunder.



” LIFE OF $1VA CHHATRAPATI .

They should levy contribution. There should be
no women, female slaves, or dancing girls in the
army. He who would keep them should be be-
headed. In enemy territories, women and children
should not be capared. Males, if found, should be
captured. Cows should not be taken. Bullocks
should be requisitioned for transport purposes only.
Brahmans should not be molested ; where contribu-
tion has been laid, a Brahman should not be taken
as a surety. No one should commit adultery.

For eight months, they should be on their
expedition in foreign territories. On the way back
to the barracks in the month of Paisakk, the whole
army should le searched at the frontiers of the
home dominions. The former inventory of the
belongings should be produced. Whatever might be
in excess, should be valued and deducted from the
soldiers’ salary. Things of very great value, if any,
should be sent to the royal treasury. If any qgne
secretly kept (any thing) and the Sardar came to
know (of it), the Sardar should purish him. After
the return of the army to their camp, an account
should be made, and all the Serdars should come
to see the Raje, with gold, silver, jewels, clothes, and
other commodities [30]. There all the accounts
should be explained and the things should be
delivered to His Majesty. An account of the
expenditure upon men in the army should be
submitted. If any surplus should be found as
due to the contingents it should be asked for
in cash from His Majesty. Then they should
return to the barrack. Saranjém should be given to



M any one had been guilty of violating the mim
or of cowardice, an enquiry should be made and,
the truth ascertained with the consensus of joany
and (the offender) should be® punished with
dismissal.  Investigation 8hould be  quickly
made. For four months they should remain
in the barracks and on the Dasra day they should
wait on the Raje. (Then) they should march out
to the country, selected for the expedition, by the
order of the Raje. Such were the rules of the
army. -

Similarly, among the Mawles, there was one
Natk for every ten men. Over (every) fifty men
or five Naiks there was a Havaldar. Over two or
three Havalas there was a Jumledar. Over ten
Jumias there was a Hazari, the Jumladar had a
salary of one hundred Hons per year. (He had)a
Sabyie who had salary of 40 Hons. The Hazari:
got a salary of five hundred Hons. His Sabnis’s
salary was from 100 to 125 Hons. Such were the
terms of the Hazari’s appointment. Over seven
Hazaris, was appointed a Sarnobat, Yesajl Kank
by name. Every body was to abide by his
orders.

To the Sarnobat, and the Majumdar, and the
Karkuns, and men on the personal staff of the
Raje, were given assignments on land revenue,
for their salary. The land cultivated by them
was taxed like that of the xdyata and the sum
credited as [part of] their pay. The balance, of
their dues (was paid by) varat’ (orders) either on
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the Huewr (Central Government) or on the District
(éstabhshments) In this manner were their
annual accounts punctually settled. Mokasa Mahals
or villages with absolute rights should on no
account be granted to the (men in the) army,
the militia (Haéam) and the fort establishments.
Every payment should be made by varats or
with cash from the treasury. None but the
Karkuns® had any authority over the lands. All
payments to the army, the militia, and the fort
establishment should be made by the Karkuns.
If mokasa were granted, the Rayafs [31] would
grow uaruly and wax strong; and the col-
lection regulations would no longer be obeyed. At
the Rayats grew powerful, there would be (rebel-
lions) disturbance at various places. Those, Wwho
were given mokasds, if united with the Zamindars,
would grow unruly. Therefore mokisas should not
‘be granted to anybody. N
Karkuns should be appointed for conducting
investigation into the provinces that were conquered.
In the first place an expert scribe, experienced in
the Daftardar’s work, one who has drafted papers
(documents) and drawn accounts, in short, an in-
telligent man (well versed in) Daftardar’s work
should be selected and stationed in each tract.and
charged with the Majmu office (Majumdar’s office)
of the Mahal. To some should be entrusted the:
custody of the Makal. To some should be given the
wcountantshnp of the Subha. Then as things
progress, an intelligent and careful Havaldar should
be picked up and the Subka should be conferred
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on. (him). .. The . m‘imld" +of the Mahal lhmﬂd Qe
given to a clever Majumdar of the Subha,. skilled
in writing and conversant in account keeping. The
charge of a province (or district) should not bhe
entrusted to one, who did not know how. to- write. or
had not served as a Kamavis. Such a man should be
sent back by being told, either to serve undar the
Badshahi or to enlist as a Siledar with his (own)
horse.® Of the Karkuns employed in the provinee,
the Havaldar, according to the size of his Mahal
should be given a salary of three Hons, or as much
as four or five Hons, the Majumdar should be paid
at the rate of three, four, five, fifty or seventy-five
Hons. . Over two Mahals (yielding) a lakh, one and
a quarter of a lakh, and three quarters of a lakh of
Hons (approximately), should be placed a Subkedar
and a Kirkun. To them should be assigned a
‘salary of four hundred Hons per man. The
Majumdar, appointed to the Subka should be given
a salary of one hundred to one hundred and twenty-

five Hons. The Subkedar should be made  to
maintain a palanquin (on an allowance) of four
hundred Hons. The Majumdar should be given
a sunshade® An allowance (for maintaining
Abdagiri) should be granted from the Sarkar. Under

¢? M&ml& means mamlatdarship.

¢ BRdsh&hi cannot mean any Mahomedan government .here. Does the
author mean that the under.qualified candidate should be advised either to
enter the army as a §iledsr or to enter the civil service in some snbordxuto
capacity # The meaning is not clear. ;

+o Abdigiri is an ornamented sunshade—probably derived’ ftom the
Persian word Xftab (Sum). 1t still forms & necessary part of warriage
procession and used by all men of high rank.even on ordinary pocasions.
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the Badshahx, (the honour of using) umbrellas used
“to be granted to wuzirs, omraos and distinguished
nobles ; that system was recently abolished, (as it
seemed to be) an anomaly that umbrellas (should
be held) over the Badshah, as well as over his
servants. Therefore the Badshahi system of (grant-
ing the use of) umbrella was abolished and the use
" of) the sunshade (4bdagiri) introduced. All officers
with a salary of full one hundred in the army
or in the militia, that might be out on a
mulukhgiri expedition, should keep the sunshade.
Within the dominions, a Subhd was placed ’‘in
charge of) each tract (yielding) one lakk of Rupees.
[82] To the unsettled provinces on the frontier,
a force of infantry, cavalry, and militia, as strong
as each place might require should be sent with the
Karkun in charge of the mulukhgiri.

Similarly lands in the provinces were surveyed,
(including forest lands)* and their area as calenlated
‘in chavars.®' The length of the (measuring) rod was
five cubits and five muthis.® A cubit should be equal
to fourteen tansus (#g) ** The length of the rod, in
cubits and muthis, (should be) eighty fansus. Twenty
kathis (rods) square made one bighd. One hundred
and twenty bighds made one chdvar. According to

80 Two dlfferent readings are given, “j('ﬂ A and A SAE.  Of the first,.
the word WY means tree but what Y41 means I do not know. The second’:
‘reading may mean, ‘ paigted in thick bi-colour.” Does that angmfy that the
result of the survey had been embodied in a map ?

81 1 chavar-120 Bighas,

s3 g, o fist, hence the area covered by a fist of average size.

3 A tansu is oqual to }yth ¥ or yard rod, "
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this measurement were lands surveyed and measured,
and the area ascertained by measuring each village
(separately). An estimate was made of the produce
(in grain) of each bighd, and after dividing the grains
into five shares, three of the shares should be given
to the Rayat; two shares should be taken for  the
government. According to this scale should (rent)
be realised from the Rayat. New Rayats, (who) will
come (to settle), should be given cattle. Grain
and money should be given (to them) for (providing
themselves with) seeds. Money and grain (should be ?)
given for their subsistence (and) the sum should be
realised in two or four years according to the means
(of the Rayats).. In this manner should the Rayats
be supported. In every village, from each individual
Rayat, should the Karkun, according to the assess-
ment, realise rent in grains from the crops (at the
time of each harvest). In the provinces, the Rayats
_were not to be subject to the jurisdiction and regu-
Iations of the Zamindar, the Deémukh and the Desai. If
they offer to plunder the Rayats, by assuming autho-
rity [over them] it does not lie in their power.™
The Adil Sahi, the Nizam Sahi, and the Mughlai
Des ® were conquered (by Sivaji) ; in the Des all Rayats
used to be under the Patil and the Kulkarni of those
places, and the Desmukhs. They used to make the
collection and to pay an unspecified sum (tribute).
For a village, where the M:rasdars took one to two-

'¢ The phrage in the text MY ¥t W, literally mesnl thae ‘it was not
in their hands’ so it can be rendered as abovo X

¢ Deé (30) here does not mean a country but the region above the
ghéte, that is generally known by that name,
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.thousand (Hons or Rupees ?), (they) used to render
.two ‘hundred. to.three hundred to the government as
quit-rent. Therefore the Mirasdar grew wealthy
‘and strengthened (himself) by building bastions,
castles (a18) and strongholds in the village, and
-enlisting footmen and musketeers. (They) did not
‘care to wait on the revenue officers. If the revenue
.officer said that they could pay more revenue [33]
the (Mirasdars) stood up to quarrel with him. In
this way (they grew) unruly and forcibly misappro-
priated (the lands in the De§). On this account did
the Raje demolish the bastions, the castles and the
strongholds, after conquering the Des. Where there
were important forts, he posted his (own) garrison.
And nothing was left in the hands of the Mirasdars.
This done, (he) prohibited all that the Mirasdars used
to take at their sweet will, by Inam (right) or
revenue farming and fixed the rates of the dues in
cash and grains, for the Zamindars, as well as of the
rights and the perquisites of the Desmukn, the Des-
kulkaryi and the Patit (and) the Kwlkarni according
" to the yield of the village. The Zamindars were
" prohibited to build bastioned castles. . (They were to)
build houses (and) live (therein). Such were the
regulations for the provinces.

There were gods and shrines (aw®) * at differ-
ent places in thé country, their illumination,
(Frmaw), food offering (@3=), and ablution (wfir@w),
‘were properly maintained, (by granting an allowance)
according to the importance of the place. The

¢ Irwgm lite;o,lly means o sacred place,
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:llummatwn of, and food offerings fo the shrmes d
Mshomedan saints (3) and the mosques  of the
Mahomedans were continued (by.state allowance)'
according to the importance of (each) place.
Brahmans reciting the Pedas should be placed  .in
comfortable maintenance and learned Brahmans,
Vedic scholars, astrologers, ritualists (wgwmt);
ascetics, and pious men should be selected from
every village, and a grant of money and grains should
be assigned to each in his own village in the Mahal,
according to the size of their (respective) families,
and the expense of feeding and clothing them ;
and it should be arrafiged that the Karkun should
convey their allowance to them every year (regur,
larly). . The Brahmans, should subsist on ‘this’
(grant), continue prescribed baths and prayers
(@m wwgr), pray for the Raje’s welfare and live
happily. In this manner the Raja ruled his
kyingdom, continuing his enqujries about the forts
and ‘the strongholds, the army and the militia,
the provinces and the personal staff.

» Aurangzib Badshah learnt at Delhi the news
of the disturbance created in the Mughal territories,
and (he) felt much troubled in his mind thinking—
“Sivaji has waxed powerful, a Bijapur force like
that undet Afzal Khan, (consisting of) twelve
thousand horse (he) has overthrown, he is eaptur-
ing Badshahi forts and strongholds. What steps
should be taken with regard to him?” So thought
he and having assembled all his wazirs and
omraos, and deciding to send a generai with one
hundred thousand horse to the south against the
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. Baje, [84] and so arranging that Nawab Saists-Khan,:
who was the second image of the Emperor and a
relation (of his), should be sent, called the Nawab to
the presence and questioned him. The Nawab said,
“ What is Sivaji? I will take him a prisoner as soon
as I go (there). I will win (the war) by capturing .
his forts, strongholds and dominions.” By many
effusions of this nature he accomplished (his purpose).
After this, the Badshah became highly satisfied (with
the Khan) and favoured him, by giving him a
jewelled crest for his turban (@), a dress of
honour, horses, elephants, and ornaments. With him
(were sent) one hundred thousand horses and ele-
phants, and besides them, many attendants including
clerks (Mutsuddies) etc., archers, musketleers
(a'{'?@'m), Rajputs, and camel-riders (shufar-ban)
(eAreaT@).” Similarly artillery drawn by elephants
(vei=t @qgrn), camel swivels (S'zrar @),
and horse battery (Fifgrmasta Muamr), lancerp,
light armed men and infantry, (sent with him)
were beyond counting. To the carpet and
-tent department (Faraskhana) (that went) with
‘the Khan, (were attached) one hundred elephants;
similarly (there were) four hundred war elephants;
so there were five to six hundred elephants. (in all).’
Similarly (there were) innumerable camels. Besides
these, (were sent) shopkeepers for (camp) markets,
shells and ammunition, war chariots (carrying rockets,)
and artillery; an innumerable force of this nature

7 Rai Bahadur Gupte think that it should be read as M whicl
means water carriers, . . L !
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was despatched. The army was (comparable only
to) the Ravapa of the Kaliyuga. As Ravanpa’s
wealth baffled all calculation, so (did) the innu-
merable treasure, in cash, gold, silver, Mohurs,
Ilons and Rupees®™ loaded on elephants, camels,
mules and carts, to the value of 3:0 millions in all,
withwhich (wealth) he started from Delhi. The Nawab
was a (second) image of the Badshah. With such
an ocean-like army and with all these treasures, he
came to attack the Raje, in the south. When the
army encamped, it used to cover an area, 2 ganvs in
length and 1} in breadth. (The Khan) reached
Puna in threc months, marching from one station
to another. '

As soon as the army started from Delhi, the Raje
learnt of it. He was at Rajgad. He assembled all
the Sarkarkuns, important persons, and the Saripobat,
and questioned them. In the opinion of (them)
all=~Peace should be concluded. An interview
should be sought. [35] It is not possible to hold
out by fighting. What is our force and what is the
Delhi army ?”, Such were (their) reasons.

The Raje was of opinion (that),—*“If peace is decid-
ed on, there is no influential Rajput, (with the Khan)
as would, (considering the fact that) we are Rajputs
and he too is a Rajput, protect the Hindu religion
and guard our interests. Saista Khan is a Mahomedan,
a relation of the Badshah; bribe and corruption can-
not be practised on him. Nor will the Khan protect

®%  Rupees and Mohurs nlluded to in the text should not be confused
with modern coins ; as there were Mohurs and Rupees of different weight and
value current in Sivaji’s time. Sce Ranade’s essay on Mahratta currency.

6
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us. If I meet him in peace, he will bring about
(our) destruction. It is injurious to wus.” So
he argued. Then the Raje formed the brave
resolution of fighting to the last and taking
what came of it. That day, at night Sri Bhavani
(entered) the Raje’s body and said (by his mouth),
—*Tell my child that he should not be anxious on ac-
count of Saista Khan’s coming. As I killed Afzal Khan
so will I beat him away. You should not be anxious.
As you killed Afzal Khan, so should you enter into
Saista Khan’s camp—after he comes down (here) and
fight (there). I shall get him defeated.” When the
Sri had said so, the Raje regained consciousness.
The Karkun, who was with (the Raje), had put the
goddess’s speech into writing, (then) informed the
Raje of it. The Raje mustered courage as he learnt
that the goddess was favourably disposed. He chose
good swordsmen after making selections in (from)
his army, the Mawle forces, and the personal «taff.
One thousand select men were set aside from the
remaining part of the army, one to two thousand
infantry (Trerq) were selzcted, each individually., The
confirmation of the news of Saista Khan’s arrival at
Puna was brought and the Raje descended from
Rajgad and marched with his select men and forces,
Babaji Bapuji and Chimnaji Bapuji, Deskulkarnis of
Tarf Khed, both very intelligent and [36] brave, wore
favourites of the Raje. These two bhrothers were taken
in his company. The Raje formed two detachments
under Netaji Palkar and Moro Pant Peswi. One
detachment (he) formed out of a body of Paga horse
and (placed) Netaji Palkar (in command of it). The
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Peswa’s detachment consisted of the Siledars, the
Mawles and the Hasams. These two detachments
were stationed on both sides of the road, outside
Saista Khan’s camp, and at a distance of about one
mile from it. And the Raje himself took a shield and a
sword in his hands, got ready, and took with him 1000
dismounted® soldiers (qrg3am) and started for the
Nawab’s camp. Babaji Bapuji and Chimpaji Bapuji
Khedkar marched in front (of the column), Behind
them went all the men and the Raje. The Maho-
medan army was vast—at various places, in the camp
they questioned the Raje,—(in the following manner),
“Whose men are your” ‘“Who are you?” ‘“Where
had you gone »”” Babaji Bapuji and Chimpaji Bapuji
replied, as they went on,—“We belong to the army
aud had gone on sentry duty.” Soon after, it was
midnight. They went near the Nawab’s tent. A
body of one thousand men was got together. They
went into the camp and stood (in rows) on two
sides. Selecting two hundred men out of them, the
Raje himself cut the screen with a dagger, (®ZiQt )
and entered in, bidding Chimnaji Bapuji to accom-
pany him. There were tents within tents, a maf%e
like that of seven different concentric houses, (but
the Raje) tore and rent them all, and went in. The
cuards were asleep. They were left in ignorance.
Then the Raja himself reached the Nawab’s (private)
tent. In his camp there were seven enclosures
and female attendants (Daya?)® in them all. [37].

8% Tt does not mean that all these men belonged to the infantry, they

went on foot on this particular occasion.
°%  Dai literally means a unurse. Prof, D. R. Bhandarkar thinks that the

word may be gy (ladies) instead of gy in the original text.
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The women, who were there came to know that
the enemy had broken into the camp. Apprised
of this, Nawab Saista Khan became utterly panic-
stricken, put out the candles and lights (and)
remained concealed among the women. The Raje
never raised his hands against women. Two ghatkas®
passed in that way. Shortly afterwards, the Nawab
found an opportunity, and stepping aside from the
women, turned to get (his) sword. The Raje seized
that opportunity and dealt a blow. Three of the
Khan’s fingers were struck oftf at once. Then arose
a great tumult. The forees, on becoming cognisant
of the arrival of the enemy, got prepared on all the
four sides. Then the Raje went out. The guards-
men and the men of the army, began to run about
(noisily) enquiring where the enemy was. With
them, he also ran forth shouting (like them),—
“ Where is the enemy ? ” and went out. And (he)
marched off (after) joining his forces (left) with
the Saraobat and the Peswa. The whole of the
enemy forces got ready and began to search in
their own camp. No trace of them was found,
(the invaders) went away by the direct route and
reached their own place.

When day dawned all the waezisrs came to
enquire after the Nawab. They found that three
of the Nawab’s fingers had been lost. Moreover many
men had been killed and women and eunuchs
wounded. Many men died. Learning this, the

¢! 1 ghatkd—24 minutes.
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Nawab said, * The enemy came so far as my
private tent, but no wazir was vigilant. No one
is careful. All have combined in this treason. Now
I cannot put my faith in anyone. To-day the
Raje came and cut off my fingers, to morrow he
may come again, cut off my head and carry (it)
away. Sivaji is very treacherous. He has committed
treachery (once); he may commit more. I have
no faith in my army. I should now march away
hence and go back to Delhi. With these people I
should not stay.” Making such a short-sighted
decision, on the third day he commenced his march
back to Delhi.

The Raje had returned to Rajgad. News was
brought from the enemy’s camp that ¢ Three of
Saista Khan’s fingers had heen severed. His right
hand was maimed. Many men moreover were dead.
[38] The Nawib being frigchtened was running
awgy to Delhi.” This news came. Thereupon the
Raje felt highly pleased (and said)—¢ I have come
back victorious. I have punished Saista Khan. The
Badshah gave him the name of Sasta but it was
not rightly given. He did not perform any heroic
deed to justify his name. By changing the name
to Sasta (punished) I have corrected it.”® So
rejoicing, he distributed sugar and caused the canon
to boom.

o2 % 3fas a1ey bas no force from what follows. Therefore I accept
and translate another reading offered in the foot note by R. B. Sane,
(:nm) A pun is here made upon the name Sasta punisher and the word

(«v) punished.
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The news of this victory had reached the Badshah
at Delhi® [before the Khan’s return]. The Badshah
wondered in his mind and was at heart dejected, say-
ing “What is the Nawab’s army ? And what is
meant by the Raja’s personally entering the army
and fighting there * Sivaji is not a man, he isa
big devil.” After many such effusions, he remained
silent. Later on being informed that the Nawab
was come, he forbade his visit. First, the expedi-
tion had miscarried, secondly, he had been punished.
On these two grounds he was forbidden to come
for an interview. He was ordered to stay in his
own house. The waezirs who had gone with him,
were brought (to the presence), (and) degraded,
and their jagirs were confiscated. They (however)
answered (in their defence) that “The Sardar had
been appointed by the Badshah, he (the Badshah) had
ordered (us) to obey his (their general’s) commands.
Although this was done, the Sardar has returned
unsuccessful, what should we do?¥ Now give us a
brave S«rdar. We shall go with him and exert our-
selves in the toils of fighting.” As soon as such an
answer was given, they were all reassured (of the
Emperor’s favour) and mansebs were granted to
them. Which Serdar should be sent next? Who
will return victorious ? In selectiug a Sardar on such

¢3 Aurangzib heard of the disaster early in May, when on the way to
Kashmir. As a mark of his displcasure, he transforred Saists Khan to the
Government of Bengal which was then regarded as a penal province or in
Aurangzib’s own words “u hell well stocked with bread ” in December 1663,
without permitting him even to visit the Emperor on his way to his new
charge. (Barkar.) *
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considerations, choice was made of the Rajput
Mirza Raja Jaya Sing. He was summoned, the
Badshah sat with him in the private audience hall
(gur@ @m@r) and instructed him in various ways,—
“(Go against Sivaji. Either the Badshah in person
should go or you should go. Realising this, I am
sending you, I shall send an army with you. Cap-
ture Sivaji by various artifices and bring him with
you.” 8o saying, he gave him more than the normal
complement of elephants, horses, shields, swords (men
armed with Firangan), cross-how, jagir and promo-
tion, [39] and after greatly extolling him, despatched
him with military robes of honour. The Badshah
conferred the command of the vanguard of the
whole army on Dilel Khan, a Pathan noble,
wazir and a very brave man ; five thousand Pathans
were sent with him. Elephants, horses and clothes
(of honour) were given to Dilel Khan also. Eighty
thousand cavalry were sent with him. Besides these,
canon and (&sr=|r) artillery of different varie-
ties were given. Pathan and haughty Rajput horse-
men were sent. The Badshah called (back) Dilel Khan
privately by another way, (and) said to him,—* The
Mirza Raja is a Rajput and Sivaji is a Hindu.
(They) may commit some treason. But you are a
hereditary servant (@awsig )* of the Emperor and
faithful to us. Keep yourself so informed (of their
movements) that you may not be deluded.” So said
(the Emperor) and despatched (Dilel Khan.)

** Rao Bahadur Gupte thinks that graysmg meesns one brought up in
the family.
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They started from Delhi as Saista Khan had pre-
viously done, with a (mighty) host. A cloud of dust
spread from the earth to the sky, such was the
ocean like (immensity) of the army, that started for
the south. They marched stage by stage. Where
they encamped, the army, used to cover (an area
of) 11 ganvs in length and one ganv in breadth.
Then Jaya Sing Raje argued within himself thus,
“Sivaji is intensely perfidious, full of devices
and a brave soldier. He personally killed Afzal
Khan. He entered Saista Khan’s tent and fought
(him) there. How can success come to us (in a
contest with him)?” So thought he. Then great
Brahman priests suggested (to him) the means. “A
religious rite should be solemnised to please the
Devi (3t goddess) and then success will come to
you.” So they said. Then the Mirza Raja replied—
“ One koti® of Chandi and eleveu kotis of Linga
should be made (and worshipped). For the fulfil-
ment of my desirec prayers (stq ) sbould be offered
to propitiatc Bagalimukhi Kalaratri® (gnargeat
simwal). These performances should be made.”
Four hundred Brahmans were employed in these
performances and they were celebrated every day.
Two krores of Rupees were set apart for thesc per-
formances. The performances were completed after
continual celebration for three months. Final obla-
tions of the performance were made and the Brahmans

85 1 koti=10 millions.
o6 Bagalamukhi iz one of the 10 Mahavidyds and e} bere is
apparently Kali to be worshipped at midnight.
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were gratified with Dakshing and charity ~gifts.
Then he marched on, stage by stage.

[40] The Maharaja was at Rajgad; and the
couriers and spies came to him. They submitted
the news that, ““ Jaya Sing Mirza Raja is coming with
an army of eighty thousand horse, with Dilel Khan
(and his) five thousand Pathans.” Hearing this the
Rajsri fell into (serious) deliberations. He sum-
moned his Kdarkuns to the presence, and questioned
(them). They all said—¢ Afzal Khan was killed, and
Saista Khan was surprised. They were unwary
Mahomedans. The devices adopted [against them]
were also new, hut these arec now well-known to the
Rajput. He will not allow you to hoodwink him.
Peace should be concluded with him.”¥ 8o said
(they). The Raje said that—* The Rajputs will
be somehow won over, but this Dilel Khan is a
great scoundrel (¥T@WET) and a faithless (rogue)
(ayw®). He is one of the Badshah’s favourites. That
is not at all good. What he will do, I cannot divine.
If he were not with (Jaya Sing), my desire would have
been fulfilled. Well! But what about it now ?
The kingdom is Sr’s (goddess). The burden has
been placed on Sri. She will do what she likes.”
So he said. Then that day passed. The next day,
Sri Bhavanicame {over him) and said, “ Oh child !
the occasion this time is a formidable one. I shall
not kill Jaya Sing. He will not sue for peace. You
will have to see him. After an interview, you will
have to go to Delhi. Serions difficulties will come
(upon you) there. But I will go in your company.

7 Sardars do not speak in the second person to the King.

7
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I will put forth various endeavours, protect the child
and bring him back. I shall give him success. Do
not be anxious. Tell my child so. The kingdom
I have conferred on my child as a boon, has not been
granted for one generation only. For twenty-seven
generations it has been gramted. The kingdom of
the Deccan (extending) to the Narmada has been
conferred (on you). Care for the kingdom is mine.
Realise it fully. Whatever faults of action my
child may commit I have to rectify. Do not be
anxious on any account.” So saying the goddess
disappeared. The scribes had put those words in
writing. After that, the Raje regained consciousness.
[41] Then the words of the goddess were delivered
to him by all. Thereupon the Raje felt highly
satisfied and mustered courage.

In the meantime Jaya Sing came midway between
the forts of Purandar and Kondana, and encamped
(there). And (he) sent a messenger and letters to
the Raje—(with the following message)— “ You are
a Sisodia Rajput.® You and I are one and the same.
Come for an interview. I shall secure your welfare
in every way.” Letters were sent with this proposal.
These letters came to Rajgad. After reading (them)
the Raje made an enquiry about who should be
sent as envoy, and on questioning (people), (it was
suggested that), Raghunath Pandit, a great scholar,
who was near by, should be sent. It is a business
with a Rajput (and) then heisa great scholar of -
the Sastras. The Rajput also knows the Sastra.

°¢ Sivaji’s descent from the Sisodia seems to have boen a current ﬁctionh.
See notes in the appendix.
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He (Ragunath) will suit him (the Rajput) well.
Considering so, he conferred the title of Pandit Rav
(dfegTra) on Raghunath Rav. And with clothes
and ornaments (the Raje) sent him to the Mirza
Raja. He went to the enemy’s camp.

Learning (the news) that the Raje’s envoy was
“come, the Mirza Raja, received him with great
honour. Jaya Sing said—* The Badshah of Delhi is
very powerful ; in hostility with him, (success in)
the end cannot be secured. The Raje should come
to meet me. T shall take him along with me, and
procure for him an interview with the Badshah. As
Ram Singismy son, so are you; Ishall notdo you harm.”
(In confirmation) of this (offer), he handed over the
Bel and Tulsi leaves, (3@g=9t) (to Raghunath) after
performing the paja (gst) of Srikarpur Gaur.® And
he gave robes to the Pandit Rav and sent robes and
ornaments [with him] for the Raje. And he sent
the (folowing) verbal message, (through the Pandit
Rav?) “Come to meet me. For six or four months
defend (your) forts, show (your) power, then come
ta see me.” Bidding him to do so, (he) dismissed
Raghunath Pandit Rav secretly.

He came back to the Raje at Rajgad, and reported
the news. Thereupon, the Raje became pleased.
[42] (He) sent injunctions to the forts and the
strongholds at different places and had (them) all
strengthened.  And verbal orders were sent to vari-
ous places for defending forts.

o9 !ﬁﬁ\i( M must have been ihe family god of the Mirz& Raja. Both
the word #fig and qg’( (camphor) signify white complexion, and the god

meant was Siva.
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When Dilel Khan learnt (the news) that the
Raje’s envoy had come to Jaya Sing’s camp, he felt
distressed at heart. * At last the Hindus will unite
with the Hindus, and spoil the work.” Saying so,
Dilel Khan came to meet the Mirza Raja, the next
day. And (he) began to say—*“ Why are you sitting
quiet ? There are two forts, Kondana and Purandar
near the camp. I shall storn Purandar and capture
the fort. You should take the fort of Kondana.
If we go on capturing the forts, Sivaji will come
(to make submission).” When (he had) spoken thus,
the Mirza Raja said,—“If the fort comes (to our
possession), (it will be) well. If not, our reputation
will be gone. Therefore we should not be engaged
with forts. The country should be conquered. If
forts are prevented from being provisioned, they will
of themselves, come (into our possession).” As he
said so, Dilel Khan, got upin anger (and) walked
off. “I shall go just now and capture Purandar.
Take Kondana if you like.” 8o saying (he) " got
up, returned to his camp, beat his kettle-drums took
a shield and a fireng, marched to the foot of
Purandar, encamped there, and delivered an assault
upon the fort. Five thousand Pathans got down
from horseback, and ten thousand Bailes™ attached
to the cannon were dismounted. The Pendharis™
the light troop (Adhatyaris)) and the Khaldsis,
twenty thousand men'(in all), great and small, got

70 The Bailes were footmen and could not therefore dismount.
7} The Penghdris were allowed to accompany an army and participate
in the plundering of enemy landsé and enemy camps.
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down,” (and) continued to approach the fortin a
body.

At that time, a famous man named Murar Baji
Prabhu was the commander of the forces at Puran-
dar. With him there were one thousand men. [43]
Besides these, there were one thousand men of the
fort (garrison). There were thus two thousand men.
Making his choice from them, Murar Baji took with
him seven hundred men (and) rushed on Dilel Khan
below the fort. Dilel Khan had been ascending the
fort on all the four sides with a large army of five
thousand strong Pathans, besides B riles and such
other men. (The Maratha soldiers) went forward
and became everywhere mixed with them. A severe
and frightful battle took place. The Mawles and
Murar Baji bimself fought with extreme obstinacy.
Five hundred Pathans succumbed (on the spot).
Murir Baji himself, with sixty men cut his way
theough, as far as the entrance of Dilel Khan’s camp.
Dilel Khan left the gate and fell back ; and order-
ing (his) men made the artillery, and the archers,
the lancers and one thousand light-armed men
(Adhatyaris) to ficht (Murar Baji’'s men). Out of
them (the) sixty men fell. Murar Baji Prabhu,
with a shield and fireng, rushed on Dilel Khan.
“Men cherished by the favour of the Maharaja
are dead. How can I show my face [to him]
now? (I should) therefore rush on straight.”

72 The wtara dismounting, or tightine on foot, was a peculiarity of Indian
horsecmen of which they were very proud. It was specially affected among
Indian Mahomedans by the Baruh Sayyads—Irvine, Army of the Indian
Moghuls, p. 207.
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Deciding thus (he) came upon the Khan. Then
the Khan said—*“Take thou a kaul (assurance of
safety)” (thou art) a very intrepid soldier. I shall
promote thee. As he said so, Murar Baji replied—
“ What is thy keul. Do T, a soldier of Sivaji Raje,
take thy kawl ?” (Saying so) he rushed straight upon
the Khan. As he (Murar Baji), was going to deal
a blow with his sword, the Khan took a bow in his
own hand, shot an arrow and despatched him. He
fell. Then the Khan (in wonder) put his fingers
in his mouth, ¢ Such a soldier did God create!” In
this strain did he wonder. Three hundred men
died with Murar Baji. The remaining four hundred
men went back to the fort (above). Dilel Khan took
the turban off his own head. And as he moved
towards the fort (he) took (an cath) ¢T shall put on
my turban when I have captured the fort.”” With
this resolution he went forward. ~ He came below the
portals of the fort (and) halted there forming a ram-
part of shields. The garrison of the fort [44] con-
tinued to fight resolutely without taking into account
that Murar Baji had fallen—*“ What then if one
Murar Baji (alone) is dead ? We are as brave (as
he was). We will fight with similar courage.”

The Raje at Rajgad learnt the news, “ Dilel Khan
has beleaguered Purandar. Murar Baji has fallen.
Three hundred men have died in battle.” Learning
this he felt much troubled with (these) thoughts in
his mind,—* When Dilel Khan will capture this fort,
(then) the remaining forts will surrender voluntarily.
Then there willbe no gracein my going for an interview.
It is proper, (that) peace should be concluded by
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meeting (Jaya Sing) and offering with my (own)
hands what forts have to be given up, while the fort
still holds out.” Therefore (he) sent Raghunath Bhat
Pandit Rav to the Mirza Raja (with the following
message)—“ I am coming, to see you presently.
I shall be lowered if our (€@=TS?)” inter-
view takes place after Dilel Khan has captured
the fort.” Sending this message orally, (he) ar-
ranged for going for an interview. The Pandit Rav
went and met Jaya Sing (and) informed him of
the news. Then he (Jaya Sing) too, considering
(the proposal) to be well, repeated his oaths and
solemn undertaking (f@wam).” And the Pandit Rav
came to Riajgad. As soon as he was come, the
Raje himself, took one thousand select men with
him. He made obeisance to Sri Sambhu and Bhavani,
and he saluted (and) met the Matuéi (mother). He
saluted good ascetic Brahmans. Receiving the bless-
ings of all he descended below the fort and started.
All at once he went into the camp of the Mirza Raja.
The Pandit Rav went ahead, and reported that the
Raje was come. As soon as he learnt this news,
Jaya Sing came himself on foot outside the portals.”

73 The word in the text as read by R. B. Sane does not give any meaning.
Rai Bahadur Gupte suggests g®®1$ a& an alternative, which I have
accepted. ’

7+ A f@mg1 is a solemn oath accompanied by some religious rites. As for
instance the Mirzd Rajd performed a Kriya when he handed over Bel and Tulsi
leaves. Sometimes gods are simply asked to be witnesses to the undertaking.

78 Jaya Sing did not come out to receive Sivaji. He sent his Secretary
Udairaj and and Ugrasen Kachhwa to meet him on the way. Sabhdsad is
also wrong in thinking that Dilel Khdn and Jaya Sing hdd any difference
about the military transactions. Jaya Sing concerted his plans with con.
spicuous ability and Dilel gave his whole-hearted support; but Dilel was
naturally offended at Siv&ji’s surrender to Jaya 8ing : as he thus loat the
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The Raje descended from the palanquin and met
(him). They went and sat together on the same seat.
And the Raje began to say to the Mirza Raja,—“ As
Ram Sing is to you so am I. As you will protect
him, so should you protect me.” So saying, he took
his seat. Then Jaya Sing said—¢ That is true. I am
a Rajput, you and I are of the same tribe. My head
will go first, before any [harm] can he done to you.”
After speaking such (words of) assurance, (Jaya Sing)
took an oath. Then the Raje said—“T shall give
you what forts you may want, call back Dilel Khan
I shall give you (the fort of) Purandar. I shall raise
your standard (there). But to a Mahomedan [45]
I shall not give the credit.”” On (his) making
such professions, Jaya Sing felt pleased and said,
“Dilel Khan is proud. (He) is in the Badshah’s
favour. One has to make obeisance to him with (his)
hands. You yourself will have to go for an inter-
view with Dilel Khan. T am sending a Rajput
relation (of mine) with you, he will bring you (back)
after condueting you (to the interview), you should
not be anxious. If your hair is teuched, 1 will die
with an army of fifty thousand Rajputs.” Hearing
(this) the Raje began to say—*T am Sivaji. Do
I take Dilel Khan into account? As you have
ordered I shall go and meet (him).” 8o saying
(he) took leave. The Mirza Raja sent with him?

credit of capturing Purandar. See Sarkar’s Slvﬂjl pp. 150-161. Prof.
Sarkgr has based his account on the official correspondence of Jaya Bing,
Ma,ﬂnuccx however partly agrees with Sabhfisad. See 8toria, ed. Irvine,
vd 11, p. 120.
‘10 Sivaji was sent with R&j& Rai Sing to wait on Dilel Khan who presented
v;zl with two horses, a sword, a jewelled dagger and two pieces of precious
elo th—See Sarkar’s Sivaji, pp. 164155,
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-

Subhan Sing, his mama, (maternal uncle) a great
warrior of immense strength, brave and twice as
powerful as Dilel Khan. Dilel Khan also knows him.
Saying, «“ Take care of the Raje and bring him back ;
I send (him) relying on thee” (the Mirza Raja)
despatched him. Subhan Sing took with him fifty
Rajputs, his peers (in valour) and started. The Raje
went where Dilel Khan was near the gates of Puran-
dar. Then he sent intimation to Dilel Khan to say
«Sivaji Raje has come and interviewed the Mirza
Raja. He is coming to see you.” Learning this
Dilel Khan burnt (with anger) at heart. Biting his
lips in anger (he thought) “I have not yet achieved
success (in the affair) of the fort of Purandar. The
negotiations were not held in my presence. The
Rajput has got the credit of it.” Vexed on this
account, he then came forward, and in anger violently
held the Raje fast and his embrace lasted for a

Yhadi” Dilel Khan was very stout. (He had) the
strength of an elephant or perhaps more. He ate as
much as an elephant. Every day he consumed the
same measure of (food) as an elephant eats. In his
body he was a second Hedamba Rakshasa.” So huge
(was he). He, in his rage violently held the Raje fast
(in his arms) angrily for a Ghatka. But the Sardar
was powerfui (and) equally stout, he took no notice
of it. Then the hug of welcome loosened, they sat
together, on one side, near a big bolster (4r®T) on the
other side of the bolster sat Subhan Sing. Dilel Khan

77 Ghadi gfe =20 minutes. i
¢

78 Hedamba was the brother of Hidimbi—a wife of Bhim the Indian
Hercules. Bhim killed Hedamba in a single wrestling combat, P

8
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kept a dagger near (him) (and) sat with his hands on
it. And [46] angrily asked Subhan Singh, “ Are you
come with the Raje?” So (he) asked. Then nodding
in affirmation, Subhan Sing replied—*“ Khanji! the
Raje is come to you. Now, (we shall) give you what
forts you want to-morrow. You should get down and
come to the camp. Such is the order of the Mirza
Raja.” When this was said, he (Dilel Khan) felt
much disappointed that his intentions were not ful-
filled. “ You are my superior. I shall come according
to your order. But to-day I shall capture this fort for
you. I shall come after raising the standard (on it).”
On his saying so, Subhan Singh began to urge,—
“The fort has been given to us. You should come.”
Thereupon, Dilel Khan got down and came to his
private tent. (Guards) were appointed to watch the
fort. The Raje was sent away with (the usual
presents of) betel leaves. “ You two should together
go to the Mirza Raja. He is the senior Commander.
I am agreeable to what he will do.” (8o said h;’.)
As soon as he had said so, the Raje and Subhin
Sing came to the Mirza Raja. (They) reported the
news. Then Jaya Sing and the Raje dined in the
same line (uF oMt WA &{). A tent was given
to the Raje for residing. At night the two held a
consultation. ““All the forts should be ceded to the
Badshah, and (you) should go to Delhi.”—As soon
as this was proposed, the Raje began to say—
“Twenty-seven of my forts T shall cede,” and we

’¢ Jaya Sing in his letter to the Badshsh says—
We came to this agrecment :—(a) That 23 of his forts, the lands of which
'yielded 4 lakhs of hun as annnal rovenue, should be annexed to the Empire ;
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—myself and my son Sambhaji, shall go to interview
the Badshah. After making the interview, I should
be appointed against the Badshahis of the south, the
Adilsahi, the Kutabsahi and the Nizamsahi, of this
region. I shall conquer the three Badshahis. One
Badshahi (is) the Nizamsahi, that has (already) been
conquered. Two Badshahis I shall conquer for you.”
So he proposed. The Mirja Raja agreed. 'And (he)
marched from Pupa. The Raje had Sambhaji Raje
(also) brought. Twenty-seven forts were ceded to
the Mughals, whose standards were raised (thereon).
Rajgad and the other forts, together with Moro Pant
Peswa and Nilo Pant [17] Majumdar and Netaji
Palkar Sarnobat * were placed in his Lady Mother’s
charge. And he made a compact that he himself
should go to Delhi, and interview the Badshah. Then,
Jaya Sing Raja sent his agent to inform the Badshah.
With him (an envoy) of the Raja should go, and on
this service Raghunath Pant ¥ Korde—brother-in-
law of Sonaji Pant Dabir was deputed. These two

and {(b) that 12 of his forts including Rajgarh, with an annual revenue of 1
lakh of hun, should be left to Shiva, on service and loyalty to the Imperial
throne. Sarkar’s Shivaji, p. 152.

The following are the forts ceded :—

(1) Rudramala or Vajragarh. (2) Purandar. (3) Kondana. (4) Rohjira.
(5) Lohgarh. (6) Isagarh. (7) Tanki. (8) Tikona in Konkan. g‘)) Mahuli.
(10) Muranjan. (11) Khirdrug. (12) Bhandardrug. (13) Tulsikhul,
(14) Nardurg. (15) Khaigarh or Ankola. (16) Marggarn or Atra. (I7) Kohaj.
(18) Basant. (19) Nang. (20) Karnala. (21) Songarh. (22) Mangarh.
(23) Khandkala near Kondana. See Sarkar's Shivaji, pp. 156-157.

80 This is inaccurate. Netdji had been deprived of his command in 1660.

*! Rai Bahadur Gupte says that the Prabhu Kayasthas, to which oaste
Korde belonged, do not add Pant after them ; the name therefore shonld be
Raghunéth Rav, But it appears from Old Bakhars that they indulged in
that privilege in Sivaji’s time, W
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were then sent. The Raje sent a petition to the
Emperor (with the message) “I am coming for an
interview.” He wrote and sent a letter to this effect.
After this the Raje went, in the company of the
Mirza Raja, with his own forces towards Bijapur. On
the march, the Mirza Raja and Sivaji Raje sat on the
same hawda, and proceeded (on their journey). All
the wazirs used to come and salute them. Dilel
Khan would not salute. The reason was, that the
Raje and he (Jaya Sing) were at the same place
(together on the same seat); how then could he
salute ? On this ground, he would not salute. Then
peace was made with Bijapur also. Then they were
to have gone together to Delhi.

But to this proposal, the Mirza Raja said—¢ The
Badshah is very expert in devices, (and) is
faithless. If you and I go together, and (some)
treachery is committed against both of us, what
should (we) do? I shall go there afterwards. 1
shall stay at Aurangibad,—You go to Delhi. My
son Ram Sing is at the court. He is also a man
of equal weight [with me]. T am sending (verbal)
instructions to him. Get the interview through him.
Obtain (the grant) of a saranjam and come to the
south. After you have started from Delhi I shall go
there. Till then I shall remain away. (So that) the
Badshah may not commit treachery against you, after
you have met him. Giving counsels in this manner,
(he) then sent a letter to Ram Sing (and) adjusting
(everything) properly, and despatched the Raje.
(Following is) the list of the Karkuns and personal
attendants—the Raje took with him—
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Niraji Ratji Sahana ® Trimbakji Sondev, son of
Sonaji Pant (item 1) Manko Hari Sabnis (1) Dattaji
Trimbak (1) Hiroji Farzand (1) Raghoji Mitra (1)
Davlji Gadge (1).

Mawles 1,000 one thousand, Lashkar (forces—
Sawar according to a different reading) 3,000 three
thousand, [48] and such like. With these, the Raje
came to Rajgad, took leave of all and took with him
the above attendants. And the Rije and his son—
these two—proceeded to Delhi ®—stage by stage.
The Badshah learning that the Raje was coming
for an interview, sent instructions to all his Fauj-
dars and Mahal Mokasaholders.— Sivaji Raje
is coming to pay homage. Wherever he may en-
camp, the Faujdar of the place should wait on him.
(And) supply food and drink as may be necessary.
He should be honoured in the same manner as the
Shahzadas.”

‘Suéh orders were sent. Then, (wherever) the
Raje broke his journey, the Foujdars used to meet
him there, and supply him with food and drink and
what expense was necessary. In this manner, ‘he)
reached Delhi in two months.

The Badshah, learning that the Raje was come,
sent Ram Sing forward, to receive him. Ram Sing
came and met (the Raje). Raghunath Pant Korde,
(who) had been previously sent as an envoy, also

82 Persian SGhand means a Kotwal

83 He went to Agra and not to Delhi. Bee Barkar’s Shivaji, p. 171. Prof.
Sarkar however does not give any reason for discarding Sabh@isad’s view.
Kincaid and Parasnis, Hist of the Maratha People, Vol. I, p. 117.

The credit of first pointing out that Sivaji went to Awra, however, belongs
to Prof. Barkar.
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came and met (the Raje). (He) reported every news
about the Badshah. “Outwardly he expressed satis-
faction and pleasure, but what is in the Badshah’s
mind we do not know.” So said (Korde). Having
interviewed (the Raje) Ram Sing came to the
Badshah (and) reported the news. The Badshah
allotted a big independent house in its own garden
(havelr) and named the place Sivapura and there
the Raje took up his residence. At an auspicious
moment, he set out to see the Badshah. The Badshah
assembled his Darbar, sat on the Royal throne,
keeping five weapons near (him)* girding his waist,
and patting on a steel armour. Similarly he made
great warriors of (known) valour to stand near
the throne, and (stationed) two thousand (men)
in its neighbourhood. Likewise all the wazirs
were assembled in readiness, in the Hall of Public
Audience (wmA@rE). In his mind (the Badshah)
argued— Sivaji is not an ordinary man, he is the
Devil. He killed Afzal Khan at (a friendly) infer-
view. What should be done, if in a like manner,
he jumps on the throne, and makes a treacherous
attack on me ?” So thinking, he sat prepared for
every contingency [49]. (Then) he called the Raje
for the interview. Ram Sing conducted the Raje,
and his son Sambhaji Raje, and a few men (literally
ten men TEW) Karkuns and near relatives of the
Raje, to the interview. Nazar was offered to the
Badshah. The Badshah said,—“ Come ! Sivaji Raje!”
As soon as he said so, the Raje offered three salutes,

*¢ This however was an ordirary practiceand not a measure of precaution,
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In his mind he meant—the first (for) Sri Sambhu
Mahadev, the second (for) Sri Bhavani, the third
(for) the Maharaja his father ;:—in this manner were
the salutes offered. And the Badshah ordered him
to stand on the right side, near (and below) Jasvant
Sing Maharaj, the Raja of Navkot of Marvad. The
Raje and his son stood (accordingly). (The Raje)
asked Ram Sing—“ Who is the neighbour in front
of us?” Ram Sing answered—“ Maharaj Jasvant
Sing.” On hearing so, the Raje got angry (and) said—
“An Omrao like Jasvant Sing, whose back my
soldiers have seen ! why should I stand below him ?”
Saying so in his anger, he began to beg of Ram
Sing (his) dagger, (threatening) to kill the Maharaja
with the dagger—that hung by Ram Sing’s waist.
Then Ram Sing began to counsel him to be patient.
When these words were heing exchanged, the
RBadshah became aware |of thé tumult]. He asked—
“ What is the matter ?”  Ram Sing replied—*“The
tiger is a wild animal of the forests, he feels hot.
Something has happened.” As he said so, fear grew
in the Badshah’s mind. There was no knowing
what might happen. Therefore the Badshah said
to Ram Sing—* Go (back) with the Raje to (his)
quarters. To-morrow (we) will have an interview at
leisure.” As he said so, the Raje, his son, and Ram
Sing and the Raje’s men, all returned to his quarters.
When the Raje was gone, the Badshah felt relieved.
“ A great evil is over. T and Sivaji have seen each
other ”—S8o saying he remained (silent).

After the Raje had returned to his residence, he
and Ram Sing sat (together), (and the Raje) said—
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“Who is the Badshah ? I am Sivaji! Am I to be
made to stand below Jasvant! [50] The Badshah
does not anderstand anything (of propriety).” So
said (he). Ram Sing said, “ Do not go to the inter-
view. As you have come, keep up appearances and
(then) go back. It will be a great gain to us, if
you can safely go from here.” So saying, Ram Sing
went to his own Aaveli.

The Raje summoned his Aarkuns, courtiers, (gg%)
and Raghunath Pant Korde, \and) asked (them)—
“What step should be taken next? The Emperor’s
policy is known (to us). How to achieve suc-
cess in it, (against the policy), sccure leave of the
Emperor (and) go hencer The Badshah will not
give (us) leave, unless (we) undertake to render
some service to him.” Then, Raghunath Pant was
sent with the (following) instructions—* You should
go to the Badshah to-horrow, and petition (him to the
following effect). We have no other interest except
that of Your Majesty.* Ihave, without any suspicion,
come with my son also, for an interview. Services
should be accepted from (this) servant. I undertake
to conquer for His Majesty, the two Badshahis,—
the whole of the Adilsahi and the whole of the Kutub
Sahi, in the south. (The Badshah) should reflect on
the services rendered by the other governors (subah)
that he sends and my services [in comparison]. After
making some such professions, (suggest that) if I am
called for a private interview in the (private) Council
chamber, I shall meet (the Emperor) and communicate

85 Swami in the text literally means ¢ master.’
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something (important). Petition to this effect.” 8o
he instructed. Thereupon Raghunith Pant Korde
went tathe Badshah, the next day, wrote the peti-
tion as instructed, and submitted it. The Badshah
(however) entertained suspicion in his mind after
reading the petition. And he wrote on the back of
the petition, (as) an answer,—* Wait, I will do what
you have asked for.” Such was the answer (he)
wrote. He (Raghunath) came, and told the Raje to
wait. “Then there is suspicion (in his mind), he has
not given a frank answer;” so the Raje inferred.
On that very day, Saista Khan sent (the following)
verbal message to Jatar Khan the Dewan,—since the
reign of the late Badshah he had been Dewan,
but the administration was conducted by his deputy,
——<Sivaji is intensely perfidious. (He) is learned
(in the black arts). [51] When he entered into my
camp, he jumped over forty yards and entered into
the house; the Badshah should not call such a man
to an interview. If he is called, he will make a
treacherous attack, jumping over a space of forty or
fifty yards.” He sent words (to this purport).
Thereupon Jafar Khan made this information known
"to the Badshah. The Badshah offended at heart
regarded it as true. (He) entertained strong sus-
picions in his mind.

The next day the Raje learnt that Jafar Khan,
the ‘Dewan, had slandered him before the Badshah.
Learning this, he sent Raghunath Pant Korde to
Jafar Khan with the message, “I am coming to see
you.” (With this message) he sent (him). After
making deliberations in his mind, for a long time, he

9
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said,—*All right | let him come.” Sothe Raje went
to see Jafar Khan. (He) honoured him greatly, and
spoke something about (his) saranjam, but he did not
like it. (Jafar Khan) said outwardly—‘very well’.
His wife was Saista Khan’s sister, she sent words
from the harem, “Saista Khan’s fingers were cut
off. Afzal Khan was killed. Sivaji will likewise kill
you too. Give him leave soon.” Then (he) gave the
Raje leave, with robes (of honour). “I shall peti-
tion the Badshah and get (you a) saranjam.”—So he
said. Then the Raje came to his quarters. “Jafar-
Khan also, has not spoken frankly. Well! What-
ever the Sri will do is right.” So saying he remained
silent.

The next day, the Badshah appointed Fulad Khan,
Kotwal, (with) five thousand cavalry and infantry
(to be) pear the Raje and (gave him the following)
order, “Thou shouldst stay around the Raje’s quarters
keeping carcful watch (over it).” Thercupon the
Kotwal came and pitched (his) tent. Then the Raje
became scared He began to feel distressed. He
lamented much, holding Sambhaji Raje to his breast.
[52] Niraji Pant, and Dattaji Pant, and Trimbak
Pant consoled (him) in various ways. Then the"
Raje said—* What device should we now resort to 7”
While (they were) so deliberating, night fell. Then™
St1 Bhavani came in a dream and showed herself *
(saying), “Do not be anxious. I shall take thee back -
hence, with (thy) son, casting confusion on all (thy)
foes, by means of the bewitching weapon ( @iwarer ).
Do not be anxious.” In this manner (did the
goddess) assure (him) of safety. Then the Raje
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awoke, told his relatives (all about the dream), and
felt secure.

The next day (he) got by purchase various kinds
of sweets.®® Obtaining bamboo baskets (he) filled ten
baskets with sweets employing two porters for each
basket, (and) inserting a rod of wood in the middle,
(he) sent the sweets to the wazirs. The men of the
watch asked,—‘Whose baskets (are these)? Where
do they go?”’ The porters answered —*“The Raje has
sent sweets to a few wazirs. They opened one or
two (baskets) (and) found (there were) really sweets.
Then (they) let (them) pass. This process was con-
tinued everyday. Then after eight or four days he
instructed his sawars and some Karkuns to get away.
Then they all fled.

* Then one day the Rije and his son crouched in
‘a basket. Sending baskets before and behind
(them), they set out, seated in the middle one. At
that time, the Raje took off all his garments dressed
Hll‘OJl Farzand (in them) and made him sleep on
his cot. His uncovered hand alone was left visible
outside. And (he) was laid wrapped in a coverlet.
~And a boy was kept for massaging (his limbs).
Having selected a place in a village, three cosses
beyond Delhi, (he) had previously sent the Karkuns
attached to him (there). And the two of them set out
seated in a basket. The men of the watch, inspected
one or two of the foremost baskets (by) opening
(them), (and) let the others pass without opening.
Arriving at a place two cosses outside the city, they

®¢ Fruits or sweets, for §1 in Marathi stands for both.
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left the baskets, set out on foot, and went to the
village, where the Karkuns were. (The Raje) took
the Karkuns with (him). All of them satin a jungle
and (there) argued,—[53]| “If we go straight to
home® now, an army will be sent in pursuit, turning
to that direction. We should not go towards (home).
‘We should go to the opposite side of Delhi, we should
go towards Benares.” So deciding, the Raje, and
Sambhaji Raje, and Niraji Ratji, and Dattaji
Trimbak, and Ragho Mitra Maratha,—(these men)
left (the jungle) (and) set out. The rest were told to
go where they liked. (The Raje) himself, the
prince, and the other men, (who were) Karkuns,
besmeared their bodies with ashes and putting on
the disguise of Fakirs went towards Muttra.

In the meantime, Hiroji Farzand, was lying on
the cot, at Delhi. For four quarters (prakas) of the
night, and three quarters of the next day, he lay
like that. Fulad Khan’s watchmen, coming into the
room, found that the Raje was sleeping Wrap.ped
in a coverlet, (and) the boy was massaging his legs.
The men asked the boy, “(Why) is the Raje sleeping
(v0) long to-day ?” The hoy answered, —*“(His)
head aches.” Seeing it, the men vetired. In that
manner Hiroji lay for three quarters of the day.
When there was (only) one quarter of the day left
"Hiroji got up, put on his wrapper, breeches, and
turban and came out with the boy (with him.) To the
enquiries of the watchmen Hiroji answered—“(His)

®7 Dei is the word used in the original, which means native coﬁnu'y or
simply country,
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head aches. If any one tries to go into his room,
forbid him. I am fetching medicine.” 8o instruct-
ing the watchmen, the two went out. (Hirojf)
went to Ram Sing’s camp®, told him the news in
private, and getting out thence, took the road for
the Deccan.

Then Ram Sing went to see the Badshah. He
submitted to the Badshah,—* Sivaji had come
through our mediation. The Badshih has set (on
him) separate guards. I have no concern (with him).”
The Badshah answered—* You have no concern. [54]
He is a servant of the Badshah, and the Badshah
will look after his welfare. You have nothing to
do with him.” (When the Badshah had) said so,
Ram Sing returned to his quarters, after making
(his) obeisance.

It was the ninth hour of the day. At the ninth
hour (zt®) the watchmen reflected—* There is
no -concourse of men to-day. The servant says
that the Raje is unwell.  After that no one comes
or goes, what is the matter?” So they went into
the room to see (but) then, there was no one
on the cot. It so appeared, that the Raje had
fled. Finding this, Fulad Khan reported the news
to the Badshah,—*“The Raje was in the room.
Though we had been paying repeated visits of inspec--
tion he suddenly disappeared. - Whether he has
fled, or entered into the earth, or gone (up) in the
sky—we cannot surmise. We have been (very) close

88 According to some Bakhars Hiroji was thrown into prison and cruelly
tortured.



70 LIFE OF SIVA CHATRAPATI

(to him). He vanished in our view. (We) do not
know what device he took.” As he reported so,
the Badshah felt astonished and was much per-
plexed. And issuing injunctions to the (whole of
his) army, (he) sent two lakks and sixty thousand
sawars, to search (for Sivaji), in eight directions.
He told (them), “Sivaji is clever in devices. He
must be going under some disguise. You should
thercfore look through the disguises of the
Jangams,®  Yogis, Sanyasis, Tapsis, Bairagis,
Nanakpanthis Gorakhpanthis, Fakirs, Brahmans,
beggars (FWW), Brakmacharis, Paramphanses,
mad men, and various others, detect the Raje and
bring him a prisoner. Having given such hints, (he)
despatched them. The soldiers rode in four directions.
And the  Badshah cherished the  suspicion
in his mind, (that)—*“The Raje must be hiding

o8 S| = Saiva lingayet Sanyasis. Sir R. G. Bhandarkar giveg the
following account of the origin of the Jangamas. ‘ Basava (the Prime
Minister of Vijjapardy) had another sister named Nagalambikd who had
a son named Chenna Basava or Basava the younger. Tn concert with him
Basava began to propound a new doctrine and a new mode of worshipping
siva, in which the Linga and the Nandin or bull were predominant. He
speedily got a large number of followers, and ordained a gregt many
priests, who were called Jangamas. This took place towards the close of
the 11th century A. D.*** (After Basava’s death Chemna Basava) became
the sole leader of the Lingfiyats; but even before, his position was in some
respect saperior to that of Basava. The religious portion of the movement
was under his sole direction, and it was he who shaped the creed of the
sect. In him the Pranava or sacred syllable Om is said to have become
incarnate to teach the doctrines of the Viraéaiva faith to Basava, and according
to Chenna-Basava-Purina, *“ Chenna Basava was Siva, Basava, Vrishabha or
Siva’s bull, (the Nandin), Bijjalathe door keeper; Kalyspa Kailisa; and Siva
worshippers (or Lingayats), the Siva host.—Early History of the Dekkan, 2nd
Ed., pp. 94, 95. This new creed spread widely among the trading classes,
which before were the chief supporters of Jainism, ibid, p. 96,
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some where in the vcity, and at night
(he) will commit some trcachery.”  Accordingly,
after making investigations, (and) appointing careful
watchmen, he sat (all night) awake on his cot. Men
with girt waist were kept near (him) night and
day. In this manner he lived.

Then the Raje and the prince'went on by stages
and reached Muttra. (While) looking for some
acqauintances in Muttra, (they found) XKrshnaji
Pant and Kasi Rau and Visaji [65] Pant, three
Brahman brothers, brothers-in-law of Moro Pant
Peswa,—whom Niraji Pant knew. The party went
[to their house] met them, and related the news.
They summoned resolution and agreed (to his pro-
posal). Thereupon the Raje, left (his) son Sambhaji
Raje in their house, (with the following instruction)—
“I shall send you a messenger and a letter, irftimating
that I have reached home in my own kingdom.*
Come - home with the prince, all (three) brothers
" with your families. I shall maintain you in every
way. I shall make you prosperous and give you a
reward.” So saying he left the prince, and went
to Benares, taking Krshnaji Pant, one of the brothers,
in his company. “Get the religious rites at Gaya and
Prayag performed for me through [men] you know.”
—8o saying; (he) took him in his company, and came
to Benares. There (he) performed the bath in secret,
visited Sri Visve§var and performed the bath at
Prayag and the gayavarjan ceremony. There he
contracted an immense loan and performed [deeds of ]

L @y the word used in the text means a country or the region above
the ghéts. I think the word home will give the sense here.
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charity. Then it was so arranged that he should
come home to his own kingdom. Should they go
by the direct route? The Badshah’s army had
gone that way, so they should not go. 8o deciding
he came through Gondawana,” Bhaganagar® and
Bijapur to Rajgad. On the way, vigorous searches
were made at many places, and ruin and treachery
seemed to be imminent. But Sri Bhavani guarded
(him) and brought him safe and sound. Niraji Pant
and Dattaji Pant and Raghoji Maratha, these four ®
came. On his arrival at Rajgad, big charities and
great festivities were made. Sugar was distributed,
(and) cannon were fired. The Matusri, and the
Karkuns, and the soldiers in the army, and the
forts, and strongholds, and the militia, all were
pleased and held festivities.

Preparatlons were then made for recovering the
twenty-seven forts ceded to the Mughals. He said
to Moro Pant Peéwa, and Nilo Pant Majumdar
and Annaji Surnis,—*You should capture (these)
forts by diplomacy and exertions.” And the Raje
personally said to the Mawles—* Capture forts.”
Thereupon, there was a Hdzari of the Mawles,
Tanaji Malsura by name, (he) made (the following)
offer,—¢1 shall take the fort of Kondana.”® [56]

90 The country of the Gonds-—the central provinces of to-day.
°1.Golconda. So called, according to later chroniclers, aftar Bhagn,
hman lady, who had offcred a dish to the founder of the city when the

latter was very hungry and tired. In return she prayed that the city should
be named after her. There is another story about the name Golconda.

®2 Why Four ? Is the Rije also counted with thein.

°3 For an English translation of a charming ballad of the capture o
Sinhagad see Rawlinson, Shivaji tho Maratha, pp. 102—111,
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Making such (an) offer, and accepting robes of
honour and betel leaves, he went below the fort,
with five hundred men for the enterprise against it.
And selecting two good (and) intrepid Mawles (he)
made them climb up the precipice of the fort at
night. They procecded up the cliff in the same
manner as the monkeys move, and climbing the
precipice they reached the (ramparts of the) fort.
Fixing a rope ladder (ma/) to® that point, the
remaining men with Tanaji Malsura climbed up,
(and) three hundred men went up to the fort.*
Udebhan,—a Rajput, was (in command) in the fort.
He learnt that the enemy forces bad come. At
this news, all the Rajputs girt their waists, took
MATCH * and CHARGE in their hands, and lighted
torches and clandrcjotis” Twelve hundr8@d men
composed of gunners, and archers, lancers, swords-
men, rushed on with upraised blades and small
arms and shields. Then the Mawles repeating
(the nume of) Sri Mahadev, rushed straight on the
Rajput army, and confronted (them). TFor one
prahar a great battle raged. Udebhan, the Killedar ™

v+ Mal is used in Persian histories of the time in the sense of a rope ladder
with leather foot-rexts.

8 The MAaratha mothod of scaling a rampart with human ladders was very
peculiar, The soldiers first formed a human pillar—by standing on each
other’s shoulders—that reached the rampart and the top-most man then
dropped a rope, which was held fast by the men forming the column. The
remaining men theu climbed up the rope in close succession, thus completjpg
the garland or ma/. I am indebted to Rai Bahadur Gupte for this information.

90 grgra.—The Match-—the name of this was in Persian either Jamgi
or Falitah in Hindi Tora-—Irvine, Army of the Indian Moghuls, p. 107.

97 Chandra-jyoti is the Sanskrit translation of the Persian word mah-tab,
a kind of candle filled with powder.

¥$ The com;nauda,nb of the Fort.

10
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in person, encountered Tanaji Malsura Subkedar.
The two great warriors, and very intrepid (men)
fell on one another. (They) went on dealing
blows. The shield which Tanaji (had) in his left
hand was broken. A second shield did not come in
time. Then Tanaji made a shield of his left hand,
and received (the enemy’s) blows on it; (and) both
of them were fired with anger. (They) fought
furiously. Each was cut to pieces by the other, and
fell at the blow of firaungs. Both died on the spot.
Then Suryaji Malsura, Tanaji’'s brother, mustered
courage, rallied all (his) men, (and) killed the re-
maining Rajputs. Many Rajputs leaped (down) the
cliff and died in their deseent. In this manner,
(they) killed twelve hundred men, (andj captured
the fort. And fire was sct to the [thatched] stables
of the cavalry in the fort. The Raje noticed its
light from Rajgad and cried out,—“The fort has
been captured! Victory has been achieved!”. It
happened like this. Then a Jasud, came the next
day, with the news,—* Tanaji Malsura fought bravely.
(He) killed Udebhan AKilledar and Tanaji Malsura
also fell.” So (he) reported. As he said that the
fort was captured, the Raje remarked,— One
fort has been taken, but another fort is gone.”’®
[67] So (he) felt very sad for (the loss of)
Tanaji. Then a garrison was placed in the fort.
Saryaji Malsurd the brother (of Tanaji) was extolled,

?¢ Konddna was called Sinhgad or Lion’s fort (or den). Tt is said that

o=

captured but the Lion is gone ” ("€ W1 q0 4% 7141 ). See Grant Duff,
Vol. I (Cambray’s edition), p. 197.
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and the Subka (ship) was conferred on him. Brave
soldiers got gold bracelets in reward. (Hes gave
(them) immense wealth. Gold embroidered clothes
were given to all men. Tn this manner was Kondapa
captured first. Then Moro Pant Peswa and Nilo
Pant, and Annaji Pant, and the Mawles, with similar
distinction, took twenty six forts in four months.
(The Raje) went on governing his kingdom, recaptur-
ing what forts had been ceded by the treaty.'®
After safely reaching Rajgad from Benares, (the

Raje) sent men and letters to Muttra. Thereupon,
Krshnaji Pant, and Kasi Rt and Visaji Pant, the
three, with their families, dressing Sambhaji Raje in
a dholar ( AT ) and sacred thread and calling him
their nephew, came to Rajgad and met the Raje.
Then the Raje met his son. Great rejoicing took
place. (He) performed many deeds of charity. And
(he) conferred the title—of Visvas Rav—on the three
_ brofhers — Krshnaji Pant (and the other two). (He)

gave (them) a reward of a lakh of Hours. A salary
of ten thousand 7Ions was granted to the three
brothers. (They) were enlisted among the chiefs
[of the court]. Mokasa Mahils were granted (to
them). (They were) extolled. Similarly Niraji Pant
had come along with (the Raje), exhibiting much
courage, and labouring hard ; and Dattaji Pant was
in (the Raje’s) company, and Ragho Mitra also was
with him. Of them Niraji Pant, knowing all about
justice and equity, an intelligent Nizimsahi Brahman,

100 §ghhisad’s account is inaccurate bore, Sivajidid not fnvade the Mughal
territories immediately after his return, For two years he kept peace, and
busied himself in consolidating his power. See Sarkar’s Shivaji, pp. 202.2083,
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was appointed to the office of Nyayadhis, by the
Government. All law-suits in the kingdom should
be decided by him. His son Prahlad Pant, was
a small (boy) of twelve or fourteen years.
Finding that he was clever and intelligent, (the
Raje) appointed him to the office of the vicar to the
Sabnis of the forces, and kept him with the army,
attached to the Sarnobat. “Prahlad Pant will be
a great man, (he) will bear great burdens,” so the
Raje foretold. Investigations were made about what
office should be conferred on Dattaji Pant. Then
Gangaji Pant Vaknis died His Taknisi was con-
ferred on Dattaji Pant. He was reckoned as one of
the Sarkarkuns. Ragho Mitra was placed in charge
of the household forces. Whoever had in the
(Raje’s) company, (in his journey from Delhi) shown
courage and (performed) labour were glorified.

[68] Then the Raje selected good men, and ap-
pointed the picked men (to he) with his palanquin.
“I am the enemy of four Badshahs (and if) some-
time occasion arises, those who are near will then
be of service.” Realising so, he selected choice men
after inspection and examination of the Mawles,
(and) organised them into Pataks.'”

Their names (according to the order on the roll)
(were as follows)—

(1) A body called hundred men.
(1) Abody , sixty men.
1) A body , sixty men.
(1) Abody , forty men.
(1) Alody , thirty men.
(1) Abody , twenty men.

10t The Turkish word sanjar meaning a standard was used in the sense of
a regiment or a province, Pataka is sanskrit for standard. (Prof. J. N, Sarka
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In this manner was each Pafok named. Excel-
lent men were selected from among the Mawles.
The picked men being enlisted, the four Pataks com-
bined made two thousand men. Of them, some (were)
musketeers, some spearmen (Fﬁﬁ ) and the rest
(had) light arms, (and) firang. In this manner were
the men cquipped. So many men (as were selected)
were given (uniform) dresses. (They were equipped
with), embroidered turbans ( weYw ) for the head,
jackets of broad cloth for the hody, two gold brace-
lets for the two hands,—to some (were given) silver
bracelets, gold and silver rings to be attached to
the upper and lower ends of the sword sheaths,
silver rings for the guns and similar rings for the
spears, and a pair of Audkis'” for the cars. In
this manner were all the men equipped with
dresses, at the expense of the government. All
had the same dress. As for their courage each
one of them was superior to the others.® Two
thou.sand Mawles selected after such [careful]
scrutiny should always be with the palanquin near
(the Raje’s person). In the like manner (he) ap-
pointed over them a {ainati serdar of the position of
a Haziry in the kasam. Likewise were Jumledars
appointed. And two thousand to two thousand and
five hundred men were enlisted in the hasam [of the
bodyguard]. They should be [always ready to take]
the road. At the time of (the Raje’s) going (out),
they should march on four sides of him with his

102 A earring with seven pearls arranged like a little flower.—Molesworth.
105 The author means that all the soldiers were equally remarkable for
their superhuman courage.
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palanquin. In this manner were the men employed.
Then an assault was made on the fort of Panhala,
(that) belonged to the Adilahi, and the fort was
captured. The -Raje remained in the fort. Siddi
Johar, (a) wazir from Bijipur, (with) twenty [59]
thousand horse besieged the Réaje. The fort had
been (only recently) captured, (and) there had been
no time for strengthening (i) with stores  But the
fort was well defended. Letters with a Jasnd were
sent to Netaj1 Palkar, the Raje’s Sarpobat ; (with the
foliowing message)—“You should come with your
forces for a counter attack, and heat off Siddi Johar.”
(With such a message) were letters sent. But the
forces (were) far away. (He) could not come in
time. And (there was) no store in the fort. Then
the Raje deliberated (on the situation), and surrender-
ed the fort to Siddi Johar. (He) himself came
down. Siddi Johar took the fort and placed his own
garrison (there).'™

Then the Raje summoned Netiji Palkar, and with
reproof-—“ Why didst not thou come in time?”—
took away (his) Sariobalship, and gave it (the Sarno-
batship) to the Sarnobat of Rajgad, —Kadtaji Gujar
by name, (and) conferred on him the appelation of
Pratap Rav, instead of his old name. Pratap Rav,
while serving as the Commander-in-Chicf, assembled
all the Marathas of the ninety-six families (wreTery
FS'R ) (including) those that were in the four
Badshahis and those that were in (Sivaj’s)dominions,

104 The 8iddi was both “a fool and traitor.,” He believed in the false
professions of Sivaji and secretly hoped with his assistance to carve out an
independent principality of his own. (J.N.8.)
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(He) bought horses for the cavalry. He went on
equipping the state service cavalry ( paga) and enlist-
ing Siledars'® In this manner (he) made a numer-
ous assemblage, ‘and) established (his) sway, in the
four Badshahis.

The Raje escaped from Delhi (and) the father
and son came to (their) own country safely. Coming
(home), (he) took twenty-seven forts in four months.
Great fame was won. Learning this, Aurangzib
felt anxious in his mind. Then the Badshah, gave
diplomatic counsel to Shah Alam, his eldest son, and
sent him with (an) army. e said to the Shahzada
—«Sivaji cannot be conquered by force. Yougoand
stay at Aurangabad and win his friendship by
entering into negotiations for a treaty with
him. If he does not like to come to an interview,
then excuse him that, (formal) homage. And grant-
ing Jagir in his name [60] or in the name of his
son , get his army for scrvice with you. Work
so, by giving him whatever rent free villages,
money or military outposts, he may demand, that
Sivaji may become our servant. You win (but) this
much success and complete success will come-
[naturally out of it.] Do so. ™ Giving counsels in

106 Ag a rule, his (the Mansabdar’s) followers brought their own horses and
othev equipment; but sometimes a man with a little money would buy extra
horses and mount relations or dependents upon them. When this was the
cage, the man riding his own horso was called in later parlance, a Silhadar
(literally equipment holder) aund one riding some body elsc’s horse was a
birgir (burdentaker). Irvine, Army of the Indian Mughals.

108 It was Sivaji who begged YafSovant to act as medintor between him
and the Kmperor snd it was through him that the Prince Was won over,
The Prince wrote to his futher recommending pence and his suggestion was
accepted by the Emperor. ‘
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this manner, (he) despatched the Prince with (an)
army. He set out with sixty to seventy thousand
cavalry. Arriving at Aurangabad (by marching)
stage by stage, (he) remained there, and sent to .the
Raje,—letters, spy (srgg), messenger (g@ait ) (and)
envoys. They reached Rajgad, (and) delivered the
Shahzada’s letters. (He) rcad them and learnt the
contents. It was written there,—“You and I
should unite by treaty.” So (he) wrote.'” Thereupon
the Raje, feeling highly pleased, sent Raghunath
Pant Korde to Aurangabad. Some jewels (and)
clothes were sent for the Prince. Raghunath Pant
went (and) had (an) interview. The Shah honoured
(him) greatly. (He) said a few things in private
(that) “The Raje and I are brothers. You and I
should be of the same view (and) you should come
for (an) interview also. I shall grant Jagir in
(your) son’s name. Appoint for (my) service a Sardar
and an army and send a Brahman of rank. (1 shall)
maintain (them) by granting mokasi. You should
be at the Badshah’s orders.” It was settled that a
Hap! Hazari’s Jagir should be granted in the
‘name of Sambhaji Rije, and territories yielding 15
lakhs of Hons (in) Berar and XKhandesh should be
given. (Raghunath) was despatched with valuable
ornaments and clothes.

He came back to see the Raje. (An) interview
took place. The Shahzada’s ornaments, clothes, (and)

107 Literally so he wrote and sent ( %@ fq}amgqu ) the 1diom here as
well as in a previous sentence g gifest exactly correspond to the Bengali

idioms.—fafag| st5v8m, “Afem criva
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letters, were delivered. The proposal about the
Jagir was conveyed. When (he was) acquainted
with all the purport the Raje argued,—* We have
firstly, enmity with the Badshah of Bijapur, enmity
with the King of Bhaganagar,® (and) enmity
with the Mughals. Three such enemies cannot be
endured. Mine is a new kingdom, within it also
my rule has been established after enduring two or
three very hard knocks. Therefore one enemy at
least should be made a friend, and for two years (I)
should muster strength and recover (my power).
Then (I) should do what is fit.” So thinking he
came to the conclusion that peace should be made
with the Mughals; and despatching five thousand
troopers with Pratap Rav Sarnobat, deputed Niraji
Pant as Sarkarkun in his company. [61] And
agents of Moropant Peswd, and the Majumdar and
the Swurnis were sent. The office of the Sadnis of
the forces was conferred on Prahlad Pant, son of
Nirai'i Pant. Raaji Somnath, a Karkun, was sent as
Subhedar for the mokasa territories, that would be
given. These were despatched. Peace.was con-
cluded with the Mughals. Agreeing to Hapt Hazari
(mansab) for Sambhaji Raje, Niraji Pant and Pratap
Rav went to Aurangabad.

Then the Prince received them with great honour.
A separate site was assigned, and a suburb was
founded (for them there). Elephants, horses, jewels,
(and) clothes, were given to all. A Jagir land
yielding 15 lakhs of Hons, was granted in the

108 The Sultan of Golkonda.
11
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province of Berar. Ralji Somnath was stationed as
Sarsubhedar in that province. The Government share
of the produce also was granted to them. The men
got enough of money, (and) remained contented.

Then the Shahzada wrote (and) sent this news to
the Badshah at Delhi. Thereupon the Badshah felt
much pleased as soon as he learnt of it. The Bad-
shah had the pleasure (of seeing that) his dominions
were undisturbed. In this way the army remained
at Aurangabad for two years. And the Raje on
his part got leisure. In his dominions, (he) amassed
money. (He) conquered many forts, strong-holds,
and territories, belonging to the Adilsahi. There
was much intimacy between the Prince and the
Raje, (and) they went on sending presents to each
other. Therefore the suspicion arose (in the mind
of) Aurangzib at Delhi that,— The Shahzada and
the Raje are united. (They will) sometimes rebel
and do me treachery.” So he planned—¢ Now I
should sow disscnsion between these two.” So he
wrote to the Shah,— Sivajiis a traitor (garft). His
Sardars (generals) Pratap Rav and Niraji Pant, these
two are with (their) army (with you). Therefore
do not put your faith in them. They will sometimes
(if occasion arises) create disturbance at Daulatabad,
Therefore, you should imprison these two, put all
their horses in (your) stables. et there be no
remissness (Trg) in this respect.”  So (he) wrote.
This news, the Shah’s Vakil, who was with the
Badshah, [62] immediately transmitted by veiled
language (Ywme@),—Things here have happen-
ed in this manner.” You should be careful.
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Such information (ebtained), the Badshahzada
called Niraji Pant in private, (and) communicated
this news, and giving (him) clothes and ornaments
.dismissed (him) secretly, (with ihese instructions)
“To-morrow night, run away with the whole army
(and) escape to the Raje. If your goods are left,
(you) will get (them). Keep the infantry with you.
Take (your) baggage afterwards at your leisure. In
a few ‘days the Badshah’s note (sTng) will arrive.
Then I shall have to imprison you. Therefore you
should previously get away.” So (he) said. There-
upon Niraji Pant returned (and) getting Pratap Rav
and all other men ready next day, set off with the
army at night. They went to the Raje (marching)
stage by stage. (An) interview took place. (They)
came with some treasures and clothes and ornaments
of variegated colours and figures. The Raje felt
pleased and said,—“For two ycars the army has
gajned its subsistence and (we) have obtained a
friend (in) the Shahzada. This is a good occur-
rence (that) has taken place. Now, an ocecasion
has ariscn for plundering the Mughal territories.”
So (he) said. Then the Raje’s army left for
Aurangabad.

Eight days after this, arrived the Badshah’s
autograph letter. (The Shah) learnt the con-
tents. Then the Shah said— The Marathas are
villains (gTwene). They fled eight days previous-
ly. If they had been here, I would [certainly] have
imprisoned them.” So (he) said, and wrote to
Delhi in answer to the Badshah,—*“I am ready to
do as ordered, but the Marathas fled eight days ago;
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there was no chance of imprisoning them.” To
this effect (he) wrote'® Then the Badshah was
nonplussed on learning of it,—‘The Marathas are
very cunning”-ghe remarked. Things happened
in this manner.

An interview took place between Pratip Rav
and the Raje. The cavalry got ready. Beating
back the (enemy) forces who had invaded the home-
territories, (they) invaded the Mughal provinces
created confusion there. Then and there was the
Raje’s fort of Rangna. [03] (There came) from
Bijapur Rustam-i-Zaman, wazir, with seven to
eight thousand soldiers (and) laid siege to the fort.
At that time the garrison made a stout defence and
the Raje reinforcing (them) by sending troops
repelled Rustam-i-Zaman and saved the fort.
After Rustam-i-Zaman had been defeated, Abdul .
Karim Bahlol Khan" wazir (came) from Bijapur
with an assembly of twelve thousand horsemen laid
siege to Rangna. The garrison fought much and the
Raje also attacked them by sending troops, (and)
assisting ~from outside. Bahlol Khan was much
harassed. And the rains ensued (and) storm com-
menced. Many perished during the rains. Elephants,
horses, (and) camels died. The [Bijapur] army was
spoilt. Such became (his) condition. Bahlol Khan
fled away saving his life (alone). The fort remained

100 fqEAqRfA—if literally translated would be—‘sent (the letter)
(after) writing (it).” It corresponds exactly to Bengali ﬂqﬁm mq,
but theve is no corresponding English phrase for it.

'1% R. B. Sane has retained the letter g (and) between Abdul Karim and
Bahlol Khin, but Bahlo) Khan was the title of Abdul Karim.
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safe. Then in all the cities that were in the Moglai
(Mughal dominions) were stationed four to five men
in disguise for spying (out their wealth and oppor-
tunities of plundering them)."! The informations
gathered, two were to come to report the intelligence,
(and) two were to remain there on the watch. Then the
residences (wdfemr) and cities were to be plundered
by sending the army. This arrangement was made-
Shortly afterwards came Bahirji Jasud from Surat,
with the information that—*If Surat is plundered,
wealth beyond counting will be found.” So (he)
reported. Thereupon the Raje argued,— (If) the
army (is led) by servants, the work is not likely to
be done satisfactorily. Therefore, if going (is decided)
I should go in person with the army.” So he
decided. And Makaji Ananda Rav the natural son
of Maharaj Sahaji, and Vyankoji Datto, a Brahman,
a great military Sardar of renown, who had left the
services of the Maharaja and come to the Raje,—
these the Raje exalted and invested with the rank
of Panch Hazari. And Pratap Rav Sarnobat and
Vyankoji Datto and Ananda Rav and other Sardars,
ten thousand Paga' and ten thousand Siledar—an
assembly of twenty thousand men, similarly five to
seven thousand choice Mawles and the Sarkarkuns,
Moropand Peswa, [64] and Annaji Pant, and Dattaji
Pant, and Ba] Prabhu Chitnis (Balaji Avji),—these

1 tn;;zﬁ—-One set to watch the conduct or motions of another or to
take note of his items of property and of the facilities” and difficulties
presented for stealing them. Molesworth.

113 PGga here as distinguished from Sileddr means Bargirs; or those who
were armed and accountred at the Réje’s expense.
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(he) took with him. From Kolavan [Koli country,
north of Kalyan] (he) marched straight to Surat' at
the rate of five to seven ganvs '* per march and all
of a sudden arrived at Surat. The men of Surat
were off their guard, (and) the army entered the
suburb near the gates of Surat at the gallop. The
Mughal forces'” also came forward. Great fighting
took place. Many men of the Mahomedan side were
killed. And seizing bankers’ houses they filled their
bags with gold, silver, jewels of nine various sorts,
(viz.) pearl, coral, ruby, diamond, emerald, topaz,
(and) sapphire, coins like Mohars, Putlis, Ibhramis,
Satramis, Asrafis, Hons,—coins of various kinds, and
many such (precious) things. Hands were not even
laid on clothes, copper vessels and minor things. In
this manner was the city looted for two whole days
and nights. As many good horses as were captured
in the battle or found in the bankers’ houses were
taken and the Raje decided that (he) should quickly
depart. This done, half the horses {rom the entire
army were kept with the forces for fighting (pur-
poses), on half the horses were laden the bags of
spoils. Long bags were made for the infantry (and)
given to their care. Making such preparations, they
started with their loads. The fort.of Surat was not

113 This was the second sack of Surat. The first sack took place in
January 1664, when Sivaji did not get much above a kror of Rupees in all,

1141 Ganv=

(a) About 6 miles {Ind. Ant., 1898, p. 295).

(b) Gows=40 kos (Eng. Factory Records) or 11 miles each,

(¢) 8 Gows=30 miles (Eng. F. R.).

118 They retired into the fort after making onl & ghow of resigtance.
There was no fighting.
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captured, As there was (very) little time (the Raje)
went away after plundering the city. (On receiving
this news, the Mughal Subhedar) (with) twenty
“omraos, and Mahabat Khan and Daud Kh#n,—made
a race of seven ganvs, and came on, each Subha
being accompanied by a thousand horse. They
intercepted the Raje. (He) learnt the news that
the enemy was come. The Raje himself mounted
horse, put on a cloak of steel netting with cover for
the neck and head,"® arming his hand with a paifta
(azr) 7 (and) sending forward the baggage horses
and the infantry [65] stopped with ten thousand
horsemen, unburdened of all. There is a
city called Vani Dindori. There (they) stopped,
and fought a severe action with the Subha’s men
who had come. Mahabat Khan and Daud Khan
fought. The Raje stationed his forces in the front,
and placing himself in the rear, offered battle.
Pratap Rav Sarpobat and Vyankoji Datto, and
Anand Rav, (with) other Sardars advanced forward
(and) made a great slaughter and killing the
Mughals, felled (their) corpses. For two prakars the
battle raged. The Marathas fought as neplus ultra.

116 The Khogi must be something worn on the head * ® * Has
it anything to do with Ghoghi, a pocket, a pouch, a wallet (Shakespear 1756)
Ghiinghi, cloths folded and put on thc head as a defence against the rain
(Shakes. 1758) ? The latter may point to a solution. The Khogi or better
the (fhiigi, may have been folds of cloth adjusted on the head to protect it
from o sword blow—Irvine. Army of the Indian Mughals, p. 65, Baktar—
This is the name of a body armour in general, whether it were a cuirass or
chainmail desoription—Ibid, p. 66. '

117 A pattd is & long.double edged sword with a broad hilt protecting the
forearm of the swordsman. Sivaji is seen armed with a pata in Ravi Varma’s
popular portrait.
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(waga) (They) killed three thousand Mughals,
took three to four thousand horses. Two Mughal
wazirs were captured. They came after winning
a victory in this manner. After this Jagjivan the
son of Udaram, a wazir of the Mughals, and Ray
Bagin, Udaram’s wife came with (other ?) Sardars
and five thousand Mughals to Umbarkhindi.
They were beaten back. Ray Bagin was besieged.
Then she begged for an (kaunl) assurance of safety
declaring herself to be a child of the Raje, holding
grass in her teeth. Then the Raje gave her a
kaul (a safeguard), rcleased her on her professing
helplessness and came back to Rajgad.

The spoils of Surat being calculated (it was
found) that in all goods worth five Arors of Hons
had been brought."® TFour thousand horses had been
seized, a cavalry force was organised with them.
As the distinctive mark of this force, a quadran-
gular sign was branded on the right buttock of
the horses.® Such marks of recognition having been
put, all the Adilsahi and Nizimsahi forts that (still)
remained in the country werc then captured. Forts
were built on some rocks at impregnable places.
New forts were constructed at villages at various
places in the country. Realising that territories
are kept under control by means of forts (he) built
them, and in the Konkan conquered the country

11¢ Highly exaggerated —“ An official inguiry ascertained that Sivﬁji had
carried off 66 laks of Rupees worth of booty from Smat.”

119 This was no innovation of Sivaji's. Tt prevailed in the Munghal army
and in the Pathan Army (see Tarikh-i-Sher Shahi). In tho Moghul army,
the scale of pay depended on it. See Irvine, The Army of the Indian Moghuls,
p. 1.
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as far as Kalyan, Bhivandi and Rajapur. In the
course of this conquest, (he) killed and routed
thosc of the rebel Phalegars and Desmukhs of
different places that came to fight, and protected
(and) properly maintained those who accepted
his kaul. [66] Revdandad and Rajpuri were Nizam-
sahi forts in the sea, the Hab3i commander was
(practically) the master there. His fleet in the
sea, consisted of forty to fifty ships,—Gurabs,*—
with it he plundered territories, obtained mainte-
nance (and) preserved (his) lands. His men began
to molest the Raje’s country. Then the Raje sent
a force (of) two thousands Mawles (under) Baji
Pasalkar. Simtlarly sea-going ships were built.
The Raje saddled the sea (with a dam}, thus was one
arm made ready. . Rajpuri (alone of the Nizamsahi
dominions) was left [unconquered by him] in the
sca, and on that account the name of the Nizamsahi
still continued there. As that place had to be
conquered, the Raje built forts selecting (for their
sites) rocks at various places, as these commanded
the sea and (these forts) would weaken the sea
kings. Realising this, (he) fortified some submarine
rocks (and) constructed forts in the sea. Building
such seaforts or Janjiras (and) uniting ships

120 The gurabs have rarely more than two masts, although some have
three ; those of three, are about 300 tons burthen ; but the others are not
more than 150 : they ave built to draw very little water, being very broad
in proportion to their length, narrowing however from the middle to the
end, where iustead of bows they have a prow, projecting like that of a
Mediterranean galley, and covered with & strong deck level with the main
dock of the vessel, from which however, it i8 separated by a bulk head which
torminatos the forecustle.”—Orme, Wur in Indostan (1775), Vol. 1., p. 408,

12
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with forts, the Raje saddled the sea.” Thinking
that his name would be maintained (¢.e., his autho-
rity would be recognisedf as far as marine forts
would be built, he Dbuilt innumerable forts and
Janjiras (island strongholds) on land and in the
sea. Such were the deeds (he) performed.
Thereupon, one Kay Savant from Rajpuri
came with a force of five thousand to fight. A great
battle was fought (and) furious fighting took place.
Kay Savant himself and Baji Pasalkar were great
warriors. His (Pasalkar’s) moustaches were as thick
as arms ; curling them (he) used to place two
lemons on two sides on the support of (the copious)
hair ;—such a prodigy of strength (the Raje) enter-
tained (in his service). They (Savant and Baji)
met each other in a duel. Each inflicting on the
other twenty-five wounds fell dead. Their respective
armies thereupon retired, each to its own place.
In the meantime, the Raje’s father Sahaji
Maharaj, who lived at Bangalore, suddenly died
of a fall from his horse, at Bogdart a vil-
lage in the province of Chitradurga, while com-
ing towards Bijapur. 'This news made the Raje
[67] very sad. After performing the prescribed
rite, (he) celebrated many deeds of charity. And
he said—“ It would have been well, if the Maharaj
had {survived longer and) witnessed the heroic deeds
of a son like me. Now to whom should I show

121 Prof, Sarkar suggests that it should be translated as follows : At sea,
with the exception of Junjirf, he combined forts and ships and (thus)
saddled the sea.” If @fist is inserted after 5§ in line 12 we get the above

sense,
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my valour ? Formerly I killed Afzal Khan, punished
and defeated Saista Khan, and went to Delhi after
an interview with the Mirza Raja. Having seen
the Badshah I came back to my own kingdom.
"Then I captured many forts, plundered many
towns and enlisted an army of 40,000 cavalry in
Paga and Siledar. 'The Maharaja was pleased at
the news of such heroism. Tetters of approbation
used to come to me regularly. He used to send
robes of honour and ornaments likewise. I have no
elder (left) after him now.” In this strain he
lamented much. 'The Matusri was going to immo-
late herself; the Raje sat on her lap, twined his
hands round her neck and made her take an oath
(that she should live) and refrain (from self-immola-
tion). ¢ There is none to witness my heroic deeds,
thou must not go.” With such exhortations the
Raje, as well as all other great men, after great
exertion made her desist. Things happened in this
manner.

Then the Siddi of Rajpuri was to the Raje
an'enemy like rats in a house, and he hegan to
enquire about how he should he defeated. Then
Raghunath Ballal Sabnis voluntarily prayed that he
should lead an expedition against the Siddi. (So
saying) he marched towards Rajpuri with five
to seven thousand Mawle irregular infantry. He
went, overran the whole province as far as Rajpuri
(including) Tale and Ghosale, and cleared the coast
frontier up to Rajpuri. One or two of Siddi’s
regiments that had come were beaten. Then nego-
tiations were opened from Rajpuri with Raghunath
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Pant, and peace was concluded. Then (they) sent
some good men asking for sonie territories ard with
(the assurance of) strong oaths induced Raghunath
Pant to go for an interview. The interview took
place, friendship was established by the ratification
of the treaty. Raghunath Pant was given clothes
(and) a horse (and) came to his country. Then
in course of time he died, and thereafter the rock
that checked the Siddis was broken. Thereupon the
(conduct of the) Habsis underwent a change, (and
they) began to disturb (the Raje’s) country. Then
the Raje despatched Vyankoji Datto with the army
designated (for the work). He went and utterly
devastated their dominions [63] (and) annexed their
land. Then the Siddi sent a Habsi force (of his own
nationality) of cavalry and militia against the cele-
brated Vyankoji Datto. A battle was fought
between them. Vyankoji Pant killed threce hundred
Habsis (and) captured their horses. Vyankoji
Pant toiled hard (and) got (no less than) twelve
wounds. He came after inspiring such terror that
the Siddi had to open negotiations for peace.
But the Raje did not conclude peacc and remained
in his (Siddi’s) country,” strengthening himself

122 Although it was Siw‘tji’s life’s ambition to capture the 8iddi’s stroug-
hold of Janjirs, he never succeeded. The attempt was repeated by his
successors without any better result. Although Danda Ré&jpurl was once
captured by his general, it was recaptured by the enterprising Mahomedan
Admiral. Sivﬁji however left no means untried to overthrow the Habsl gea-
power. He tried bribe, he sowed dissension among them but the (.mly"
result was to drive the desperate Habsls to acknowledge Mughal supremacy
and range themselves on the side of Aurangzib. The Hab$l Admirals gave
the Marithds immense trouhle. They not only rQLitled:their coagt but often
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(by the erection of) new forts and strongholds at
various places. Formerly a hill near Rajpuri had
been fortified, (the Raje) captured it, built a fort
(there) and conquered the whole country. Military
posts were established. Then he (the Siddi) had
no resource. (The Raje) stationed a Subha with a
train of five to seven thousand militia men. Such
(measures) did he take. "Then no territory was left
to Rajpurli. Wherefrom was grain to come? (Far
that) there were ships in the sea. With them
they began to plunder other lands, bring provision,
and subsist (thereon). On that account the Raje
fitted ships in the sea. (Fitting out) ships
of various types as Gurabs'®, and Tarandes'®, and
Tards'®, Galvats'®, sibads'™®, Gurabs'® and Pagar'®,
(he, appointed two Subleddrs, a Musalman Subkedar

sent chortds or professional thieves to rob Mardtha subjects. The chiefs
of JAnjir® ruthlessly tortured their unhappy captives and compelled them to
abjtire their faith and embrace the religion of the Arabian prophet. It may be
noted here that Balaji Avjl was originally a subject of the Habsis and was
forced to leave his ancestral home and seck Sivaji’'s service by the tyranny
.of the alien rulers,

123 Gurabs are repoated twice here and their description has already been
given (see 140). “ Galivats (Galvats) are lurge row boats built like the Gurab
but of smaller dimensions, the largest rarely exceeding seventy tons: they
have two masts, of which the mizen is very slight ; the main mast bears only
one sail which i% triangular and very large, the peak of it when hoisted being
much higher than the mast itself.” Orme, Vol. T, p. 409.

TArii means a sailing vessel generally.

A Tar@nde is a sailing vessel of large dimension.

“ The Shibar is a large square-sterned flat.bottomed vessel with 2 masts
but no deck.”—1J. N. SBarkar, Modern Review, Dee. 1918,.p. 540.

. Bhibar—trading boats—Orme Hist. Fragments, p. 79.

The Pagér is only a well smoothed canoe,
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Darya Sarang'® (seca captain) by name and May
Naik (water leader) a Bhandari,'™ consitituting a
subka of two hundred ships; in this manner was the
navy equipped. A battle was fought between them
and the Siddi’s fleet, and the Siddi’s vessels were
captured. Many battles were fought, (and it came
to such a pass) that Tarandes could not sail in the
sea. (They) went on making constant attack on
them (the sailing vessels). Then the Habsi used
to secure provision by theft and robbery. The Raje’s
ships began to plunder the cities and forts at various
places belonging to the Mughals, the Firangis (Portu-
guese), the Dutch, the English and the Kilatav,™
and twenty-seven such sea powers (Badshahs that
are in the sea), as well as various sea coast towns as
Bedniir, Saunda and Srirangapattan and subsist
(thereby). They fought at various places (and) used
to bring the Raje grains and other provisions, after
providing for their own needs.”” In this manner
seven hundred ships were (equipped) in the sea. ‘A
force was organised in the sea also. (Thus) was

124 “Daria is Persian for ocean and Maa is Arabic for water. Sabhasad
speaks of Darya Sarang, a Musulman and Mai Nayak asa Hindu of the
the Bhandari caste. Bnt a Bombay letter dated 2lst November, 1670,
says—‘The admiral of the [Maratha] fleet is one Ventgee S8arungee com-
monly called Durrea Sarungee. Daulat Khan was an officer distinct from
the Dariya Sarang.”—J. N. Sarkar, Modern Review, Dec. 1918, p. 540.

125 A clags of Sudras who extracts spiritnous lignors from the cocoanut
tree.

128 Gemtag 8 either (1) Kalantar a Persian word meaning superior
applied to the president of an English factory or (2) the Kiladi dynasty of
Bednur. (J. N. Sarkar.)

337 The fleet was probably mannied by fishermen of the coast like the
Koli. There is a statue of Sivﬁji at Malavan with the Koli head gear. 1t is not
improbable that it formed the uniform head dress of his sailors,
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(this) one plan [69] worked out. Only Rajpuri
(i.e., Janjira) rcmained of the Nizamsahi naval domi-
nions. On this account the name of the Nizamshah
is still preserved.

As he wanted to conquer that place * * * (the
sentence is incomplete here). At Kudail in Konkan,
lived a rebel (chief) Lakham Savant Desiai by name,
with (a force of) twelve thousand fasam. Kudal
was under (the sway ot) Adilsahi—He sent word to
Bijapur that after assembling an army of horse,
foot, and militia, he was going to march against the
Raje to recover Konkan. To this effect he sent a
(verbal) message. 'Thereupon, from Bijapur, Khawas
Khan, commander-in-chief, a great warrior, came
to Kudal with ten thousand horsemen. Lakham
Savant united with him with twelve thousand
irregulars  (hasam) (and) went on reconquer-
ing Konkan. In the meantime, the Raje got
the * iiformation, and selecting (his forces from)
the army and the militia marched straight on them.
Baji Ghorpade was coming from Bijapur with
fifteen hundred horsemen to help Khawas Khan
(He) descended from the Ghats and halted. There-
upon the Raje sent an army against him (and) by
a surprise attack (utterly) destroyed Baji Ghorpade
with all his relations and following. Twelve hundred
horses were captured. A great battle was fought.
Then he was to fall upon Khawas Khan at Kudal, (and)
to destroy him also like this (Baji), (but) by this time
the Khan heard this news. “Baji Ghorpade had been
destroyed with fifteen hundred horses ”——learning this
news, he was struck with terror (and) fled over the
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Ghats, (and) went straight to Bijapur. Then the Raje
undertook the command of the force against Lakham
Savant. (The Raje) killed many of his soldiers
also. Thereupon Lakham Savant left the province
of Kudal and fled to the foreign provinces in the
Portuguese dominions. The Raje conquered the
province of Kudal. The Portuguese dreaded the
Raje, and so it happened that they would not harbour
him there. When he had nowhere to go to, (he)
sent a fish-eating Brahman, Pitambar ®envi,” by
name, as envoy to Kudal for opening negotiations
with the Raje. [70] With a safe conduct from the
Raje he came to meet him. The interview took
place. “We are Savants—that is—we are of the
same family as the Bhonsle. It is meet that you
should maintain us.” On (his) speaking at some
length in this strain, the Raje granted (the Savant)
the .'<émukhi of Kudal, (and he so ordered) that an
assignment of six thousand (Honrs) should be made
to him as (his) salary. (He) was not to build any
bastioned mansion. (He) should live at Kudal. (He)
should not make any assembly (of force). He was

Zi)

128 ¢ Qhenvis, according to Sahyadri Khand, are said to have come at
Parashuram’s request from Trihotra or Tirhut in Northern India. This legend
is probably confirmed by the fact that specially in Goa, Shenvis, like Bengalis,
freely rub their head with oil, and also like them are fond of rice gruel pej,
and fish. The honorific Bab as in Puruhottam Bab, is perhaps a cormption
of Babu in Bengali. Their broad pronunciation of vowel sounds is like that
of the Bengalis. ' hough they fled from Goa to escape conversion by the
Portuguese, every family has still a private idol there. They claim to be
Sarasvat Brahmans of the Panch Gaud order.”—Bombay Gazetteer, Vol. X,
p. 116. The Bengalis and the Sarasvatas are very probably descended from
common ancestors, but the tradition about their separation in Triliut is vather
doubtful.
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kept in this. condition. Conferring on his Sardars
Ram Dalvi and Tan Savant, Hazariship of the
hasams, (the Raje) stationed and appointed other
three officers of his own at three places. He did not
let any interview hetween them and Lakham Savant
take place again. In this way he subjugated the
province of Kudal. The fort of Phond belonged
to the Adilsahi. The princely (xrsififwr) Mahabat
Khan, a mighty general, was (commandant) there.
(The Raje) laid siege to that place and by laying
mine by means of tunnelling (g¥w sgswr) blew up
the bastions. Phond was captured. Mahabat Khan
was granted a safe conduct (al@) and permission
to go to Bijapur. On that occasion an officer in the -
Raje’s service, Ibhram (Ibrahim) Khan, a great
Musalman warrior, (and) a Hazari of the forces, was
with him. He toiled (and) laboured very hard. After
capturing Phond, (and) taking Carwar, Sivesvar,
Miraj, Ankola, Kadre, Supe, Udve, all these forts of
Konkan (he) extended the frontier as far as Gokarypa,
Mahabalesvar on the Ghats, (and) Supe; and intimi-
dating the Portuguese of Goa took from them
cannons, (money) in cash and jewels, (and) after
winning them to his side (9W&@¥ =®A) came
after giving them a license to trade. (He) gave
them leave to export and import. In this manner
he subdued the whole of Konkan.

‘Then, in Bednfir was a Lingayat named Sivappa
Natk."™ His city of Basnur (Barcelore) was of great

120 Sivappa was a powerful prince and a good ruler. He had considerably
extended his kingdom. For a short account of Kiladi Nayaks and Sivapps
see Bowring! Haidar Ali and Tipu Sultan, pp. 85.87. .

18
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renown. (Sivaji) sent spies to the seacoast, obtained
informations (through them), (and) as there was no
path for going across the Ghat, the sea-going ships
were brought and fitted, and the Raje himself
embarked on a ship, and one day suddenly appeared
hefore Barcelore for raiding. The people of the city
were off their guard. (He) landed from the ship
all at once (and) plundered the city. For one day
the city was sacked empty (¥Z# wam &K). As he
had brought goods by plundering Surat, so [now] he
came back to his own country with innumerable
goods and property (in) gold, gems, clothes (and)
merchandise. [71] (It was found) that property in all
to the value of 2 krors of Houns had been brought

Again there was in the Mughal dominions the big
city of Karanja. Information was procured thence,
(and) the Raje Himself proceeded there taking the
force with him. On his way he plundered the peth '
of Aurangabad. Making a rapid march of seven
ganvs (he) went to (and) halted at Karanja for
three days, took possession of all the mansions of the
city, (and) with shovels dug out (buried) treasures.
After taking cash, jewels, gold, silver and rich clothes,
he rode (back). The Mughal Subhas at various
places,—Dilel Khan, and Bahadur Khan, Ikhlas
Khan, and Bahlol Khan and Indramani * (and) Om#aos
like these (from) different places, some with ten
thousand, some with twalve thousand (forces) came

130 A Peth is a city or village, often unwalled, under the shelter of a fort
usually on an eminence hard by.

131 Tndramani or Indrabhén was a brother of Raj& Sujan Bing Bundels ;
see Ferishta's History of Dekkan by Jonathan Soott. (1794), Vol. IT, p. 83,
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on (the Raje) from (all the) four directions. He
went on, fighting with them (and) offering resistance.
He fought many great battles, killed the Mughals,
levelled them to the dust, (and) captured and brought
elephants, horses, camels (and other) property. And all
the enemy’s wazirs went back unsuccessful. The Raje
reached his dominions in safety with his forces.
Dilel Khan with twelve thousand horsemen came up
and pursued him, at a distance of ten to twelve ganos
up to the banks of the Bhima. Then the Raje went
to Rajgad. The spoils when valued were (found to
be) worth seven Zrors.

Then Rayrigad ' that belonged to the Adilsahi was
captured. The Raje himself went and found that
the fort was very fine, the precipices on the four
sides looked as if scraped perpendicular, (and were)
[72] one and a halt ganvs in height. During the rains
grass did not grow on the cliff and (it looked as if

33 The following account of Rayri by an English traveller is worth quoting
in this connection—** The Mar-rajah, the sovereigu of these people, generally
keeps his court, or more properly speaking, considering their purely military
constitution, his head quarters, at the fort of Raree, inthe mountains of
Dekkan ; and it reports do not bely it. this must be the most completely
impregnable place in the universe. It is represeuted asa fortified mound of
rocks, extremely high, and so steep, ag by no one narrow path way, to be
accessible to human footing ; with this advantage, that the enclosure of it
is large enough, independent of the stores accumulated there, to grow grain
sufficient for the maintenance of its garrison, which were it but a handful
of men, could with pleasure defend it against the greatest armies that could
be brought to take it - not to mention that the passes and defiles leading to
it amorg the mountains are so rugged and narrow taat the Morattoes wmust
be all asleep, to suffer any armies to penetrate to that frontage.”—Grose,
A voyage to the East Irdies (1772), Vol. I, p. 88. For ancther account, see
Fryer —A new account of East India and Persia in Eight letters, p. 79 (original
edition). A graphic description of R8yri and a sketch map will be found
in Bombay Gazetteer (Kolaba Volume). .
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it were) one chiselled slab of stone. (So fine was it.)
It is true that Daulatabad also was one of the finest
forts in the world, but it was less in height. This fort
was ten times as high as Daulatabad. The Raje
was very pleased to find it so, and (he) said that,
this fort should be made the seat of his throne.
Resolving thus, he built houses, palaces, state rooms,
buildings and a separate mansion for the. eighteen
departments, and seraglio for the queens, similarly
separate quarters and bazar for the Sarkarkuns,
separate quarters for Panchhazaris, and dwelling
houses for men of unote, (different) stables for
elephants and horses and camels, and garages for
palanquins and chariots, and cowsheds, in that fort
with chunam plaster and hewn stones.

The first wife of the Raje, the mother of Sambhaji
Raje, died. After her, the Raje married six
other wives. Of themn Sayera Bai, a daughter of
the Mohite ** (family) became pregnant. A son
was born to her. He was born with face downwards.
The news was delivered to the Raje. The Raje
remarked.”— (He) willupset the Badshahi of Delhi.”
So (he) said. Then the astrologer prophesied, «He
will be a great king. (His) fame will be greater
than (that of) Sivaji Raje.” So he prophesied.
Then the Raje named him Raja Ram.® And (he)
said, “ Raja Ram will make his subjects happy. His

133 Her father was a Sirke (Rajwade).
134 Literally ‘went on remarking,’ in Bengali it will be LeE 3w
afagn |

%% Rajaram was named after the hero of the RAm&yanu, because he was
born on the R&mnavami day. Sivadigvijuya, p. 225.
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power will be greater than mine. The fame of his
name will be great. If my name is preserved, it will
be by him.” 8o (he) said, and performed many
deeds of charity.

Then Moro Pant Peswa took many new forts
from Trimbakgad to the fort of Salheri (and) built
many new ones. He captured forty such forts new
and old. He subdued Kolawan. (He) annexed the
kingdoms of Ramnagar and Jawahir. In those
provinces also he built forts. In this manner did
(he) distinguish (himself).

[73) The Badshah at Delbi learnt all these news,
viz., that — Surat has been plundered, Barcelore
plundered, Burhanpur, (and) \urangabad have been
plundered. Salheri and all other forts have been
taken. (Sivaji) is establishing (his authority) in the
provinces of Khandesh, Baglan, Gujrat, (and) Berar.”
—Hearing this, he felt much distressed, (and) said,
—*“ What remedy should be adopted ¥ Commanders
of lakhs of horse T sent, but (he) overthrew
them. They came back with failure. Whom to
send now? If I send a Shahzada then (he) will
join in a revolt thither, and take Delhi itself. There-
fore none appears fit to be sent, (or) should I myself
gird my waigt and march against Sivaji? hen what
should I do if something like Saista Khan's (affair)
happens (to me) ? Therefore I shall not leave Delhi
so long as Sivaji is alive.” So he decided and sum-
moning Ikhlas Khan, a perfect warrior, and Bahlol
Khan, sent (them) with twelve thousand horsemen
to Salheri. (Their instruction was) to take (and)
utterly destroy Salheri. Similarly Dilel Khan was
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despatched against Ahivant with ten thousand horse-
men. Dilel Khan came and beseized Ravta Javta.
The garrison defended (it) well. Great fichting took
place. The fort did not fall into his hands. Moro
Pant Peswa sent twelve thousand Mawles to succour
(the garrison). They went (and) made a sudden
altack. TIn this way (they) frightened (the enemy).
Ramaji Pangera, a Hazari of the militia, with one
thousand men, encountered Dilel Khan helow Kanyera-
gad. Deeming a thousand men (a) small (force),
Dilel Khan came upon them with his army. Ramaji
Fangera made a selection from among his men; and
as he selected—Dbidding those (alone) to remain who
would be his companions in a desperate struggle—
seven hundred men stood (there with him). They
offered a desperate battle. The forces of Dilel Khan
dismounted (and) came on (them). (They) surrounded
the Mawles on four sides For a prahar, as sticks
beat (on drums) quick and noisily on the Simga day,
the Mawles fought. Twelve hundred of Dilel Khan’s
Pathans were laid low. Then the seven hun-
dred men and Ramaji Pangera, throwing off their
turbans and upper garments (Sy®THIEHT), and each
(of them) getting twenty to thirty wounds from
arrows or spears, [74] died. A great battle was
foilght. Then Dilel Khan wondered for one ghatka
with his finger in mouth.

After that, Nawab Ikhlas Khan came and laid
siege to Salheri, and dismounted below the fort. As
the Raje learnt this news, he sent letters and Jasuds
to Pratap Rav Sarnobat, whom he had sent into the
Mughal dominions with an army, [with the message]



LIFE OF SIVA CHHATRAPATI 103

“Go quickly with your army by (the) Warghat road
to Salheri make a sudden attack on Bahlol Khan,
and drive Bahlol Khan away. And Moro Pant
Peswa has been sent for from Konkan with the militia
(hasams). He will come from this side and you are
to come over the Ghats (by the Warghat road).
Thus coming from two sides, attack the enemy and
(utterly) rout (them).” To this effect were letters
written. Thereupon Pratap Rav came with his
army by the Warghat road. Moro Pant Peswa
came from Konkap. Both of them reached Silher.
From one side the cavalry charged on their horses,
from another side the Mawles rushed in. And they
fought. A great battle took place. For four prakars
of the day the fighting lasted. Mughals, Pathans,
Rajputs and Rohilas fought with artillery—
swivels carried on elephant and camel.™ As the
fighting began, such a (cloud of) dust arose that for
a spﬁcé of three cosszs square, friend and foe could
not be distinguished. Elephants were killed. Ten
thousand men on the two sides became corpses, The
horses, camels, elephants (killed) were beyond count-
ing. A flood of blood streamed (in the battleﬁeld).
The blood formed a. muddy pool and in it (people)
began to sink, so (deep) was the mud. As the
slaughter was carried on, not a living horse remained.
The horses that were captured alive, numbered six
thousand (when delivered) to the Raje. One hundred
and twenty-five elephants were taken. Six thousand

1368 For a learned account of the Mughal artillery see Trvine. The Army of
the Indian Mughals, pp. 121.122, and for a discnssion about the meaning of
the word Arabah, see ibid, pp. 141-142,
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camels were captured. Goods, treasures, gold and
jewels, clothes and carpets (famwew anything
spread for sitting on) to sit on, beyond calculation
came into (his) hands.

Twenty-two wazirs of note were taken prisoner.
Tkhlas Khan and Bahlol ' Khan themselves were cap-
tured. In this manner was the whole subha destroy-
ed. One or two thousand (soldiers) escaped, each
man alone. Such was the battle (that took place).
In that battle Pratap Rav Sarpobef, and Ananda
Rav, and Vyankoji Datto, and Rupaji Bhonsle, and
Surya Rav Kankde, Sidoji [75] Nimbalkar and
Khandoji Jagtap, and Gondji Jagtip, and Santaji
Jagtap, and Manaji More, and Visaji Ballal, Moro
Nagnath, and Mukunda Ballal, other wazirs and
omraos of less note, exerted themselves hard. Simi-
larly did the Mawle soldiers and Sarddrs toil hard.
The commanders Moro Pant Peswa and Pratap Rav
Sarnobat, both (distinguished themselves) by personal
valour. And during the battle, Surya Rav Kankde,
a .Panchhazari of the army, a great warrior, fought
with great valour. At that time, he fell struck by
a cannon hall. Surya Rav was not an ordinary
soldier. As Karna was a (great) warrior in the
Bharat (so) was he his (veritable) image ; such a
hero'¥ fell. Other heroes of note also fell, victory
was won after such fighting.

Pratap Rav and Moro Pant Peswa wrote letters
and sent Jasuds (and) this news (was transmitted)
to the Raje. The Raje was very pleased to hear the

137 Bury&ji was one of Sivﬁji"s earliest adherents.
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news. Cannon boomed (and) sugar was distributed.
Gold wristlets were put on the arms of the mes-
senger, who had brought the news; and immense
wealth was given to Partap Rav Seruobat, and Moro
Pant Peswd, Anand Rav, (and) Vyankoji Pant, in
reward. Rewards were also given to the Hazari
and the Panchhazari officers of the army, (and) the
Mawles. Orders were sent, that wazirs of renown,
who had been captured should be dismissed with
clothes and horses. Thereupon the Peswa and the
Sarpobat and Sardars were pleased. Bahlol Khan
and the Nawab and wazirs who had been taken
prisoners were dismissed with horses and robes.
Dilel Khan was (at a distance of) four marches from
Salheri. On hearing this news, he fled back.

The Badshah at Delhi felt much distressed on
learning this news. For three days he did not come
out. For three days he did not come to the Hall of
Public Audience [76]. So sad washe. “ It seems God
has taken away the Badshahi from the Musalmans
(and) conferred it on Sivaji. It will be well now if
my death will occur before (that of) Sivaji. Now
the thought of Sivaji does not agree with my life.”
So he said. Then Bahadur Koka, the Emperor’s
foster brother ' came (and) consoled him (in the
following manner) “ Reign at Delhi at ease. I shall
march against Sivaji. I will reduce him to the state
that he ought to be in. I shall so arrange that his
forces may not comc to the Badshahi dominions. I
shall reduce him by various artifices. The Badshah

138 Khudda Bhau ig a misprint for Dud Bhas which meaus foster brother,
P'rof. Sarkar tells me that Kokd wmeans the sume thiug in Turkish,

14
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should not be anxious.” After consoling in this
manner (he) brought the Badshah (out) (and) seated
him on the throne. .

(The Emperor) exalted Babadur Khan, gave (him)
clothes and ornaments, a locket from his own neck,
a jewelled crest (kalgi) for (the turban of) his head,
two elephants and horses, jagir and promotion of
rank, and sent with him seventy thousand horsemen.
Dilel Khan was ordered to act as the leader of his
van. Such a (mighty) force was despatched to the
south against the Raje. They proceeded stage
by stage from Delhi. This news came to the Raje
from Delhi. 'The Raje observed, ‘* Bahadur Khan is
a bribe-taker (E‘éﬁ'gﬁ'—a calf fed on and fattened
by oilcakes). What (do I) care about him > He
will take two years to come to my dominions.” So
(he) remarked.

Then Annaji Datto Surnis by bidding Malsavant,
a Hazari of the Mawles (to his assistance), capturad
by assault the fort of Panhala, that belonged to
the Adilsahi and took such forts as Satara, Chandan,
Vandan, Nandgiri (and) Parli [77] 'The Raje set
out in person from Rayri, to inspect the forts and
the provinces. No sooner did he come than the
fort of Wai was taken. Similarly the fort of
Karhad was captured. The forts of Sirwal (and)
Kolhapur were taken. Territories were annexed
as far as Hukerl and Raybag. The kingdom was
extended on four sides. How to carry on the
governance of the kingdom? Then in Moro Pant
Peswa’s charge were placed the country from Kalyan
and Bhivand! including Kolawan up to Salheri, the
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country above the Ghats and Konkan, Lohgad
and Junnar with the twelve Mawals from the pass of
Haralya (were placed) under the Pegwa. Konkan from
Chaul to Kopal (including) Dabhol, Rajapur Kudsl,
Bande and Phond, was placed under Annaji Datto.
The Warghat (country above the Ghats) from Wai to
Kopal on the Tungabhadra (was) the province placed
under Dattaji Pant Faknis. Dattajl Pant was
stationed at Panhala. In this manner was the king-
dom placed under three Serkarkuns. Besides these
a few (five to seven) Brahman Subkedars were
stationed in the Mughal provinces. They were
(kept) under the orders of the Peswa. The Sarkar-
kuns were to enquire into the needs and welfare of
the forts aud strongholds. But what Killedar and
Karkuns were to be appointed, the Raje himself
should appoint after personal scrutiny. [78] If the
Surkarkuns found any serviceable soldier they should
enlist him in excess of the fixed number of the
quota (fuinat). Arrangement of this nature was
made. The agents of the Serkarkuns should remain
with the Raje. The Sarkarkuns should come to see
the Raje (once?) every year with the accounts
and the revenue of their provinces. (He) went on
carrying the administration according to these regula-
tions. '

Then Abdul Karim Bahlol Khan came that way,
with twelve thousand horsemen from Bijapur.
Learning the news, that he was moving in that
direction, the Raje summoued Pratap Rav with the
whole army and ordered him—(as follows) * Bahlol
Khan of Bijapur has been stirring too much. Attack
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him and win victory.” Exhorting (them) to this
effect, (he) sent the army against the Nawab.
They went (and) encountered the Nawab at
Umbrani. The Raje’s forces surrounded him on
four sides (and) made him halt. He had no access
to water, so hemmed round was he. Great fighting
also took place. In the meantime the sun set. Then
the Nawab made a desperate effort, made his way to
the water (and) drank it. After that he secretly
informed Pratap Rav— “I donot come against you
(of my own initiative), I came at the orders of the
Badshah. Henceforth I am yours. I shall not ever
commit hostility against the Raje.”—He sent some
friendly message like this, and made peace. Then
the Raje’s forces went away. On learning this news
the Raje urged the forces and disgraced (Pratap
Rav) asking “Why peace has been concluded ?” So
angry had he become. Then Pratap Rav came back
with the army after plundering in the Mughal
dominions,”™ the province of Bhaganagar, Devg'r.d,
Ramgiri ‘and) other places. Then Nilo Sondev
Majumdar, who was in the service of the Raje,
suddenly died. It was decided that his office of
Majumdarship should be conferred on his son. But
the eldest son Naro Pant was not at all intelligent.
Ramchandra Pant, the younger son, was intelligent.
The Raje had great affection (for him) and hoped
(that, as) he was very intelligent, fortunate (and)
lucky, he would be (a) hundreds of thousand times
greater (man) than his father. On these grounds,

13 The word Mughal here is used in a comprehensive secnee for
Mahomedans, for Bhaganagar or Golconda was still an independent state,
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the Majumdarship was only (nominally) conferred
on Naro Pant (and) the office was continued (in the
family).

Thereafter the Badshiah again sent Bahlol Khan
from Bijapur against the province of Panhala. [79]
He came to the above province. Thereupon the
Raje learnt that Bahlol Khin had again come. Then
the Raje commented—‘* He comes again and again.”
Therefore he again sent (a message) to Pratap Rav—
“Bahlol Khan is coming, you arc to go with the
army, encounter (and) rout him, (and) win victory.
Otherwise do not show your face (to me again).” Such
was the peremptory verbal message that (he) sent to
Pratap Rav. Thereupon Pratap Rav went and
encountered Bahlol Khan. The Nawab had come to
Jesri. (Pratap Rav) encountered him. A great
battle was fought. The fates being contrary, Pratap
Rav Sarnobat was killed by a sword-cut. Many fell
in the battle. A river of blood flowed. Thereafter
Bahlol Khan went to Bijapur. And the Raje’s forces
came back to Panhala.

- The Raje was greatly distressed on hearing the
news that Pratap Rav had fallen, and said,—* To-day
I have lost a limb. I had written to Pratap Rav
not to show his face without winning victory. He
has extorted applause by acting accordingly. How
should the army be regulated now? Whom to
appoint Sarpobat? After making such enquiries, he
came in person to the army, went with the forces to
Chiplun, in Konkan, a place sacred to the god
Parasuram, (and) remained there. "Then after
reviewing the army, (he) opemed the treasury and ]
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distributed the money among the horsemen,'* great
and small and men of the infantry. And looking for a
man for Sarnobatship, (he) (lighted on) one Hasaji
Mohite, who was a .Jumledar of the-cavalry (awar).
Finding him (to be) a very intelligent, brave, patient,
and cautious soldier, (and) a great swordsman,
(the Raje) conferred on him the title of Hambir Rav
(and) appointed him Sariobat. The whole of the
army was then assembled and placed under Hambir
Rav. And he was despatched with the army to
Warghat.

(80) Then, Sahaji Raje died. His youngest son was
VyankajiRaje. On him did the Badshah of Bijapur
confer his Jagir. Naro Dikshit, who was the sole
Karbhari of the Mabaraja (Sahaji) died. Of him (were
born) Raghunath Narayan and Janardan Narayan;
these two brothers were skilled in all (branches of)
learning, good diplomatists, sagacious, shrewd and
intelligent. They and Vyankaji Raje did not agree
well. Then the two brothers, [leaving him] came to
the Raje. Raghunath Pant and Janardan Pant and
Balkrshna their cousin, and Balkrshna Pant’s son
Kamlaji Pant, Gangadhar Pant a sensible fellow
born of Janardan Pant, these five, with their house-
hold, horses and elephants, (and) similar belongings,
and women, came to the Raje. As soon as (he) learnt
this news, the Raje went forward and received them.-
The Sarkarkuns also went to receive them (and)
brought them with honour. An allowance of forty

140 The word @& here, T think means cavalry and has not been unsed
in the ordinary sense of an army, as it has been used in contradistinction to

949%™ infantry.
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thousand Hons per year, was granted to them all,
horses included, an assignment on the revenue
was made for their pay, a chief place of honour
among the Sarkarkuns was accorded to them,
(and they were thus) entertained and maintained.

Hambir Rav went to Sampganv with the army.
(After a short time,) a Bijapur general Husain Khan
Miana, a Pathan of great eminence, (who was the
Commander of) tive thousand Pathan archers,lancers,
light armed men, * * * * similarly Bailes, musketeers
and artillerv—Husain Khan (who) was a Sardar of
the same rank as Nawab Bahlol Khan, came against
Hambir Rav. The Marathas were very bold, they gave
battle with the utmost valour. They * * ( 7qw® ?)
charged straight with their horses and fought.
(They) killed many of Husain Khan’s men and
slew horses, and brought down elephants (in battle).
A great and vehement battle raged from two
pmlg&rs" of day to four prakars of night. In six
prahars the whole army was routed. Husain Khan
himself was taken prisoner. Four thousand to forty-
five hundred horses were captured. Twelve camels
were taken. Similarly (they) seized camels and
other goods, sheets to sit on ( fagrey ), treasure and
clothes innumerable. Victory was won after great
fighting. Countless men fell on both sides in the
battle.

'[81] Then (they) wrote the news of the victory
(and) sent letters to the Raje through the Jasuds.
They went (and) delivered the information. There-
upon the Raje got much pleasure (and) felt delighted.
Husain Khan’s brother was at the fort of Kopal,
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Moro Pant led an expedition against him and cap-
tured- Kopal. Kopal was the gate of the South, a
place (fit) to be a seat of royalty. Such a fort was
captured. A place of great importance was acquired.
Kopal is on the banks of the Tungabhadra. (There-
fore) territories extending to the banks of the
Tungabhadra came into (the Raje’s) possession. Owing
to (the situation of) Kopal, (the Palegars of) Kanak-
giri, Harpanhalli, Raydurga, and Chitradurge, and
Vidyanagar, Bundi Kot (and) other Palegars sub-
mitted. Such (an important) work was accom-
plished.

Bahadur Khan with Dilel Khan, as the com-
mander of his van had previously come from Delhi
with (an) army and stopped at Ahmadnagar. When
he learnt this news, the Raje enquired about the
(condition of the) forts and strongholds, and strength-
ened (them). Then (he) secretly sent a spy (sig®)
with letters to Nawab Bahadur Khan, (with the
following instructions)— Enquire about his motives,
then do whatever will humour him ” '*—he did so.
And the Raje issued orders to his army, (and)
Hambir Rav Saripobat entered the Mughal domi-
nions with the forces. Khandesh, Baglan, Gujrat,
Ahmadabad, Burhanppur, Berar, Mahur and other
provinces, up to the banks of the Narmada, includ-
ing Jalnapur, were invaded and plundered ; contri-
bution was levied (on the people), (and their) property
was seized. (They) procceded after collecting an
immense booty. Then Bahadur Khan, with all his

Y41 It means tl}ub Biahddur Khidn wus bribed to connive at the raid.
~Prof, J. N. Sarkar.
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forces, marched after Hambir Rav. The Raje’s
army (when encountered), proved to be too powerful.
The Mughals overcome by too much dread, marched
at a distance of seven to eight ganvs. Dilel Khan
impetuously came up with the army. (But) Hambir
Rav took no notice of Dile] Khan and returned
(safely) to the home provinces with (the plundered)
goods. The booty was delivered to the Raje.

Then one Vedmurti'® Rajsri Gaga Bhat, drawn by
the Raje’s fame came to see him. 'The Bhat Gosavi
was a great scholar [82], well versed in the four
Vedas and six Sastras and well practised in the Yoga,
skilled in astrology, manfras, and all (branches of)
learnfng; he was the Brahma Dev of the Kali Age;
—such a learned man was he:-——the Raje and the
Sarkarkuns went forward to receive him, and bhrought
him with (all) honours. He was worshipped with
the ofterings of jeweclled ornamcents of many varielies,
palanquins, clephants, horses, and immense pro-
perty. Gaga Bhat'® was very much pleased. In the

142 Generally used before the names of learned Brahmans,

143 VidveSvar alins Gigi came of a learned family Uis father Dinkar,
had written no legs than twelve works, and hig uncle Kamldkar was the
another of a sciies of another twelvo, the most well known of which is
Nimayasindbu, 'Fhe following gencological table has been given by Mr. G, 8,
Sardesai in Marathi Riyasat, Vol. I, p. 355.

Govinda Bhatta,

Rameévar.

Nérdyan (author of Prayogaratna).
Ramkyshna.

Din‘kar Kumluldaks,r LaLshma!}.

l
Viévefivar alias Gags.
15 ‘
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opinion of the Bhat Gosavi, (as) the Musulman Bad-
shah reigned (seated) on a throne with an umbrella
(over his head), and Sivaji though he had subdued
four Badshahis, and possessed seventy-five thousand
cavalry, infantry, forts and strongholds, had no throne,
the Maratha Raja should (also) be the Lord of the
Umbrella (Chhatrapati); so he reasoned. And the
Raje also approved™ (of it). All the principal men
were summoned and when consulted gave their
approval. Then the Bhat Gosavi said, (that the Raje)
should be installed on a throne. Then an enquiry
being held about the Raja’s family, it was found that
the Raje was a Suddhakshatriya; a Sisodia family
had come from the north to the Dececan, that was the
Raja’s ancestral family. Having previously decided
that the sacred thread ceremony should be performed
as the Kshatriyas of the north assumed the sacred
thread, the Bhat Gosavi conferred the sacred thread
on the Raje at a holy place.'® (The Raja) was made
a Suddhakshatriya before (the coronation). Much
wealth was distributed in charity. TFifty thousand
Brahmans learned in the Vedas, were assembled from
the home provinces, as well as from foreign territories
and holy places of great sanctity. They were all made
to stay. Every day they were fed with sweets. Then
for the coronation a throne was made of thirty-two

14+ According to other chroniclers it was the Raja, who had either of his
own initiative, or at the suggestion of Balaji Avji, approached Gagh Bhat with
the proposal of coronation.

145 Tt should be noted that the Raje was above forty when he assumed
the sacred thread. Tt appears from an extract in the Peshwa’s Diaries that

the descendants of Sivaji had for sometime after the rise of the Pe§wis given
up the practice of wearing the gacred thread,
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maunds of gold. Jewels of great value were sought
from among the nine varieties of priceless jewels that
were in the treasury, and set in the throne. A throne
inlaid (with jewels) was prepared. Rayri was renamed
Raygad (and) that fort was selected as the seat of the
throne. It was decided (that the Raja) should ascend
the throne in the fort. Water from the seven holy
rivers, as well as from other big rivers, and sea water
and holy water from famous places of pilgrimage
were brought. Gold jars and gold basins were
made. Having so decided that the eight ministers
(Pradhans) should pour water over the Raja from
the eight jars and the eight basins, an auspicious
day was selected (and) an auspicious time ascertained.
A lucky moment was found on ‘the Suddha
Trayodasi day, in the mondh of Jyaistha in the
year 1596 of the Salivahan era. [83] On that day,
after performing the auspicious ablution (mangal-
snan), the Raje worshipped, Sri Mahadev and Sri
Bhavani his family gods, Balam Bhat the son of the
priest Prabhakar Bhat the family preceptor, the Bhat
Gosavi and other great Bhats and good ritualists
according to the prescribed forms, with ornaments
and clothes. After saluting (them) he sat on
a gold stool for the (ceremonial) ablution (wfit@a)
The eight Pradhans and great Brahmans poured over
him (holy) water of different places from gold jars
and vessels. (Then) dressed in resplendent clothes
and ornaments, he sat on the throne, after saluting
all his superiors. Many gold lotuses inlaid with
gems of nine varieties and various other gold
flowers and clothes were distributed in abundance.
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According to the prescribed forms of charity, sixteen
Mahadans*® (great forms of alms-giving) and other
charities were performed. The eight pillars of the
throne were studded with gems. By them were to
stand the eight Pradhans. Formerly in the Krtayuga,
Tretayuga, Dvapar and Kaliyugas, many kings of
holy memory had Dheen enthroned; all the Sastrik
rites performed on those occasions were celebrated
now. The eight Pradhins stood by the eight pillars.
Their names are as follows :—

1. Moro Pant son of Trimbak Pant, Peswa (or)
Mukhya Pradhan.

2. Naro Nilkanth and Ramchandra Nilkanth
Majumdar, their (new) designation (was)—dmatya.

3. Ravji was Pandit Rav, on his son (the title of)
Rayjiraj(?) (the office was conferred). '

4. Hambir Rav Mohite, Senapati.

5. Dattaji Trimbak 7"aknis, his (new) designa-
tion Manti.

6. Trimbakji Sondev Dabir’s son Ramchandra
Pant Sumant,

7. Annaji Pant Swruis, his (new) designation
Sachir.

8. To Niraji Ravji, (was glven the) Nyayda-
dhisship.

In this manner were sanskrit designations given.
The (eight Pradhans) were made to stand, at the

14¢  These are—(1) Tuldpurish, (2) Hiranya garbha, (3) Brahmmanda, (4)
Kalpa Brksha, (5) Gosahasra, (6) Hiranyakamadhenu, (7) K&wmdhenn, (8)
Hiranysva, (9) Hirnyadvaratha, (10) Panchlanglak, (11) Dhars, (12) Viéva.
chakra, (13) Kalpalata, (14) Saptasagar, (15) Ratnadhenu, (16) Mahabhfitghnt.

147 Another reading is—* The son of RaghunBth Panditriv was made
Papddhyksha or Grand Almoner,
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places assigned according to the designations given
to them.

[84]. They stood at their respective places. Bal
Prabhu Chifnis and Ni]l Prabhu Parsnis, also the
agents of the eight-Pradhans, and the officers of the
household as well as all respectable men, stood in
conformity with the rules in order (of their rank).
A gold umbrella inlaid with gems, having pearl
fringes, was held over (the Raja’s head). The style
of Chhatrapati was assumed. In all letters and
documents, the Rajyabhishek era preceded by the
phrase Swvastisri, was always used from the day he
ascended the throne. Fifty thousand Brahmans
learned in the Vedas had assembled. Besides them
had assembled many Zaponidkis, and holymen,
Sanyasis, guests, Manbhavs's, Jatadharis, Jogis,
and Jangams of various denominations. For four
months they were given unhusked corn and sweets ;
when disnrissed, money, ornaments, and clothes in
abundance were presented to every one according
to his merit. To Gaga Bhit (who had officiated as)
the chief priest was given immense wealth. The
total expenditure amounted to one kror and
forty-two lakks of Hons. To every one of the eight
Pradhans, was given a reward of one lakh of Hons,
and a gift of one elephant, one horse and robes
besides that (the money reward). In this manner
was the Raje installed on the throne. In this age
the Mleccha Badshahs (rule) all over the world. Only

148 The ManbhAvs were an order of mendicants, who dressed themselves
in black and had community of women. They were very severely persecuted
under the Pefwi regime,
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this Maratha Badshah became Lord of the Umbrella
(Chhatrapati). This affair, that came to pass, was
not, one of little importance.

Bahadur Khan Aoka learnt this news. He then
came and encamped at Pedganv on the Bhima. And
(he) wrote this news of the coronation to the Badshah
at Delhi. As he learnt this, the Badshah descended
from his throne and retired to the harem. He
struck both his hands on the earth and lamented
much, repeating the name of his god, -— “Khuda
has taken away the Musaiman’s Badshahi,
destroyed (our) throne, and conferred it on the
Maratha. It has reached the climax now.”
In this strain he lamented much and cherished a
mountain of sorrow. Then the principal ministers
consoled him in various manners, and by various
promises made him sit on the throne. Similarly,
when the Badshahs of Bijapur and Bhaganagar and
all others heard this, they became distressed [85].
The Badshahs of Constantinople (Rum), Syria,
(Sham), Persia (Iran), and Turkestan (Turdn) and of
the Sea began to lament in their minds, when they
learnt this news. (They) lamentied and felt afraid.
Events of this nature took place. ’

Then the Raje (duly) installed on his throne,
ruled his kingdom. He conquered the Nizam$ghi
provinees and seized the Mughal territories. The
Badshah of Bhaganagar (Golkonda) concluded a
treaty with the Raje, accepted Prahlad Pant, son of
Niraji Pant, a highly intelligent man, as envoy (at
his court), and secured, the friendship of the Raje
by paying a tribute. There were other insignificant
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principalities, these werc annexed. Some prin-
cipalities paid tribute and hecame dependeht.

The Raje entertained in his heart the desire of
conquering the Karnatak from the Tungabhadra
valley, to the Kaveri. It would cause delay, if the
army was sent for the conquest ; so the Raje decided
to go in person. But Bahadur Khan, (was) at
Pedganv, and the cnemy might fall upon his rear,
Niraji Pant the Nyayadhis was therefore sent (to
him). Some presents and gem-studded ornaments
were sent. Secret amity was made with him
(Bahadur), “It will take usa year to conquer the
Karnatak. Do not commit any disturbance to (our)
kingdom (during that period).” So was he
(Bahadur) told, and he was kept (inactive) at his
station. And for accompanying him to Karnatak the
Raje selected from the Royal Cavalry (Paga)
regiments, (that had in all) twenty five thousand
horsemen, and he took with him the Sarkarkuns
Raghunath Narayan and Janardan Narayan, who had
local knowledge of Karnatak. The rest (of the Sarkar-
Icuna), the Peswa and the Suranis and the Paknis and
the rest of the forces were kept for the defence of
the kingdom. And the Raje thought (that) “Money
will be required foi conquering the Karnatak; the
cash (accumulated) in the treasury should not he
spent for that (purpose). The extra (money) should
he procured from new sources and the province
should be conquered by spending it.”” While making
such considerations, (he thought that) there was
an abundance of wealth in the Badshahi of Bhaga- -
nagar. Money could be procured by violence
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from there; but the Sultan of Bhaganagar used to
pay a tribute annually. Cruelty should not be
* committed there An interview with him (Sultan)
should be obtained by friendly means. After
the interview he would give every friendly help.
'86] Having deliberated in this manner, the
Raje decided to have the interview arranged, by
writing about it to Prahlad Pant who was his envoy
at Bhaganagar. Tana Shah, the Badshah of Bhaga-
nagar, entertained in his mind a strong suspicion,—
« As Afzal Khan was destroyed, or Saista Khan was
ruined, or as the Raja had exhibited his valour to
the Badshah Alamgir after going to Delhi, what
should be done if he similarly commits some mis-
chief? (T) should have no interview with the Raje,
I shall give him whatever he demands.”—So
said (the Shah) Then Prahlad Pant by taking many
oaths and (offerinz to undergo) many ordeals (famar)
assured the Badshah, and (his) Aarbharis Akanna
Pant and Madanna Pant, that there was no evil
(intention,) that the Raje would go away after a friend-
ly visit. To this effect was a friendly agreement made
with the Rdaje. Then with the aim that the two
should meet, the Raje procecded to Bhaganagar,
marching stage by stage with his army. A strict
warning was issued after (he) had entered the
Bhaganagar territory. The Raje ordered that the
Rayats should not be given the least trouble.
He intimidated (intending offenders) by beheading
some (miscreants) and (when he) arrived at the
halting places hc procured everything by peaceful
purchase there (and then) went forward. There
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was no plunder. As he proceeded in this manner,
the Badshah became very pleased as he *learnt the
news (of his strict discipline). The Badshah intended
to come forward to a distance of two to four ganvs
(to receive him). (But) the Raje was a highly cour-
tcous man; he sent the following verbal message
with assurances of oaths—*“ You should not come.
You are (my) elder brother, I am (your) younger
brother. You should not come forward.” The
Badshalr was very pleased at the Raje’s sending such
a verbal message. And Madanna Pant and Akanna
Pant, the virtual'® (?) sovereigns and the real masters
of the whole Badshai, these two, came forward,
received the Raje and conducted him to the city.
The Raje had formerly furnished his army with
rich gold embroidered accoutrements. He cntered
the city at an auspicious moment to see the
Badshah. 'The Badshah had adorned the whole city.
Streets” and lanes were all around coloured with a
thin layer of kunkum powder and saffron. Festive
poles and triumphal arches were erected and flags
and standards hoisted in the city. Krors of citizens
stood (by the roads) to have a look at the Raje.
The ladies welcomed him by waving innumerable
lamps round him. Gold and silver flowers [87] were
showered upon the Raje. The Raje distributed
much wealth beyond measure and countless dresses
among the people in charity and reached the Dad
Mahal with all his forces. He sent the following
verbal message, confirmed by oaths to the Badshah ;—
“ Do not come down stairs—I am going (to you) in

140 gwal, IR, Wazirs P
16
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person.” The Badshah remained in the palace.
The Rﬁjé made the men of his army gird their waist,
and sit dgwn below the palace, and (he) proceeded
up -the stairs, The Raje himself and Janardan
Narayap and Prahlid Pant and Sonaji Naik the
Royal Door Keeper and Babaji Dhandhere, these
five aloie ascended (the stairs) and entered the
palace. The Badshah came forward and gave
(the Raja) » friendly embrace. The two sat on the
same seat. Madanna Pant, and Akanna Pant and
Janardan Pant, Prahlad Pant, Sonaji Naik (the Royal
Door Keeper) and Bibaji Dhandhere, these were
(present). 'The Badshah and the Raje and Madanna
Pant these three sat down, the rest remained stand
ing. There was very great affection between the
two, (and they) had a conversation. The ladies of
the Badshah’s harem looked at the Raje through the
latticed window and were much astonished. The
Badshah was highly pleased, for three houxs he
listened to the stories of the Raje’s heroism. Then
he presented some ornaments set with jewels, robes,
horses, and elephants to the Raje and to all his men,
(and) dismissed them. The Raje and the Badshah
descended from the palace, and the Raje went to
his quarters.

Raghunath Pant and Hambir Rav and -other
Sardars had been left below the palace. Taking them
in his company, the Raje came to his place. On
his way back he (again) distributed alms among the
citizens.  After the Raje had left, the Badshah was
convinced that he was honest, and had protected
him (the Badshah), (and the Raje) had respected
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his oath. Wondeliing in this manner, the Badshah
gave some rewards to Prahlid Pant (saying),* You
are honest.” Saying so and exalting (jim) the
Badshah sent Prahlad Pant to the Raje. The next
day Madanna Pant_took the Rije to his house to he
his guest. And getting the dishes prepared by their
Lady Mother, [88] Madanna Pant and Akanna Pant
sat near the Raje and (saw) him fceding. All other
men of the Raje’s party were also fed, and after
presenting (to the Raje and his party) ornaments,
robes, elephants and horses, (Madannd and Akanni)
conducted them to their place. The Badshah sum-
moned Madanna Pant and (the two) settled that
“ The Raje should be given whatever he wanted, he
should be pleased (in that manner and then) sent
away.” Having come to this decision, (they) selected
an auspicious moment (and) again brought the Raje
for a second interview and gave him innumerable
jeweis, ornaments inlaid with gems, elephants, and
horses. Then the two Ohkkatrapatis sat on the (ter-
race) of the palace and received the obeisance of
all the Serkarkuns and Hambir Rav and other
military officers, and ornaments, robes, elephants, and
horses were presented to them all, each individually
according to hi8 valour and fame. And the Badshah
said, “You should help me on every occasion.”
After, confirming (the alliance) in this manner, and
taking oaths in the Raje’s favour, (the Badshah)
gave him leave. “1I shall regularly pay the stipu-
lated tribute every year, and you should keep in our
connection, Prahlad Pant always with me.” 8o, sug-
gested the Badshah. The Raje returned to his place,
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After this the principal officers of Bhaganagar
entectained the Raje as (their) guest. In this
manner he spent 1 month at Bhaganagar. With the
treasures and provisions of that place he led his
army towards Jinji. Then he went to Sr1 Sailya.
He bathed in the Nilganga and saw the god (of the
place). The rites of the holy place were performed.
The RAje was highly pleased with this sacred place,
it seemad to be a second Kailas to him. He felt
disposed to offer his body to the god there and to
sacrifice his head. At that time Sri Bhavani took
possession of his body aund said,—*“Thy salvation
does not lie in such things. Do not commit this
act. There arc many duties to be performed by thy
hands in the future.” So saying the Sri departed.
When the Raje regained consciousncss the Karkuns
delivered the message. Then the idea of sacrificing
his head to the god was kept in abevance.

Then Jinji was besieged with a view to the-con-
quest of the Karnatak. Rauf Khan and Nasir
[Mubammad] Khan, [89] sons of Khankhanan, the
wazir of Bijapur, (these two) were at Jinji; they
weré by diplomacy given au assurance of safety
and induced to come out, and the place was taken.
Sher Khan, a wazir of Bijapur, was with five thousand
horse at a place called Trimal (Trinomali?). The
Pathan was an (officer) of eminence, he had
elephants and immense military stores. Sher Khan
marched upon the Raje. (The Raje) fought and
destroyed him. Sher Khan was captured alive. Five
thousand horses and twelve elephants were taken.
Money and jewels came into the Raje’s possession
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heyond caleulation. A great battle - was fought.
Trimal Mahil was conquered after such performances.

Then Rajsri Vyankaji Raje, Raje’s younger
brother, who had taken possession of theakingdom
of Tanjore and was raling there, cAme to see the
Raje accompanied by his Karkuns. The brother
met the brother. Kakaji Pant Pedwa, likoji Raja’s'™®
Narkun, and Konher Mabadev Mujumdar, saw (the
Raje). Jagannath Pant, son of Vyankaji Datto, the
whole army and Bhimji Raje and Pratapji Raje, sons
of the. Maharaja’s (Sahajis) concubines, also came
to the interview. Great rejoicings took place. The
two brothers entertained each other as guests,
and they both made immense presents. For eight
days they were together. Then the Raje said to
Vyankaji Raje—*The Maharaja was our common
father. I took leave of him, went towards Puna
and conquered so big a kingdom. I have established

my fame. However, our father’s twelve birandes™

-

are in your possession and you are enjoying them. I
am, however, his eldest son and a hero, I have dis-
played greater heroism than you. You should give

130 Another name of Vyankaji, iy,

‘41 SBanskrit Lecruda moans title. The word scems to have b«;en nsed in
old Hindi also in the same sense cf. Bhushm)-—Siva-Rﬁj-Bhus}mn-—" Liyobirad
s150did diyo ivko yis.”—In old M&rithi we came ncross such phrases as Aneka.
biridankita, Mah@mahantd (see Sanads and Letters od by Parasnis and Mawji,
Sanad No. 16).

But birande here certainly means gomething moro than mere titles

According to Moleswarth it meant bndges of honour. The Tanjore Temple

inscriptions, however, mentious Horse hirunde, Elephant birunde and other
birundes which conferred upon their owners the right and priy:ﬂege of putting
certain ornaments ou their Lorse and elephants, etc. These have been
described at some length in the Tanjore Temple inscri

Ption pablished by
Mr. V, K. Rajwade in the now defunct Prabhat,
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me only the twelve birandes of my father you
have, and I shall display them. Of course I can have
new ones, but I am demanding these, as I should
have what was earned by my father.” Thereupon
Vyankaji held a ditferent opinion and did not yield
(what was demanded). Then Ekoji Raja’s Karkuns
and Karbharis roused fear in his mind, (telling him)
that the Raje would have an altercation with him
and take the birandes by force [90]. (They) told
him so, roused fear (in his mind), and at night Vyan-
kaji Raja fled with the birandes to Tanjore.

Then the next day the Raje learnt the news that
Vyankaji Raja had fled. Thereupon he wondered
(saying), * Why has he fled ¥ Was 1 going to imprison
him ? What should I do with the bdirandes? My
own birandes have spread over the eight directions.
Over the seagirt earth my fame has spread, what
then should T do with those birendes. I had asked
for them, as one should have his patrimony. oIf
he did not like to part with them, he was at liberty
not to give them. Why did he flee for nothing?
He is young, very young, and he has acted like a
child.” So observed the Raje. Then Vyankaji's
Karkuns and Sardars, who had been fleeing, fell into
the hands of the Raje’s men. They arrested and
brought them to the Raje. Then (the Raje) gave
robes, ornaments and horses to them all, and sent
them to his hrother to Tanjore. There was one
Santaji Raje a son of the Maharaja (Sahaji) by a
concubine. He was a hero of (great) valour, He
came to see the Raje. The interview took place.
The Raje conferred on him (the command of) one
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thousand horse in the Karnatak. Rent-frec villages
were given to him. He was dismissed with a pre-
sent of elephants, horses and robes. There was
an Adiléahi (military) outpost at Vellore. That
fort was so strong, that there was not another like
it on the earth. Round the fort was a ditch of
flowing water. The water was bottomless (so deep
was the ditch). In that water lived ter; thousands
alligators. T'wo carts could be driven side by side,
over the rampart of the fort, so strong was it. The
rampart had four circuits onc after (within) another.
The fort was of this nature. The Raje captured the
fort by besieging it. Other forts and strongholds
also were taken at different places. Some new forts
were built. One hundred such new forts were
constructed in that province. The Raje conquered
a kingdom yielding twenty lekhs of Hons. Jinji was
like Bijapur and Bhaganagar, a metropolitan city
(the seat of a throne). The Raje ought to have re-
mained there. But there was a vast kingdom on this
side also. It was necessary to preserve that (king-
dom). Therefore the Brahman Raghunath Narayan
was appointed Majumdar of the entire kingdom,
[91] and he was posted at Jinji, with that province
under his charge. As he wanted an army for the
time being, Hambir Rav, the Commander-in-Chief,
was stationed (there) with his army. And the
Raje sct off from Jinji with the two generals Anand
Rdav  and Manaji More and (their) regiments,
He. ascended the G'hdfs and reached :above. The
forts of Kolhar and Balapur were captured. The
country was conquered. Some forts were built.
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Turbulent Palegars were destroyed and reduced to
dust. That province also was placed under Raghu-
nath Pant. General Maudji More was with his
army stationed in the province of Kbolhar. The
Raje went to Kopal, accompanied by Anand Rav.
Theuce he went to Lakshmesvar.  Thence he march-
ed by stages to the province of Sampginv. There
was a fort callel Belvadi.® There (ruled) a woman
Desain. She carried oft the transport bullocks of
the Raje’s army. The Raje learnt this news and
laid siege to Belvadi, captured the fort, ( and ) arrest-
ed the Desiin. She was punished. Then he returned
to Panhala and made an enquiry about the state
of the kingdom. Then cvery body learnt that the
Raje was come. Thereupon Niraji Pant, who had
been stationed with Bahadur Khan, also came to
see (the Raje). And the Khan alvo sent jewels
and robes for the Raje.

Then Vyankaji Raje, learning ( the news )that
Hambir Rav with the army and Raghunath Narayan
had been stationed in the Karnatak, mustered his
own forces and those of the Palegars and marched
against Hambir Rav. At that time, Vyaukaji Raje
had innumerable cavalry, infantry and militia, four
times as strong as these under Hambir Rav. Then
a battle between Vyankaji Raje and Hambir Rav
took place. But the influence of the Raje’s ( Sivaji’s) .
virtue was more potent, and (his) fortune was (still)

152 Grant Duff wrongly identifies it with Bellary. the chief town of a
Madras district. Belvili is & small village about 10 miles from Sa,mi)ganv,“
The name of this brave lady was Bsiaswati Bai and she was a Prabhu by
caste. (J. N. Barkar.)
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in the ascendant; Hambir Rav routed Vyankaji
Raje’s army. A great battle was fought. Many
fell in fighting. And four thousand of Vyankaji
Raje’s horses were taken. And elephants, jewels,
minor chiefs, Bhimji Raje and Pratapji Raje besides
[92 ] other men of note were captured. Such a
victory was won. Fame was won. And the cap-
tured officers were released with robes of honour.
Then Raghunath Pant and Hambir Rav marched
towards Tanjore. Then Vyankaji Raje was prepared
to restore friendship through the mediation of some
courtiers. Then Raghunath Pant and Hambir Rav
sent a messenger with letters to the Raje. Then
the Raje on being apprised of the news, sent a reply
to them (two),—“Vyankaji Raje is my younger
brother. He has acted like a child. But still he is
my brother. protect him. Do not ruin his king-
dom..” When such an answer came, the two con-
cluded peace with Vyankaji Raje. And they took
immense money [ indemnity ]. Then Raghunath
Pant dismissed HHambir Rav with the army, and sent
them to the Raje. And Raghunath Pant himself,
on that side, raised an army of ten thousand horse,
Paga and Silédar, in the Karnatak, and lived there
(and ) maintained the kingdom.

An interview took place between Hambir Rav
and the Raje. Many were applauded and given
rewards. Then the Raje himself besiezed Jalnapir in
the Mughal territories, with the whole of his army.
The suburh was raided. 'The town was plundered to
destruction. Immense wealth, gold and silver, jewels
and clothes, horses, elephants and camels were

17
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plundered. Ranmast Khan came with the Mughal
army. A battle was fought. Five thousand soldiers of
Sidoji Nimbalkar Raje fought for three days. He took
Ranmast Khan a prisoner. His (Ranmast Khan’s)
army was about to be ruined, when Kesar Sing, Sardar
Khan, and other nobles, came to his assistance with
twenty thousand soldiers and halted three cosses
off. Then Kesar Sing sent a secret message (to the
Raje) saying, ¢ There are brotherly relations between
the two parties. You should march away, before
we encounter you.” As soon as he got this informa-
tion, the Raje started thence. [93]. It was decided
that the army should go by the Jadgiri route. At
that time Bahirji Jasud offered (to act as guide)
saying—*1I shall conduct the army to a safe place
avoiding any meeting with the Mughals. Your
Majesty should not be anxious.” After a watchful
exertion of three nights, without taking any rest dur-
ing day or night, (he) brought the army to Pavgad.™™
The Raje was pleased with Bahirj1 Natk. The
balance of Government money due from him was
written off and some additional rewards were given
to him. The Raje came at his leisure to Purandar
with his army.

In the meantime Sambhaji Raje, the Raje’s
eldest son, took offence with him, and went over to
the Mughal dominions and met Dilel Khan there.
He (Dilel Kban) maintained him with great honour,
Dilel Khan wrote to the Badshah at Delhi,—¢ The
Raje’s son, Sambhaji Raje, being angry with his

182 Another variant is Patt8gad which name is given in the English
Records.
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father, has come to me. I have entertained him with
great honour. If the Badshah should graciously
exalt him there will be two parties in (Sivajr's) king-
dom, The soldiers of the kingdom (of Sivaji,) will
voluntarily desert (to us), and will capture his forts
and strongholds.” So he wrote. Thereupon the
Badshah thought, “ The Raje’s son has come (to us),
if he is exalted, he will create a rebellion in my
dominions and ruin the empire. So, he should not
be exalted.” So arguing he wrote and sent an
order to Dilel Khan,—* Come with Sambhaji Raje
to the presence.” 8o he wrote. But the Khan’s
agent at the Badshah’s court wrote this news to him
before (the Badshahi order reached the Khan).
As soon as the Khan learnt this news, he made
Sambhaji escape by throwing out some hints.”* He
fled and came back to Panhala. The Raje felt
pleased when he learnt this news at Purandar [94]
and came to see his son at Panhala. Father and son
met together. Much rejoicing took place. Then
the Raje said,—* My boy do not leave me. There
is enmity between us and Aurangzib. He intended
to commit treachery against thee. But the Sri has
kindly rescued thee and brought thee safely back.
A great deed has been done. Now, thou, my eldest
son, hast grown big, and I have learnt that it is in

164 Acoording to & Persian account also, Dilel Khén had connived at
Sambhaji's flight. “ Sewajee's messengers were allowed communication with
Sambah, who now made his escape with only eleven attendants; so that
it must have happened by the connivance of Dilel Khan, who made no
enquiries or example among the guards who watched his person.”—Scott's
Forishta, Vol. I, p 68. .
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thy mind that thou shoudst have a scparate kingdom.
This is also to my interest. I shall give thee a
kingdom then. T have two sons. Thou Sambhaji
art one; and Rajaram is the second. So I shall
divide all my kingdom into two. The kingdom of
Jinji—stretching from the Tungabhadra to the Kaveri
—is one kingdom. The second is a kingdom on the
other side of the Tungabhadra extending up to the
river Godavari. Such are the two kingdoms (I have).
Thou art my eldest son, I confer on thee the kingdom
of the Karnatak ; the kingdom on this side I give
to Rajaram. You two sons, should rule over these
two kingdoms. T shall (henceforth) meditate upon
the Sri, (and thus) secure my future welfare.” So
he said. Then Sambhaji Raje replied,—* My fortune
lies at the feet of Your Majesty. T will live on
milk and rice (at peace) and meditate on your feet.”
So answered Sambhaji, and the Raje was greatly
pleased. Then the father and the son ~at together,
and reviewed the affairs of the whole of their state.
What was the extent of the Karnatak? And what
was the total revenue? How many departments
were there? And who were the clerks and the
Sarkarkuns 9 How many soldiers, state cavalry and
Siledars were there ? Who were their officers?
Where and how many were the forts ¥ What militia
was there? How many marine forts and sea-going
vessels (had the Raje)? An account was made of
each item. The list is as follows. The following
is the list of the eighteen departments, villages and
territories, that he enumerated, drawn up item by
item.—
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THE EIGHTEEN DEPARTMENTS.

Khajina

Jawhahirkhana

Ambarkhana
Sarbatkhana
Tophkhana
Daftarkhana
Jamdarkhana
Jiratkhana
Mutbakkhana
Ushtarkhana

Nagarkhana
Talimkhana
[95] Pilkhana
Faraskhana

Abdarkhana
Sikarkhana

Darukhana
Sahatkhana

... Cash.

. Jewel store.

. Klephant trappings.

. Medicines.

. Artillery.

. Record Department.

. Treasury.

. Agriculture.

. Kitchen.

. Camels and their trap-

pings.

. Band.

Gymnasium

. Elephant sheds, ete.
. Carpets, tents and acces-

sories.

. Drink.
. Game, aviary, chase and

allied materials.

. Magazine.
.. Conservancy Department.

. THE TWELVE MAHALS.

Pote
Saudagir
Palkhi ...
Kothi
Imarat ...
Bahili ...

. Treasury,

. Merchandise.

. Palanquins

. Warehouse and granaries.
... Building.

. Chariots.
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7. Pagda - ... Stables.

8. S8eri ... ... Comforts.
9. Dariini... ... The Zenana
10. Thattt ... ... Cowsheds.
11. Tanksa] ... ... Mints.
12. Chhabina ... Guards.

TREASURES WITH DETAILS ABOUT DIFFERENT COINS
AND CLOTHES.

Gambar ... 100, 000.
Mohar ... 200, 000.
Putlis ... 300, 000. -
Badshahi Hon ... 1,364, 525.
Satlami ... 100, 000.
Ibhrami ... ... 100, 000.
Sivrai Hon ... ... 1, 500, 000.
Kaveripak ... ... 1, 274, 656.
Sangari Hon... ... 2b4, 030.
Achyutrai Hon ... 800, 450.
Devrai Hon ... ... 100, 400.
Ramchandrarai Hon ... 100, 000.
Guti Hon ... ... 200, 000.
Dharvadi Hon ... 300, 000.
Fanam of different kinds... 200, 000.
Pralkhati (?) Hon ... 100, 000.
Pak (v) Natki Hon ... 300, 000.
Adavani Hon ... 500, 000.
Jadmal Hon . . ... 1, 400, 000.
Tadpatri Hon ... 100, 000.

Gold in bullion, ornament and bar 12 Khandis in
weight.
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DIFFERENT KINDS OF FANAMS,

=
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[98] SILVER COINS AND JEWELS, ETC

Rupees 500, 000.
Asrafis 200, 000.
Abasa . 1, 000, 000.
Dabholf kabri 2, 500, 000.
Chuli kabri ... 1, 000, 000.
BasrI kabri ... 500, 000.

Apharji.

Trivaluri.

Trisull.
Chandavari (Tanjore).
Bildhar1.
Ulaphkarl.
Muhammad Shahi,
Veluri (Vellore.)
Kateral.
Devajvali.
Ramnath purl.
Kungotl.

185

1, 000, 000 (Rupees) worth of S8ilver, in bullion,

dishes and ornaments weighing 50 khandis.

JEWELS.

1. Ruby.

2. Emerald.

3. Lapis lazuli.
4. Sapphire.
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5. Turkois.
6. Pearl.
7. Coral.
8. Topaz.
9. Diamond.
9 (sorts) in all.

CLOTHES.

Plain and worked with gold and silver thread,
coloured and fine, collected from fifty-six provinces
and the sea—worth about, 1,00, 00, 000, Hons.
50, 000, Nisani Hons.

There was an immense collection of grains, salts
and spices etc, in the grananies and the provinces.

THE TOTAL IN ROUND NUMBER.

25, 00, 500,
. 500, 000, Yeluri (Vellore) Hons.

1,05,000 Troopers—in the state cavalry, and Siledar,

List oF OoFFICERS COMMANDING 45,000 HORSE.

(1) Hambir Rav Sarnobat,
(2) Santajt Ghorpade,

(3) Manaji More,

(4) Yesaji Katkar,

(5) Santaji Jagtap,

(6) Nimbaji Patdle,

(7) Jetoji Katkar,

(8) Parsoji Bhonsle,
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(9) Ganoji Sirke,
(10) Baloj1 Katkar, -
(11) Niloj1 Kate,
(12) Netaji Palkar,'™
(13) Tukoji Nimbalkar,
(14) Gondji Jagtap,
(156) Sambhaji Hambir Rayv,
(16) Dhanaji Jadhava,
(17) Shama Khan,
(18) Vaghoji Sirke,
(19) Harji Nimbalkar,
(20) Bhavan Rav,
(21) Anand Rav Hasam Hazari,
(22) Telang Rav,
(23) Rupaji Bhonsle,
(24) Vyankat Rati Khandkar,
(25) Khandoji Jagtap,
(26) Udaji Pavar,
(27) Ramji Kankde,
(28) Krshnaji Ghadge,
(29) Savji Mohite.
Total e 29

SILEDARS AND SUBHEDARS OF THE PROVINCE—

(1) Nagoji Ballal,
(2) Ganes Sivdev,
(8) Chando Hirdev,
(4) Nemaji Sinde,

}

185 Does Sabhdsad mean Netdji the former Sarnobat? Netajihad returned
home shortly before Sivaji's death uud had been re-admitted into the
Hindu society after a formal penance,

» 18
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Elephants, male, fe-
male and young about
1,260.
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(56) Ramaji Bhaskar,
(6) Bayaji Gaddare,

(7) Balaji Nilkanth,

(8) Hiroj1 Selke,

(9) Trimbak Viththal,
(10) Mahadji Narayan,
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